

# Mathematical analysis and dynamical systems: modeling Highland malaria in western Kenya

Josephine Kagunda Wairimu

# ▶ To cite this version:

Josephine Kagunda Wairimu. Mathematical analysis and dynamical systems : modeling Highland malaria in western Kenya. Dynamical Systems [math.DS]. Université de Lorraine, 2012. English. NNT : 2012LORR0271 . tel-01749395v2

# HAL Id: tel-01749395 https://theses.hal.science/tel-01749395v2

Submitted on 8 Sep 2013

**HAL** is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



# Ecole Doctoral IAEM – Lorraine

# Mathematical Analysis and Dynamical Systems Modeling of Highland Malaria in Western Kenya.

A Joint Dissertation Submitted In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements For the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY In THE UNIVERSITY OF LORRAINE and THE UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI Specialization : Applied Mathematics

Defense Date :....

By

# Josephine W. KAGUNDA

Review Commitee Members :

1.

2.

Examiners ;

1. G. SALLET, Professor - University of Paul Verlaine-Supervisor

2. OGANA W., Professor - University of Nairobi- Supervisor

# Table des matières

Appreciation	ii
Dedication	v
Abstract	vi
Resume	1
Introduction         0.0.1       Highland Malaria         0.0.2       Mathematical Modeling	2 2 
<ol> <li>Some Epidemiological Models         <ol> <li>The First Model : D.Bernoulli</li> <li>An SIR Deterministic Model :Kermack and MC Kendrick</li> <li>Transmission of DHF in an Age Structured Population</li> <li>Differential Susceptibility and Infectivity by Hyman</li> <li>A model for Disease transmission in a Metapopulation by J.Arino</li> <li>Ross Model</li> <li>A vector-host epidemic model with nonlinear inc Li-Ming Cai et. al.</li> </ol> </li> </ol>	10 10 13 15 17 17 19 21 tidences by 22 24
2       A Differentiated Susceptibility and Infectivity Age Structured Malaria model         1       Introduction	lel       26

# TABLE DES MATIÈRES

3	3 Stability Analysis	39
	3.1 Basic Reproduction Number	$\mathcal{R}_0$
	3.2 Main Result	
	3.3 An Example in Two Patches	
	3.4 Simulation $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$	
	3.4.1 Parameter values .	
	3.5 Numerical simulation	
	3.5.1 The U-shaped Valley	Sites : Iguhu and Umutete, $\mathcal{R}_0 = 5.36$
	3.5.2 The V-shaped Valley	Sites : Fort Tenan and Marani, $\mathcal{R}_0 = 1.67 \dots 48$
	3.5.3 Conclusion	
4	4 Dynamics of Vector-Host feeding	Contact Rate with Saturation in malaria 54
	4.1 Introduction $\ldots$ $\ldots$ $\ldots$	
	4.2 Vector-Host Contact	
	4.3 The Model Equations	
5	5 Stability Analysis :Saturation	60
	5.1 Local Stability of the DFE.	
	5.2 Global stability of the Diseas	e Free Equilibrium
	5.3 Existence and stability of the	e Endemic Equilibrium (EE)
	5.4 Conclusion and discussion .	
6	6 Conclusion and Perspective	69
Δ	A Mathematical Tools	71
11	A 1 Preliminaries and Notation	71
	A 2 Stability	72
	A.2.1 Stability : Basic defin	ition $72$
	A.2.2 Dynamical Properties	73
	A.3 Monotone systems	
	A.3.1 Monotone Dynamical	System
	A.3.2 Triangular System .	
	A.3.3 Lyapunov Methods .	
	A.3.4 LaSalle Invariance Pr	inciple
	A.4 Matrices	
	A.4.1 Metzler Matrices	
	A.4.2 Characteristics of Me	tzler stable matrices
	A.4.3 Irreducible Metzler M	latrices
	A.4.4 Regular Splitting of a	Metzler matrix
	A.5 Calculation of Basic Reprodu	action Number
В	B Biology of mosquito and malaria	parasite 90
	B.0.1 The parasites life cyc	le
		01

# Table des figures

$\frac{1}{2}$	The Distribution of Malaria in Kenya (MARA/ARMA)	3
	are 1500-2500 meters above sea level [49] $\ldots$	4
3	A picture of an U-shaped Valley [149]	6
4	A picture of a V-shaped Valley [149]	7
5	The antibodies prevalence for the U-shaped and the V-shaped valleys [149]	7
2.1	Transfer Diagram for the different epidemiological groups in different patches	29
3.1	A numerical simulation of model 2.3 using parameter values defined in Table 3.1 for the U-shaped valleys system. The age structure in the populations is clearly	
	shown. In this case $\mathcal{R}_0 = 5.36$	48
3.2	A numerical simulation of model 2.3 using parameter values defined in Table 3.1	
	for the U-shaped valleys ecosystem. A case where there is no age structure in the	
	population. In this case $\mathcal{R}_0 = 5.36$	49
3.3	A numerical simulation of model 2.3 using parameter values defined in Table	
	3.1 for the U-shaped valleys ecosystem. The is no age structure and the two	
	ecosystems are treated as one U-shaped valley ecosystem	50
3.4	A numerical simulation of model 2.3 using parameter values defined in Table 3.1	
	for the V-shaped valleys ecosystem with age structure. In this case $\mathcal{R}_0 = 1.67$ .	51
3.5	A numerical simulation of model 2.3 using parameter values defined in Table 3.1	
	for the V-shaped valleys ecosystem. The is no age structures in the populations.	
	In this case $\mathcal{R}_0 = 1.67$	52
5.1	Variation of susceptible host and vector populations at the Disease Free equili-	
	brium. $Q_v = 0.3$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 = 0.718 < 1$	66
5.2	Variation of susceptible host and vector populations at the Endemic equilibrium.	
	$Q_v = 0.09 \text{ and } \tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 = 2.495 > 1$	67
5.3	Variation of Infected Host, Infected Vector, Total Host and Total Vector popula-	
	tions at the Disease Free equilibrium. $Q_v = 0.3$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 = 0.718 < 1$	67
5.4	Variation of Infected Host, Infected Vector, Total Host and Total Vector popula-	
	tions at the Endemic Equilibrium. $Q_v = 0.09$ and $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 = 2.495 > 1$	68

## Appreciation

"What can I do, since the words of my mouth are not enough, to tell you the things you have done for me, for they are wonderful. My heart will praise you Oh God, I will not forget your benefits."

This doctoral thesis has been successful courtesy of the financial and institutional support offered by the French Embassy in Nairobi and IRD, the University of Nairobi and the Laboratory of Mathematics and Applications at the University of Lorraine, within the project team MA-SAIE, INRIA. The supervision was carried out jointly between the two universities. I would like to thank all those who have been directly or indirectly involved towards this noble course and achievement.

There are many people that I would like to thank for making this dissertation possible. First of all, I thank my two Supervisors, Prof. SALLET Gauthier and Prof. OGANA Wandera, who created the many ideas and directions for the research, suggested methods for the analysis, verified the results, and proofread my numerous drafts. I thank them for all their advice, both, mathematical and non-mathematical; for the time they have given to this research; for giving me a chance to work with them; and most of all, for making the process of writing this dissertation enjoyable. To Sallet and Ogana, 'You modeled the mathematician in me, you are an excellent example of integrity and patriotism that I desire to follow. It is your quality remarks that has enabled me to improve the quality this work'.

I wish to thank Dr. Were and Dr. Nyandwi who were very instrumental in putting me in this Joint Thesis program on behalf of the University of Nairobi. Very often they spent their precious time advising, encouraging and facilitating me during my research. I am very grateful to Prof. IGGDR Abderrahman, who oftenly offered his support in the LMAM during my research in Metz. Many thanks thanks to Prof. Marion Mutugi who introduced me to the world of malaria in 2009. I am so grateful to Mme. Christel Wiemert for the dedicated support she accorded me at INRIA. She made me fee at home in MASAIE and always provided the necessary tools I needed to work. My appreciation also goes to Service de l'Information Scientifique et Technique (IST) who went out of their way to provide with the books and papers that I required for the research. I thank all members of the School of Mathematics, University of Nairobi who never missed an encouraging word whenever we met. Many are the moments we held fruitful discussions that kept me going especially when the going got tough.

Many thanks to my Final Oral Defense Examination Committee for carefully reading the dissertation and for their suggestions on improving it. I also thank my reviewers for reading the dissertation. Special thanks to Dr. Githeko of KEMRI for the many malaria insights and data that he gave us during the writing of this thesis.

I take this opportunity to thank all the MASAIE Team comrades, with whom I spent a pleasant stay in Metz : Bichara, Leontine, Lena, Plaire and Berge. The generosity of these members our my team has allowed me to borrow priceless knowledge A lot of thanks to my friends and colleagues : James Okwoyo, Dossou, Aime, and members of L'Eglise Evangelique du Metz for allowing me to spend my sundays as they should be spent.

I thank my children, my brothers and sister, who prayed, encouraged me and wanted to see

#### TABLE DES FIGURES

this thesis become a reality, suffering for long during my absence. I thank especially of my Dad, Allan who at his age made it his duty to do all he could to make my studies a success. Last but not the least, I wish to thank Nancy, who became a mother to my children while I was away and never got tired of meeting their maternal needs, as she kept assuring me that all is well so that I concentrate, even when one of them would be seriously ill and on medication, it is only God who can pay her for her services.

# Dedication

I dedicate this Thesis to my children :

- Elijah Mbugua
- Favour Lilly Wamuca and
- Victor Mwaniki

For the suffering you endured during my long and repeated absence. May you find consolation and comfort enough to ease the grieve it has caused you.

## Abstract

The objective of this thesis is to model highland malaria in Western Kenya using dynamical systems. Two mathematical models are formumated, one, on differentiated susceptibility and differentiated infectivity in a metapopulation setting, two, a saturated vector feeding rate model with disease induced deaths and varying host and vector populations.

In the first model, we consider the different ecosystems identified as malaria hotspots in the Western Kenya highlands and consider the ecosystems as different patches. The population in each patch is classified as, either, child (age 0-5 years), or, adult (over (years of age). Our results are compared with some published results in [149].

The model will aid in examining the role of ecosystem heterogeneity and age structure to the persistent malaria epidemics in the highlands. We formulate the differentiated susceptibility and infectivity model that extend to multiple patches the well known epidemiological models in one patch.

Classifying the hot spots as n patches, we give its mathematical analysis using the theory of triangular system, monotone dynamical systems or anti-monotone non-linear dynamical systems, and Lyapunov-Lasalle invariance principle techniques. Key to our analysis is the definition of a reproductive number,  $\mathcal{R}_0$ , (the number of new infections caused by one individual in an otherwise fully susceptible population throughout the duration of the infectious period). The existence and stability of disease-free and endemic equilibrium is established with a prove that the disease free state of the systems is globally asymptotically stable when the basic reproduction number  $\mathcal{R}_0$ is less than or equal to the unity, and when  $\mathcal{R}_0$  is greater than one an endemic equilibrium is established which is locally and globally asymptotically stable. The model shows that the age structuring reduces the magitude of infection. Using relevant data we did some simulation, to demonstrate the role played by metapopulation and age structuring on the incidence and  $\mathcal{R}_0$ .

In the second part we formulate a model for malaria with saturation on the vector feeding rates that lead to a nonlinear incidence. The vector feeding rate is assumed, as in the predator prey models, to rise linearly as a function of the host-vector ratio until it reaches a threshold  $Q_v$ , after which the vector feeds freely at its desired rate. The two populations (host and vector) are variable and drive malaria transmission, such that when the vectors are fewer than hosts, the rate of feeding is determined by the vectors feeding desire, whereas, when the hosts are more than the vectors, the feeding rate is limited by host availability, other feeding sources may have to be sought by the vector. Malaria induced deaths are introduced in the host population, while the vector is assumed to survive with the parasite till its death. We prove that the DFE equilibrium is locally and globally asymptotically stable, if  $\mathcal{R}_0 < 1$ , and when  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ , an endemic equilibrium emerges, which is unique, locally and globally asymptotically stable. The role of the saturated mosquito feeding rate is explored with simulation showing the crucial role it plays especially on the basic reproduction number.

Key Words : Modeling, Metapopulation, Differentiated infectivity and Susceptibility, Monotone Dynamical Systems, Lyapunov methods, Basic Reproduction Number, Global stability, Saturation, Malaria, Numerical Simulation.

## Resume

L'objectif de cette thèse est de modéliser la transmission du paludisme dans la région montagneuse de l'Ouest du Kenya, en se servant des outils de systèmes dynamiques. Nous considérons deux modèles mathématiques. Le premier prend en compte une susceptibilité et une infectivité différentielle dans les métapopulations, et le second un taux de saturation des repas sanguins dans la population des moustiques.

Dans le premier modèle, nous considérons plusieurs écosystèmes identifiés comme zones sensibles dans la région montagneuse de l'Ouest du Kenya. Dans ce modèle, ces zones sensibles sont considérées comme nos différents patchs. Les populations de chaque patch sont divisées en deux : les enfants (0 à 5 ans), et les adultes (dont l'âge est supérieur à 5 ans). Les résultats obtenus sont comparés avec ceux obtenus dans [149]. Le modèle nous permet d'évaluer le rôle de l'hétérogénéité de l'écosystème et la persistance de l'épidémie dans la région, due à la structuration d'âge. Nous prenons en compte la susceptibilité et l'infectivité différentielle afin d'étendre le modèle d'un patch en un modèle à plusieurs patchs.

Après avoir subdivisé la région en n zones sensibles, nous faisons une analyse mathématique du modèle obtenu. Pour effectuer cette analyse, nous utilisons la théorie des systèmes triangulaires, des systèmes dynamiques monotones, des systèmes dynamiques non linéaires anti-monotones et le principe d'invariance de LaSalle. Un des éléments très utilisés dans notre analyse qui est un concept clé en épidémiologie, est le taux de reproduction de base, très souvent noté  $\mathcal{R}_0$ . Cette quantité, sans dimension, est le nombre moyen de cas secondaires, engendré par un individu infectieux typique durant sa période d'infectiosité, quand il est introduit dans une population constituée entièrement de susceptibles. L'existence et la stabilité du point d'équilibre sans maladie (DFE) sont établies et nous prouvons que le DFE est globalement asymptotiquement stable lorsque  $\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1$ . Lorsque  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ , le modèle admet un point d'équilibre endémique qui est globalement asymptotiquement stable. L'analyse de notre modèle montre que la structuration d'âge réduit l'ampleur de l'infection. En utilisant les données relevées, nous faisons quelques simulations numériques afin montrer l'impact de la métapopulation et de la structuration d'âge sur le taux de reproduction de base.

Dans la seconde partie, nous formulons un modèle de paludisme avec saturation du taux d'alimentation des moustiques qui nous conduit à une incidence non linéaire. Nous démontrons que le DFE est globalement asymptotiquement stable si  $\mathcal{R}_0 < 1$ . Lorsque  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ , il existe un unique point d'équilibre endémique qui est globalement asymptotiquement stable. Des simulations numériques sont faites afin d'illustrer l'impact de la saturation du taux d'alimentation sur le taux de reproduction de base.

Mots clés : Modélisation, métapopulation, susceptibilité et infectivité différentielle, systèmes dynamiques monotones, méthode de Lyapunov, taux de reproduction de base, stabilité globale, saturation, paludisme, simulations numériques.

# Introduction

#### Contents

0.0.1	Highland Malaria	3
0.0.2	Mathematical Modeling	9

### 0.0.1 Highland Malaria

Malaria is a protozoan disease caused by a parasite transmitted by a female anopheles mosquito, as it seeks a blood meal for its egg development. The disease is common in the East African region, Kenya included. Malaria is one of the leading causes of morbidity and mortality in Kenya and it kills an estimated 34,000 children under five in Kenya every year. 77% of Kenya's population lives in areas where the disease is transmitted. The disease is responsible for 30% of all out-patient visits (requiring more than eight million out-patient treatments at health facilities each year) and 15% of all hospital admissions. About 3.5 million children are at risk of infection and developing severe malaria. Pregnant women also face high risks. There are approximately 1.1 million pregnancies per year in malaria endemic areas. During pregnancy, malaria can cause miscarriages and anemia. Each year, an estimated 6,000 pregnant women suffer from malaria-associated anemia, and 4,000 babies are born with low birth weight as a result of maternal anemia. Economically, it is estimated that 170 million working days in Kenya are lost each year because of malaria illness.

Malaria did not exist in the Western Kenya highlands until the second decade of the 20th century, so the highlands were regarded as safe havens from the surrounding malarious areas of Uganda and Kenya [102, 72]. After the first World War, malaria was prevalent in the communities inhabiting the highlands. This was as a result of wide-scale population settlement resulting from the completion of the railway line from Kenyan coast via the highlands to Lake Victoria. This also facilitated the gradual spread of infective mosquitoes into the highlands from the low-lying hyperendemic-disease areas [44]. The development of tea estates and agriculture in the highlands, with the concomitant clearing of the forests, provided suitable mosquito breeding grounds. Finally, importation of infected laborers completed the conditions necessary for malaria transmission [99].

This resulted to frequent malaria epidemics, with some authors labeling the resurgent epidemics



Kenya: Distribution of Endemic Malaria

Figure 1 – The Distribution of Malaria in Kenya (MARA/ARMA)

as 'Highland malaria', because they viewed it as a new typology variant, demanding special attention in the new global commitment to Roll Back Malaria [153]. 'Highland' malaria therefore, either is a new phenomena or a reemergence of a previous prevailing epidemiology [129].

Highland malaria in Western Kenya is characterized by unstable and high transmission variability which results in epidemics during periods of suitable climatic conditions. The sensitivity of a site to malaria epidemics depends on the level of immunity of the human population. The epidemics in the highlands have continued to wreck havoc on the public health of the inhabitants, resulting in high morbidity and mortality especially in children under five years [129]. Malaria kills approximately 26,000 children per year in Kenya and about 170 million working days (an average of 5.5 working days per person) are lost due to malaria per year. Malaria accounts for 30 percent of all outpatient attendance and 19 percent of all admissions to Kenyan health facilities (Kenya Ministry of Health 2001c). Since the early 1980s, there have been massive percentage increases in P. falciparum burden at African highland locations [56]. The epidemics varies seasonally and spatially with many studies being carried out to ascertain the drivers of



Figure 2 – The malaria endemic Western Kenya Highlands. The areas affected by epidemics are 1500-2500 meters above sea level [49]

such variations. Among the factors considered as key drivers of the resurgent epidemics that characterise the highlands include but are not limited to :

- Climate Variation.

Climate variation plays an important role in initiating malaria epidemics in the Western Kenya highlands. The developmental rates and survivorship of the malaria parasite and the malaria vector is highly temperature dependent, while rainfall influences the availability of breeding places, hence their demography. Small changes in temperature could therefore provide transiently suitable conditions for unstable transmission within populations that have acquired little functional immunity. Studies on climatic variations and malaria epidemics in Western Kenya show that, there is a high spatial variation in the sensitivity to malaria outpatient number to climate fluctuations in the highlands [154]. The contribution of climate variation to reemergence of malaria epidemics has been controversial, and a good conclusion is that other factors together with climate change are more plausible explanations for the malaria resurgences

– Drug Resistance

During the past two decades, Chloroquine (CQ) resistance has spread geographically, in-

creased in prevalence within its range, and intensified in its severity of clinical failure [137, 152]. CQ resistance has been identified as an important factor in the malaria resurgence on the Kericho tea estates [45]. How much effect this one has on the magnitude of the epidemics is a point of discussion, this is because drug resistance can only aggravate malaria induced morbidity and mortality not initiating an epidemic. Again, drug resistance cannot explain the sporadic malaria epidemics in the Kenyan highlands in the 1920s and 1950s, when the problem of drug resistance was insignificant [48].

– Land Use Changes.

The increasing human populations in the East African highlands puts a lot pressure on the sensitive ecosystem [96]. There is an increase in changing human activities such as deforestation and swamp cultivation for subsistence agriculture, growing cash crops, and firewood acquisition that have characterized the region. Reports indicate that there is an 8% reduction in forest coverage in the East African highlands in one decade [5]. The changes in land use, especially deforestation in the highlands, have significantly changed the microclimatic conditions of mosquito breeding sites that have significantly had effects on the life history traits of the vectors.

Deforestation is said to have enhanced vectorial capacity by 10.6% and 29% in the dry and rainy seasons in the highlands, respectively, thereby resulting in high indoor temperatures. This causes faster blood meal digestion, thereby shortening the length of the gonotrophic cycle of mosquitoes. Reduced gonotrophic cycle length would cause mosquitoes to feed more often and lay eggs more frequently in a deforested area. [5].

– Population Growth and Health Service Provision

An important factor to consider in the escalating malaria incidence in Western Kenya is population growth. Of vital consideration is the relationship between the percentage population growth rate in the districts served by each health facility and the percentage rises in malaria cases. Over the last 3 decades, sub-Saharan Africa including the highlands, has seen a high rate of increase in population size, resulting from high fertility rates and increasing child survival with annual growth rates averaged 3.9%. This implies that, holding the incidence of malaria constant, the disease would be expected to have doubled over approximately an 18-year period. Clearly, without a concomitant investment in essential clinical services, beds, staff, and supporting infrastructure, the changing requirements for clinical management will have been perceived by most district-level public health officials as a crisis [55].

Defining true epidemics is difficult [129]. For most public health workers, epidemics represent exacerbations of disease out of proportion to the normal level to which that facility is subject; these increases overwhelm the facilitys ability to cope. Therefore, a slow but pervasive epidemic of clinical malaria may have emerged in the highlands, where lack of investment in the physical capacity to manage an increasing population has resulted inevitably in more malaria cases that require a basic clinical service.

– Immunity.

Due endemicity of malaria in Africa, people are infected so frequently that after a long time, they develop a degree of acquired immunity, making them asymptomatic carriers of infection [15]. The people who use mosquito nets in the night are not generally infected by

the disease since the small number of bites they receive when they are outside the nets are not sufficient to cause the disease, but rather, the small exposure to infection gives them immunity. The low level exposure to infection however, is important as it acts as vaccination and develops immunity against the disease [80]. Those who acquire the immunity are however susceptible to reinfections because the immune protection may wane over time (temporary immunity) or may not be fully protective (partial immunity) [139].

Studies in Western Kenya indicate that in areas of unstable transmission in the highlands, the prevalence of circumsprozoite protein (CSP) is about 13% in adults over 40 years of age whereas in the stable transmission lowlands, approximately 65% of children are antibody positive [6]. This shows that the human population in the highlands has fewer people with immunity and this renders them vulnerable to severe forms of malaria during epidemics [149]. Since the risk of an epidemic is closely related to the level of immunity of the human population, the final outcome of the epidemic will be closely linked by the proportion of people who may not have had exposure to the disease and who have no immunity to malaria.

- Ecosystem heterogeneity.

A study [149] on the different ecosystems in the Western Kenya highlands identify three major characteristics. The plateaus, V-shaped valleys and U-shaped valleys. The V-shaped valleys have steep hillsides and narrow valleys that allow fast flow of the rivers, while the U-shaped valleys have flat bottomed valleys with slow moving rivers.



# U shaped valley

Figure 3 – A picture of an U-shaped Valley [149]

The Studies carried out in the different highland ecosystems show that transmission is heterogeneous in the three types of ecosystem, with the annual entomological inoculation rates (EIR) ranging from 0.4-1.1 and 16.6 infectious bites per person for the V-shaped and U-shaped valleys, respectively [62]. Along the flat valley bottoms, there are suitable surfaces providing more ideal breeding sites of malaria vectors than the narrow valleys [61].

The V-shaped ecosystems have very low malaria prevalence and few individuals with an



# V shaped valley

Figure 4 – A picture of a V-shaped Valley [149]

immune response to malaria antigens. Provided evidence show that there is an 8.5- fold and a 2-fold greater parasite and antibody prevalence respectively, in the U-shaped compared to the V-shaped valleys. This makes the V-shaped valleys epidemic hotspot as the inhabitants are exposed to a higher risk of severe forms of malaria during periods that support hypertransmission of the parasites.



Figure 5 – The antibodies prevalence for the U-shaped and the V-shaped valleys [149]

The plateau's antibody and parasite prevalence was similar to that of the V-shaped valleys. Although climatic variability drives malaria epidemics in Western Kenya highlands the terrain characteristics can modify the level of malaria transmission and the rate of immunity development. It is our aim in this thesis to formulate a mathematical model that captures the heterogenity in the terraine characteristic and the infection dynamics of this very important disease in the economy Kenya.

### 0.0.2 Mathematical Modeling

Mathematical models have become important tools in analyzing the spread and control of infectious diseases. The model formulation process clarifies assumptions, variables, and parameters; moreover, models provide conceptual results such as thresholds, basic reproduction numbers, contact numbers, and replacement numbers. Understanding the transmission characteristics of infectious diseases in communities, regions, and countries can lead to better approaches to decreasing the transmission of these diseases.

Mathematical modeling arises from the idea that infectious disease spread and transmission dynamics follows laws that can be formulated in mathematical language. It begun with Daniel Bernoulli in 1766 when he modeled the effects of smallpox variolation (a precursor of vaccination) on life expectancy [31]. In the beginning of that century there was much discussion about why an epidemic ended before all susceptible were infected with hypotheses about changing virulence of the pathogen during the epidemic. Sir Ronald Ross, who received the Nobel prize in 1902 for elucidating the life cycle of the malaria parasite, used mathematical modeling to investigate the effectiveness of various intervention strategies for malaria [121]. Kermack and McKendrick described the dynamics of disease transmission in terms of a system of differential equations in [77, 78, 79]. They were the first to use the so-called basic reproduction number, a threshold that determine if a disease dies out or spreads in a susceptible population. Literature review in [19, 34, 36, 58] show the rapid growth of epidemiology modeling towards the end of the twentieth century as mathematical modeling became more popular to aid in public health policy making.

Many mathematical models describing the dynamics of AIDS pandemic have been used to predict the course of the epidemic and identifying the most effective prevention strategies. The need for evaluating intervention strategies for newly emerging and re-emerging pathogens has revealed real impact of mathematical modeling on public health.

There are two types of mathematical models, deterministic and stochastic. The deterministic models are transmission models using ordinary differential equations to describe the process, whereas stochastic models use statistical mechanisms to describe the transmission of infection between two individuals. The rigorous mathematical analyses of the processes contribute to the understanding of disease transmission in much detail. Therefore, developing a mathematical model helps address the essential processes involved in shaping the epidemiology of an infectious disease and reveals the parameters that are most important and crucial for control and data collection. Mathematical modeling is then also integrative in combining knowledge from very different disciplines like microbiology, social sciences, and clinical sciences [85].

Of special interest in this thesis is metapopulation models, which refer to many small and extinction-prone local populations connected via migration in fragmented environment. Metapopulation theory is based on the Levin's multi groups model [20]. The population is subdivided into a finite number of discrete subpopulation called patches that are assumed to be homogeneous and well mixed. Then each patch in the population is subdivided into compartments corresponding to different epidemiological status. This leads to multi-patch, multi-compartmental systems. There are three possible formulations. The first assumes that an individual in a patch of infection can infect a susceptible individual in the other patch. This approach assumes that there is a short distance between patches, but individuals (human or mosquito) do not migrate between patches (they can make brief visits sufficient for transmission). This assumption leads to a series of models that has been studied in [60, 65, 90]. The legendary model of Lajmanovich and Yorke [90] is a key example of such models.

The second formulation considers the mobility of individuals between patches with two forms of movement : Migration, that is change of respective patch residence. The situation is that of a digraph or directed movement graph. For the short visits, the individuals visits a number of patches but returns to his patch of residence. The "Mover -Stayer" movement is covered in the mode of Satttenspiel and Dietz [126]. Here, the formulation takes care of the degree of patches connectivity. Recently there has been an increasing interest in this type of models [12, 10, 14, 29, 43, 73, 147, 148].

The third formulation is more recent and takes into account the network structure of the metapopulations, that is those patches that (local populations) are locally connected. This formulation takes into account the degree of connectivity (number of links between a patch and its immediate neighbours) of a patch and model the mobility of individuals in terms of diffusion between discrete patches. This is a statistical approach where the system states depends on the local population densities of the metapopulation network. The leads to a situation of a non-oriented graph connectivity. [123, 124, 27, 3, 4]. The rest of the thesis is arranged as follows.

In part 1, we construct and analyze mathematically an age structured model for highland malaria in Western Kenya, with differentiated patch susceptibility and infectivity and human migration between patches. We show that there is a threshold below which the disease vanishes and above which the disease is persistent in the metapopulation. It is applied to two sites in Western Kenya that have been identified as 'malaria hotspots' in literature cited above. This part contributes significantly mathematics as the rigorous analysis of these types of models or metapopulation are rather rare

In the second part, we formulate a model for the dynamics of vector feeding habits with saturation and varying host and vector population. We establish mathematically the existence of a disease free equilibrium where the disease dies out and an endemic equilibrium, where the disease persists in the population using  $\mathcal{R}_0$  as a threshold. The local and endemic equilibrium are proved to be locally and globally asymptotically stable. The analysis on the role of saturation in biting rate is also done to show that it plays a key role in infection and also incidence of malaria.

# CHAPITRE 1

# Some Epidemiological Models

#### Contents

1.1	The First Model : Daniel Bernoulli	11
1.2	An SIR Deterministic Model :Kermack and MC Kendrick	14
1.3	Transmission of DHF in an Age Structured Population	16
1.4	Differential Susceptibility and Infectivity by Hyman	18
1.5	A model for Disease transmission in a Metapopulation by J.Arino	19
1.6	Ross Model	21
1.7	Global analysis of a vector-host epidemic model with nonlinear incidences by	
	Li-Ming Cai et. al.	22
1.8	Ross-Macdonald Model in a Patchy environment by Auger et. al	24

## 1.1 The First Model : D.Bernoulli

The main objective of Bernoulli was to calculate the gain in life expectancy at birth if smallpox were to be eliminated as a cause of death. Smallpox is endemic, a potentially lethal infectious disease and a scourge that is dreaded and feared. It kills one in every five adults, (nearly one in three patients). When it is not fatal, it often leaves a trail of destroyed lives. Effective treatment for smallpox has remained elusive. In the eleventh century, the Chinese practiced variolation, which is a form of inoculation, where infectious material from smallpox cases was transferred into the skin of susceptibles with the intention to induce lifelong immunity by a mild infection with a low case fatality. The result was, however risky, because the mortality rate could rise by 1 to 2%. In 1721 this method was introduced from Turkey into England by the wife of the English Ambassador to Constantinople, Lady Mary Wortley Montague.

Smallpox was fortunately eradicated by the first human voluntary control. Its official "disappearance" dates back to 1977 (when the last case of smallpox was reported). This was made possible by the combined efforts of smallpox vaccination and screening program led by WHO in 1967. Bernoulli demonstrated before the Academy of Sciences that, despite the dangers it presented in the fight against smallpox, the generalization of variolation imported from the East, would increase the life expectancy from 26 years and 7 months to 29 years and 9 months. His

reasoning cannot be refuted, his calculations has passed the test of time, and he was persuaded that his model was good. It suffices then for his critics to learn what a mathematical model is. We give the details in the next section of the steps he followed to build his model.

D. Bernoulli assumed the following

- The probability that an individual is infected by smallpox for the first time dies is p and the individual survives is 1 p and this probability is independent of the individuals age.
- -q is the probability that an individual is infected in the year and it is independent of his age. (ie the probability that an individual is infected during small time interval dx between age x and age x + dx is q.dx)
- when an individual survives after being infected with smallpox, he is immune for the rest of his life.

Let m(x) be the natural mortality at age x, then the probability that an individual dies in a small time interval dx between age x and age x + dx is m(x).dx. Considering a group of  $P_0$  individuals born in the same year we have :

- -S(x) the number of individuals who are still alive at age x without having been infected (and therefore are more likely to be)
- -R(x) the number of immune individuals who are still alive at age x.
- -P(x) = S(x) + R(x) the total number of individuals who are still alive at age x.

When births correspond to x = 0,  $S(0) = P(0) = P_0$  while between age x and age x + dx (dx is infinitely small), an uninfected individual has a probability q. dx of catching smallpox and a probability m(x).dx of dying from another cause. So the variation in the number of individuals who are not yet infected is dS(x) = -qS(x).dx - m(x)S(x).dx, then we have the differential equation,

$$\frac{dS}{dx} = -q \, S(x) - m(x) \, S(x). \tag{1.1}$$

During the same small time interval, the number of individuals who die of smallpox is p q S(x) dxand the number of individuals who survive and become is (1-p) q S(x) dx. In addition, there are m(x) R(x) already immune individuals who suffer natural death, leading to a second differential equation

$$\frac{dR}{dx} = q(1-p)S(x) - m(x)R(x).$$
(1.2)

Summing the above two equations we obtain

$$\frac{dP}{dx} = -p \, q \, S(x) - m(x) \, P(x). \tag{1.3}$$

From equations 1.1 and 1.3, Bernoulli showed that the fraction of individuals at age x who are at still at risk of contracting smallpox is

$$\frac{S(x)}{P(x)} = \frac{1}{(1-p)e^{qx} + p}.$$
(1.4)

Analysis of the model

Bernoulli eliminated m(x) between the equations 1.1 and 1.3 by expressing m(x) as

$$-m(x) = q + \frac{1}{S}\frac{dS}{dx} = p q \frac{S}{P} + \frac{1}{P}\frac{dP}{dx}$$

to get the following expression

$$\frac{1}{P}\frac{dP}{dx} - \frac{S}{P^2}\frac{dP}{dx} = -q\frac{S}{P} + pq\left(\frac{S}{P}\right)^2$$

where the right hand side is the derivative of f(x) = S(x), and it is the proportion of infected individuals are who survives to age x. Therefore

$$\frac{df}{dx} = -q f + p q f^2. \tag{1.5}$$

The solution of this type of equation can be found courtesy of Jacques Bernoulli. Let  $g(x) = \frac{1}{f(x)}$ , we see that dg/dx = dg - pq and that g(0) = 1/f(0) = 1. We then set h(x) = g(x) - p, so that dh/dx = qh. So  $h(x) = h(0) e^{qx} = (1-p) e^{qx}$ . Finally,  $g(x) = (1-p) e^{qx} + p$  and f(x) = 1/g(x).

To illustrate his theory, Bernoulli uses the mortality table by Halley (1656 - 1742) built for the city of Breslau (1693). This table lists the number of survivors at the beginning of the year x(x = 1, 2, ...) of a cohort of 1238 individuals born in year 0. Bernoulli however, believed like most of his contemporaries, that the numbers given by Halley are for the survivors reaching age x, that is P(x) in the model. Because of this little confusion (Halley's article is indeed not very explicit), Bernoulli replaces the numbers 1238 by 1300 to obtain a realistic mortality for the first year of life.

Parameter values chosen by Bernoulli are

- The probability of dying from smallpox  $p = \frac{1}{8}$
- The annual probability of catching smallpox  $q = \frac{1}{8}$ . This probability can be estimated directly, Bernoulli then chooses q so that the total death toll of a smallpox represents  $\frac{1}{13}$  of all deaths, which corresponds to the proportion found in many cities in Europe.

With the formula 1.4 and data values of P(x) from the table of Halley we can calculate the number of individuals S(x) who are still alive at age x without being infected. Then determine easily the number of individuals who had smallpox and survived to age x : R(x) = P(x) - S(x). Finally, we determine for each age x, the number of deaths due to smallpox between age x and age x + 1. In theory, it is should be given by the integral  $pq \int_x^{x+1} S(t) dt$  but the formula pq(S(x) + S(x+1))/2 is a good approximation (Trapezium Rule). In total, he deduced that out of the 1300 newborns, 101 are destined to die of smallpox, which is 1/13 as he had calculated.

Bernoulli then considers a harmless way in which the whole population would be inoculated from small pox at birth. Smallpox would be eradicated and the question is, what the gain would be in life expectancy. Thus, starting from the same number  $P_0$  at birth and noting  $P^*(x)$  the number of individuals surviving at age x in the absence of smallpox, we have,

$$\frac{dP^*}{dx} = -m(x) P^* \tag{1.6}$$

Using equation 1.3, Bernoulli found showed that

$$P^*(x) = \frac{P(x)}{1 - p + p P^* e^{-qx}}.$$
(1.7)

In particular the  $P(x)/P^*(x)t \to 1-p$  for large values of x. One way to compare P(x) and  $P^*(x)$  is to estimate the life expectancy at birth, whose theoretical, expression is

$$EP = \frac{1}{P_0} \int_0^\infty P(x) \, dx$$

with smallpox, and a similar expression with  $P^*(x)$  instead of P(x) in the absence of smallpox. Bernoulli used the approximation expression (P(0) + P(1) + P(2) + ...)/P0 which is similar to the one given by the trapezium rule. He finally found that life expectancy E with smallpox is 26 years and 7 months. Without smallpox, the life expectancy  $E^* = is$  29 years and 8 months.

Inoculation at birth would save more than 3 years of life expectancy. Of course, inoculation with a little virulent strain of smallpox, is not completely without risk. If p' is the probability of dying from smallpox during inoculation (p' < p), while life expectancy in the case where all children are inoculated at birth becomes  $(1 - p')E^*$ . This remains greater than the natural life expectancy E, if  $p < 1 - E/E^*$ , about 11%. Although there was no precise data available at the time, Bernoulli estimated the risk p, to be in fact less than 1%.

### 1.2 An SIR Deterministic Model :Kermack and MC Kendrick

W.O. Kermack and AG Mc Kendrick formulated a simple model of directly transmitted diseases at the beginning of the twentieth century. They tested their model with real data of the spread of plague in Bombay between 1905 and 1906. They divided the population into three compartments, S, for susceptible, I for infected the and R for removed, the model contains only two parameters :  $\beta$  the infection rate and  $\gamma$  the rate of recovery, whose values of are determined from the observed data. The size of the total population is assumed to be constant :

$$N = S(t) + I(t) + R(t)$$

Their model can be described by the following set of differential equations

$$\begin{cases} S'(t) = -\beta I(t) S(t) \\ I'(t) = \beta(t) S(t) - \gamma I(t) \\ R'(t) = \gamma I(t) \end{cases}$$
(1.8)

The general hypothesis adopted is that in the time interval dt, a fixed proportion of subjects no longer be considered as "infected". This applies to the proportion of individuals removed from the infection process because either they are immune, isolated, or dead. This proportion represented by the parameter  $\gamma$  may be zero and the model reduces to an SI model. It may also be equal to 1, in which case all infected are removed from the infection process during the time interval dt. Generally, the recovery rate  $\gamma$  takes an intermediate value.

Analysis of the model

The previous model is referred to as a general deterministic model, and its study led to establishment of the "threshold theorem". System 1.8 together with the initial condition  $S(0) = S_0$ ,  $I(0) = I_0$ , and R(0) = 0 such that  $I_0(0)$  and  $S_0 = N$  is well posed. Here after we consider a susceptible population in which a small number of infectives is introduced. We show that the positive cone,

$$\mathbb{R}^3_+ = \{ (S, I, R) \in \mathbb{R}^3_+ \mid S \ge 0, \ I \ge 0, \ R \ge 0 \}$$

is positively invariant for system 1.8. As N = constant = S(t) + I(t) + R(t), the study of system 1.8 is reduced to the study of

$$S'(t) = -\beta I(t) S(t)$$
  

$$I'(t) = \beta I(t) S(t) - \gamma I(t)$$
(1.9)

Consider the following set

Dividing the second equation of 1.9 by  $\gamma I(t)$ , we have

$$\begin{cases} \frac{I'(t)}{\gamma I(t)} = \frac{\beta S(t)}{\gamma} - 1 \tag{1.10}$$

Then, for  $\frac{\beta S(t)}{\gamma} > 1$  each in infective individual infects more than one susceptible, and the disease will spread to an increasing number of individuals. So it will reduce the number of susceptible, S(t) are such that  $\frac{\beta S(t)}{\gamma} < 1$ . The ratio  $\frac{\beta}{\gamma}$  can then be interpreted as the number of sufficient contacts to transmit the disease in an infectives entire life of infectiousness.

By multiplying by the fraction of susceptible individuals at each instant, we get the total number of new cases infected by a single infectious individual. Equation 1.10 therefore highlights the importance of initial conditions in the general model, since  $\frac{\beta S_0}{\gamma} > 1$ , there is likely to be an epidemic, on the contrary,  $\frac{\beta S_0}{\gamma} < 1$ , only a few individuals will be infected before the epidemic dies out.

Let  $\mathcal{R}_0 = \frac{\beta N}{\gamma}$ . This threshold  $\mathcal{R}_0$  is called the basic reproductive rate, it refers to the number of secondary cases produced by an average infectious individual during the entire period of his infectivity in a population that is entirely susceptible.

In case  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ , although the system 1.8 can be solved explicitly, we have the following properties

- 1. S and I have the limits at  $+\infty$ . In effect, we know that  $S'(t) = -\beta I(t) S(t) < 0$  so S is a decreasing function, again  $S(t) \ge 0$ , or  $S(\infty) \ge 0$ . In a similar reasoning in R, which is decreasing and bounded, we obtain  $R(\infty) \ge 0$  and we deduce the result  $I(\infty) = N - S(\infty) - R(\infty)$
- 2. If  $S_0 > 0$  and  $I_0 > 0$ , then  $0 < S(\infty) < S_0$  and  $I(\infty) = 0$ . Consequently, suppose that  $S_0 > 0$   $I_0 > 0$  and  $R_0 = 0$  (without loss of generality, otherwise just set  $N = N R_0$ . On one hand, for all t > 0, S(t) > 0, I(t) > 0, R(t) > 0 and

$$\frac{dS}{dR} = -\frac{\beta}{\gamma} S$$

or

$$S(R) = S_0 e^{-\frac{\beta}{\gamma}R} \ge S_0 e^{-\frac{\beta}{\gamma}N} > 0$$

So  $0 < S(\infty) < S_0$ . on the other hand,  $\lim_{t \to \infty} S'(t) = -\beta S(\infty)I(\infty)$  exists. Furthermore,  $\lim_{t \to \infty} S'(t) = 0$ . Otherwise if  $\lim_{t \to \infty} S'(t) = \alpha < 0$ , then there exists a T > 0 such that for all t > T,  $S'(t) < \frac{\alpha}{2}$ , and therefore,

$$S(t) < S_0 + \frac{\alpha}{2} < 0 \text{ for } t > -\frac{2S_0}{\alpha}.$$

This would contradict the fact that S(t) > 0 for all t > 0. So  $S(\infty)I(\infty) = 0$  and when  $S(\infty) > 0$ , then  $I(\infty) = 0$ 

- 3. The final size of the epidemic is given by  $R(\infty) = N S(\infty)$
- 4. We have  $\frac{dI}{dS} = -1 + \frac{\gamma}{\beta S}$ , and by integration we obtain,

$$I = -S + \frac{\gamma}{\beta} \ln S + C$$

where C is a constant. Or

$$I+S-\frac{\gamma}{\beta}\ln S=C=N-\frac{\gamma}{\beta}\ln N.$$

The maximum size of the epidemic, i.e.  $I_{max}$  is given by

$$I_{max} = -\frac{\gamma}{\beta} + \frac{\gamma}{\beta} ln \frac{\gamma}{\beta} = N - \frac{\gamma}{\beta} lnN$$

since  $S = \frac{\gamma}{\beta}$  in  $I_{max}$ 

### 1.3 Transmission of DHF in an Age Structured Population

Pongpunsum studied an SIR model to describe the transmission of Dengue Hemorrhagic Fever (DHF). They divided the human population into two separate groups, viz; an adult class and juvenile class with a differentiated transmission in the two age classes. The structure in age was motivated by DHF case in Thailand where most cases occur in children less than 15 years old.

The infection occurs to both classes but the rate for adults is assumed to be less than that of the children. Since most adults are exposed to DHF infection and develop immunity, many are not aware and they are referred to as the silent population. For the infected children, the antibodies will develop and they become adults with immunity. This means that the adults class composes of the silent population, those who are known to have been infected and those who have never had an infection. All the adults however are represented by  $S_A$ .

The grouping together solves the puzzle of identifying from which group an individual comes from. Such that the transmission from an infectious mosquito is the average of the transmission rates to the different subclasses. The dynamics of the SIR model with age structure is given by

$$\begin{pmatrix}
\frac{dS'_J}{dt} = \lambda' - \frac{b\beta_J}{N_T + m} S'_J I'_v - (\mu_h + \delta) S'_J \\
\frac{dR'_J}{dt} = r I'_J - (\mu_h + \delta) R'_J \\
\frac{dI'_J}{dt} = \frac{b\beta_J}{N_T + m} S'_J I'_v - (\mu_h + \delta + r) I'_J \\
\frac{dS'_A}{dt} = \delta (S'_J + I'_J + R'_J) - \epsilon \beta_J \frac{b}{N_T + m} S'_A I'_v - \mu_h S'_J \\
\frac{dR'_A}{dt} = r I'_A - \mu_h R'_A \\
and \\
\frac{dI'_A}{dt} = \epsilon \beta_J \frac{b}{N_T + m} S'_A I'_v - (\mu_h + r) I'_A
\end{cases}$$
(1.11)

where  $S'_{J(A)}$ ,  $I'_{J(A)}$ , and  $R'_{J(A)}$  are the susceptible juveniles (adults), infected juveniles (adults), and recovered juveniles(adults), respectively;  $N_T$ , the total population which is a constant; m, the number of other animals the mosquito can bite; b, the average number of bites a mosquito takes per day;  $\lambda$ , the birth rate;  $\mu_h$ , the death rate similar for all categories);  $\delta$ , the rate at which the juveniles pass into adulthood, and r is the rate at which the infected juvenile recover.  $I'_v$ is the number of infected mosquitoes;  $\beta_J$ , the probability of the virus surviving in the juvenile after being bitten by an infected mosquito, and  $\epsilon\beta_J$  is the probability of the virus surviving in a susceptible adult after an infectious bite.  $\epsilon$  is the ratio between the probability than an adult becomes infected and the probability that a juvenile becomes infected by an infectious mosquito bite. It is assumed to be less than one.

The juvenile population dynamics is given by the equation

$$\frac{dN_J}{dt} = \lambda N_T - (\mu_h + \delta)N_J, \qquad (1.12)$$

which was obtained by adding the first three equations of 1.11

The dynamics of the vectors is described by

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dS'_{v}}{dt} = A - \frac{b\beta_{v}}{N_{T}+m}S'_{v}\left(I'_{J} + I'_{A}\right) - \mu_{h} + S'_{v}\\ and\\ \frac{dI'_{v}}{dt} = \frac{b\beta_{v}}{N_{T}+m}S'_{v}\left(I'_{J} + I'_{A}\right) - \mu_{h}I'_{v} \end{cases}$$
(1.13)

where  $S'_v$  and  $I'_v$  is the number of susceptible and infected mosquitoes respectively;  $\mu_v$ , the death rate of the mosquitoes; A, the mosquito carrying capacity of the environment and  $\beta_v$  is the probability that a dengue virus transmitted to the mosquito from an infected human, from a juvenile or an adult is infectious.

The vector population dynamics is given by

$$\frac{dS'_v + I'_v}{dt} = A - \mu_v N_v, \tag{1.14}$$

They normalized the parameters and eliminated the equations for  $R_J$ ,  $R_A$ , and  $S_v$  to study the following set of equations

#### 1.4. DIFFERENTIAL SUSCEPTIBICIENTENTENTERTIBENHOMOCONCAL MODELS

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dS_J}{dt} = (\mu_h + \delta)(1 - S_J) - \gamma_h S_J I_v \\ \frac{dI_J}{dt} = \gamma_h S_J I_v - (\mu_h + \delta + r) I_J \\ \frac{dS_A}{dt} = \mu_h - \epsilon \gamma_h S_A I_v - \mu_h S_A \\ \frac{dI_A}{dt} = \epsilon \gamma_h S_A I_v - (\mu_h + r) I_A \\ \frac{dI_v}{dt} = \gamma_{vJ}(1 - I_v) I_J + \gamma_{vA}(1 - I_v) I_A - \mu_v I_v \end{cases}$$
(1.15)

where

$$\gamma_h = \frac{b\,\beta_J(A/\mu_v)}{N_T + m},\tag{1.16}$$

and

$$\gamma_{vJ} = \frac{b \,\beta_v \, N_{J(A)}}{N_T + m}.$$
(1.17)

By setting the RHS of equation 1.15 to zero, they established that a disease free equilibrium  $E_0 = (1, 0, 1, 0, 0)$  and an endemic equilibrium  $E_1 = (S_J^*, I_J^*, S_A^*, I_A^*, I_v^*)$  exists. Using linearization method they calculated the value of  $\mathcal{R}_0$ , and showed using Routh-Hurwiz criteria that the disease free equilibrium is locally asymptotically stable when  $\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1$ .

The endemic equilibrium analysis was not easy and further simplifications were made. Looking at the data from Bangkok, it was clear that adults have only a small or no chance of becoming sick with the disease. So they set  $\epsilon$  to zero and since the adults have developed immunity to the DHF, the two categories  $I'_A$  and  $R'_A$  would cease to exist. Now in the absence of adults and simplifications as explained above they studied an easier system. This enabled them to study the stability of the endemic equilibrium using linearization.

The endemic equilibrium is shown by simulation to be a stable spiral state. The periods of fluctuations in the number of individuals in each class became much shorter in the absence of any age structure. But the spiraling in, is much more severe in the absence of the age structure and the conclusion was that the age structure appears to calm down the fluctuations.

The model is a one patch model and quite different from malaria which attacks both the children and the adults albeit with differentiated magnitude.

## 1.4 Differential Susceptibility and Infectivity by Hyman

Hyman et al [69], formulated a differential susceptibility and infectivity model for disease transmission. They divided the susceptibles into n groups based on their susceptibilities, and the infectives are divided into m groups according to their infectivities. Using the standard and bilinear incidence for different diseases, they defined explicit formulas for the reproductive number for each subgroup.

The reproductive number for the entire population is a weighted average of the reproductive numbers for the subgroups. They showed that the infection-free equilibrium is globally stable as the reproductive number is less than one for the models with the bilinear incidence or with the standard incidence but no disease-induced death. They then showed that if the reproductive number is greater than one, there exists a unique endemic equilibrium for these models. Numerical examples are provided to demonstrate that the unique endemic equilibrium is asymptotically stable if it exists. Here is a brief review of the model;

They considered the spread of a disease in a randomly mixing population that approaches a steady state  $S^0$  if there is no disease infection. They assumed that infected individuals become fully immune or are removed from the susceptible population after they recover from the infection thus studying an SIR model.

The susceptibles who are assumed to have differential susceptibilities are divided into n groups  $S_1, S_2, \ldots, S_n$ . The individuals in each group have homogeneous susceptibilities but the susceptibilities of individuals from different groups are distinct. The susceptibles are distributed into the n susceptible subgroups based on their inherent susceptibility, in such a way that the input flow into  $S_i$  is  $p_i \mu S^0$  with  $\sum_{i=1}^n p_i = 1$ . The infectives are divided into m groups,  $I_1, I_2, \ldots, I_m$ , such that upon infection, a susceptible individual in group  $S_i$  enters group  $I_j$  with the probability  $q_{ij}$  and stays in this group until becoming recovered or removed, where  $\sum_{i=1}^n q_{ij} = 1$  for  $i-1,2,\ldots,n$ . From this definition the transmission dynamics of infection are governed by the differential equations;

$$\dot{S}_i = \mu (p_i S^0 - S_i) - \lambda_i S_i, \quad i = 1, \dots, n$$
 (1.18)

$$\dot{I}_{j} = \sum_{i=1}^{n} q_{ij} S_{i} - (\mu + \nu_{j}) I_{j} \quad j = 1, \dots, m$$
(1.19)

$$\dot{R} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \nu_j I_j - (\mu + \delta) R$$
(1.20)

 $\mu$  is the natural death rate in the absence of infection,  $\nu_j$  is the recovery rate for infectives in group  $I_j$ , and  $\delta$  is the death rate of the recovered or removed individuals.

The Basic reproduction number is defined as the dorminant eigenvalue of the Jacobian matrix at the disease free equilibrium as follows;

For the bilinear incidence we have;

$$R_0 = \sum_{i=1}^n p_i c_o S^0 \alpha_i \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{q_{ij} \beta_j}{\mu + \nu_j}$$
(1.21)

For the standard incidence it is defined as

$$R_0 = \sum_{i=1}^n p_i \, r \, \alpha_i \, \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{q_{ij} \, \beta_j}{\mu + \nu_j} \tag{1.22}$$

They defined the reproductive number of infection in the susceptible group  $S_i$  from all infectives for the standard and bilinear incidence model to be

$$\mathbf{R}_{0i} = c \left( S^0 \right) \beta_i \, \tau_i.$$

Where

$$\tau_i := \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{q_{ij}}{\mu + \nu_j}$$

defines the mean duration of infection from all infectives to susceptibles in group  $S_i$  and

$$\beta_i := \alpha_i \frac{1}{\tau_i} \sum_{j=1}^m \frac{q_{ij} \beta_j}{\mu + \nu_j}$$

is the mean transmission probability from all infectives to susceptibles in group  $S_i$ . Then the reproductive number for the entire population can be expressed as the weighted average of the group reproductive numbers such that

$$\mathbf{R}_0 = \sum_{i=1}^n \, p_i \, \mathbf{R}_{0i}.$$

Hyman et al, proved that the disease free equilibrium is globally stable when  $R_0 < 1$  and unstable otherwise. When  $R_0 > 1$  its shown that there exists an endemic equilibrium and solutions approach this equilibrium asymptotically. They did not proceed to consider the differential susceptibility and infectivity for spatial population in their research.

### 1.5 A model for Disease transmission in a Metapopulation by J.Arino

Arino et al [11], formulated a model that incorporates the movement of individuals over a range of spatial scale. They investigated the behavior of the system for a case in which the spatial component consist of a ring of patches and the disease is transmitted between different species in multiple patches. A formula for  $R_0$  is provided and a stability analysis for the disease free equilibrium.

They formulated model that involves s species and n spatial patches and they proceeded as follows

Let  $N_{ip}$  be the population number of species i = 1, 2, ..., n in patch p = 1, 2, ..., n. For species i the rate of travel or migration from patch q to patch p is denoted by  $m_{ipq} \ge 0$ . These rates form a non negative matrix  $\hat{M}_i = [m_{ipq}]$  with  $m_{ipp} = 0$ . They excluded demography and the rate of change of  $N_{ip}$  is given by

$$\dot{N}_{ip} = \sum_{q=1}^{n} m_{ipp} N_{iq} - \Gamma_{ip} N_{ip}$$
(1.23)

where  $\Gamma_{ip} = \sum_{q=1}^{n} m_{iqp}$ . Setting  $N_i = [N_{i1}, N_{i2}, \dots, N_{in}]^T$ , where superscript T denotes transpose, gives the travel equation

$$\dot{N}_i = M_i N_i \tag{1.24}$$

with the mobility matrix  $M_i = \hat{M}_i - D_i$ . Where  $D_i$  is a diagonal matrix with  $\Gamma_{ip}$  as the (p, p) entry.

From the sign pattern of  $M_i$  and the fact that each column sum is 0, it follows that (-M) is a singular M- matrix ([42] Th. 5 :11). The non-zero entries of  $M_i$  specify the arcs of a directed graph for travel connections between patches (as vertices). Arino assumed that from each patch

p, to patch q there exists a path in the directed graph so that  $M_i$  is irreducible.

For each of the n, patches they formulated a general SEIRS compartmental epidemic model for a disease that confers temporary immunity with  $S_{ip}$ ,  $E_{ip}$ ,  $I_{ip}$ ,  $R_{ip}$  denoting the Susceptibles, Latent, Infected (Infectious), and Recovered individuals of species i in patch p at time t, respectively. Therefore

$$N_{ip} = S_{ip} + E_{ip} + I_{ip} + R_{ip}$$

The new borns from species *i* in patch *p* enter the susceptible class with the birth term  $d_{ip}N_{ip}$ . The transmission term between the species is a standard incidence is  $\beta_{ijp} \ge 0$  and defines the average number of adequate contacts per unit time in patch *p*, between susceptible of species *i* and infectives of species *j*. Assuming that the rates of travel are independent of disease status and neglecting disease related deaths, they derived the following system of 4sn equations for species  $i = 1, 2, \ldots, s$  in patch  $p = 1, 2, \ldots, n$ 

$$\dot{S}_{ip} = d_{ip} \left( N_{ip} - S_{ip} \right) + V_{ip} R_{ip} - \sum_{j=1}^{s} \beta_{ij} S_{ip} \frac{I_{ip}}{N_{ip}} + \sum_{q=1}^{n} m_{ipq} S_{iq} - \Gamma_{ip} S_{ip}$$
(1.25)

$$\dot{E}_{ip} = \sum_{j=1}^{s} \beta_{ij} S_{ip} \frac{I_{ip}}{N_{ip}} - (d_{ip} + \varepsilon_{ip}) + \sum_{q=1}^{n} m_{ipq} E_{iq} - \Gamma_{ip} E_{ip}$$
(1.26)

$$\dot{I}_{ip} = \varepsilon_{ip} E_{ip} - (dip + \gamma_{ip}) I_{ip} + \sum_{q=1}^{n} m_{ipq} E_{iq} - \Gamma_{ip} I_{ip}$$
(1.27)

$$\dot{R}_{ip} = \gamma_{ip} I_{ip} - (d_{ip} + \nu_{ip}) R_{ip} + \sum_{q=1}^{n} m_{ipq} R_{iq} - \gamma_{ip} R_{ip}$$
(1.28)

To study the stability of this system they proceeded as follows;

Let

$$F = \left[ \begin{array}{cc} 0 & G \\ 0 & 0 \end{array} \right],$$

where  $G = \bigoplus_{k=1}^{n} G_k$ , and  $\oplus$  denotes direct sum.

$$V = \left[ \begin{array}{cc} A & 0 \\ -C & B \end{array} \right],$$

with

$$A = \left[ \begin{array}{cccc} A_{11} & \dots & A_{1n} \\ \dots & \dots & \dots \\ A_{n1} & \dots & A_{nn} \end{array} \right],$$

and

$$B = \begin{bmatrix} B_{11} & \dots & B_{1n} \\ \dots & \dots & \dots \\ B_{n1} & \dots & B_{nn} \end{bmatrix},$$

and

 $C = \oplus_{k=1}^{n} C_k$ 

Here  $G_k, A_{jk}, B_{jk}, C_k$  are s x s matrices with  $A_{jk}, B_{jk}, C_k$  diagonal. Matrix  $G_k$  has (i, j) entry equal to  $\beta_{ijk} \frac{N_{ik}^*}{N_{ik}^*}$ , the (i,i) entry  $A_{kk}$  is equal to  $d_{ik} + \varepsilon_{ik} + \sum_{l=1}^n m_{ilk}$ , whereas for j = k the (i, i) entry of  $A_{jk}$  is  $-m_{ijk}$ .

Matrix B is the same as A but with  $\varepsilon_{ik}$  replaced by  $\gamma_{ik}$ . Finally  $C_k$  has (i, i) entry equal to  $\varepsilon_{ik}$ .

From the sign pattern and the fact that they are diagonally dorminant by columns, A and Bare non singular *M*- matrices [2], thus  $A^{-1}$  and  $B^{-1}$  are non negative. Using the result in [141], a formula was obtained for the basic reproduction number  $\mathcal{R}_0$  and the following stability result.

Theorem 1.1. For the model 1.25 with s species and n patches  $\mathcal{R}_0 = \rho(GB^{-1}CA^{-1})$ , Where  $\rho$ denotes the spectral radius. If  $\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1$ , then the disease free equilibrium is globally asymptotically stable, and if  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ , then the disease free equilibrium is unstable.

In this study metapopulation and its dynamical effect on disease transmission has been done but the study did not consider differential susceptibility and differential infectivity in the patches.

#### 1.6Ross Model

Ronald Ross modeled the transmission of malaria and identified the basic reproduction number as a threshold for the invasion and persistence of infection. The basic reproduction number which defines the number of secondary infections resulting from one infectious individual in an entirely susceptible population, determines if the disease will invade the population (if it is greater than 1) or die out (if it is less than 1).

The Ross model divides the entire population as either susceptible or infected (hence infectious). Assuming a constant host population H, he defines  $I_h$  as the number of hosts that are infectious, thus there are  $H - I_h$  susceptible hosts. Using proportions, he used  $\frac{I_h}{H}$  and  $\frac{H - I_h}{H}$  to define the fraction of infectious and susceptible hosts respectively. The total vector population is similarly defined with V, the total and vector population, and  $I_v$ , the number of infectious vectors, such that  $S_v = V - I_v$ .

According to Ross, an infection only occurs if a susceptible host is bitten by an infectious vector. The rate at which vectors bite is independent of the number of hosts available since it is clear that each vector needs a certain number of blood meals per unit time. Assuming that the hosts are readily available when the vector needs a blood meal, the biting rate will be proportional to the number of vectors and not the number of hosts.

The man biting rate of vectors is taken to be a, and the proportion of infectious bites to a host,  $b_1$ . Once infected the host will remain infectious for a period  $\frac{1}{\gamma}$  and then recover to join again the susceptible class. The probability that a susceptible vector gets infected when it bites an infected host is defined as  $b_2$ . It is assumed that once a mosquito is infected, it remains so for its entire life, which is assumed to be  $\frac{1}{\mu}$  time units.

This leads to the pair of equations

$$\begin{cases} \dot{I}_{h} = b_{1} a \frac{(H-I_{h})}{H} I_{v} - (\gamma) I_{h} \\ \dot{I}_{v} = b_{2} a (V - I_{v}) \frac{I_{h}}{H} - \mu I_{v} \end{cases}$$
(1.29)

He found out that the basic reproductive ratio  $\mathcal{R}_0$  is a threshold that determines if the malaria will persist or die out. Precisely if

$$\mathcal{R}_0^2 = \frac{a^2 \, b_1 \, b_2 \, V}{\gamma \, \mu \, H} \le 1,$$

Malaria will disappear in the long run and if

$$\mathcal{R}_0^2 = \frac{a^2 \, b_1 \, b_2 \, V}{\gamma \, \mu \, H} > 1,$$

Malaria will settle to an endemic equilibrium where both the infectious host and infectious vector populations will be positive.

The square on  $\mathcal{R}_0$  comes from the fact that two generations are needed for transmission of malaria to take place, first from an infectious host to a susceptible mosquito and then from an infectious mosquito to a susceptible host. The square on the biting rate a, results from the two cycles of biting necessary for an infection to occur. The expression of basic reproduction number shows that it is directly proportional to the vector population and inversely proportional to the host population. The threshold  $\mathcal{R}_0^2 = 1$  determines if the disease will break out or die out.

# 1.7 Global analysis of a vector-host epidemic model with nonlinear incidences by Li-Ming Cai et. al.

Ming proposed an epidemic model with nonlinear incidences that describe the dynamics of diseases spread by vectors (mosquitoes) with a constant human and vector populations. Basing their formulating on the Ross-Macdolnald model, they included a Holling Type 2 saturation in the vector populations, which is divided into susceptible and infected vectors.

The dynamics of the human host is described by an SIR mode, that is, susceptible, infected and removed compartments. They considered transmission of a vector borne disease where the transmission is affected by the host behaviour and therefore assumed that the number of infective vectors is proportional to those of the infective human hosts. The result of preventive behaviour in hosts may also limit further transmission of the disease. Another factor that affects transmission is immunity which they argue enhances transmission. From these facts, they assumed that the infection force of the host population saturates with the infected vectors. The following three hypothesis guides the dynamics of their model.

- $(H_1)$ : For host population, the total population under consideration is divided into three classes :  $S_H(t)$ ,  $I_H(t)$ , and  $R_H(t)$ , the susceptible, infected and recovered respectively at time t.  $N_H(t) = S_H(t) + I_H(t) + R_H(t)$  is the total number of the human population and  $\mu K$  is the recruitment rate of the newborns into the susceptible population.  $\mu$ ,  $\gamma_0$ ,  $\gamma_1$  represents the natural death rate, recovery rate and rate of human treatment respectively.
- $(H_2)$ : For the vector population,  $S_v(t)$ ,  $I_v(t)$ , is the number of susceptible and infective vectors respectively, at time t. The recovery class of mosquitoes is omitted since mosquitoes do

not recover from parasite infection. The total vector population thus, is given by  $N_v(t) = S_v(t) + I_v(t)$ . The rate of recruitment for the vector is the constant rate  $\Lambda$  and the total deaths in mosquitos occur at a rate  $mN_v(t)$ , where m is the per capita mortality. The differential equation governing the dynamics of the vector population is

$$N_v'(t) = \Lambda - mN_v(t).$$

As  $t \to \infty$  the solution  $N_v$  approach  $\Lambda/m$ .

 $(H_3)$ : Let  $\beta_1$  be the transmission rate from vector to human and  $\beta_2$ , the transmission form human to vector. Then considering the saturation in the force of infection the incidence terms for the host and vector populations are given respectively by

$$\frac{\beta_1 S_H I_v}{1 + \alpha_1 I_v}, \qquad \frac{\beta_2 S_v I_H}{1 + \alpha_2 I_v},$$

where  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$  determine the level at which the force of infection saturates.

The dynamics of the vector host epidemics is described by the following equations

$$S'_{H} = \mu K - \frac{\beta_{1} S_{H} I_{v}}{1 + \alpha_{1} I_{v}} - \mu S_{H}$$

$$I'_{H} = \frac{\beta_{1} S_{H} I_{v}}{1 + \alpha_{1} I_{v}} - (\mu + \gamma) I_{H},$$

$$R'_{H} = \gamma I_{H} - \mu R_{H},$$

$$S'_{v} = \Lambda - \frac{\beta_{2} S_{v} I_{H}}{1 + \alpha_{2} I_{v}} - m S_{v}$$

$$I'_{v} = \frac{\beta_{2} S_{v} I_{H}}{1 + \alpha_{2} I_{v}} - m I_{v}$$
(1.30)

where  $\gamma = \gamma_0 + \gamma_1$ . Since  $N_v \to \Lambda/m$ , then we can assume  $S_v = \Lambda/m - I_v$ ; The system is feasible in the region  $R_+^5$ , the positive orthant of  $R^5$ . Since  $R_H$  and  $S_v$  can be determined from the total population, the dynamics of model 1.30 is determined by the three dimension nonlinear system

$$S'_{H} = \mu K - \frac{\beta_{1}S_{H}I_{v}}{1+\alpha_{1}I_{v}} - \mu S_{H}$$

$$I'_{H} = \frac{\beta_{1}S_{H}I_{v}}{1+\alpha_{1}I_{v}} - \omega I_{H},$$

$$I'_{v} = \frac{\beta_{2}S_{v}I_{H}}{1+\alpha_{2}I_{v}}(\Lambda/m - I_{v}) - mI_{v}$$
(1.31)

where  $\omega = \mu + \gamma$ . For the system 1.31, the region

$$\Omega = \{ (S_H; I_H, I_v) \in R^3_+ \ 0 \le S_H + I_H \le K, \ 0 \le I_v \le \Lambda/m \}$$

The basic reproduction number for the system was calculated to be

$$\mathcal{R}_0 = \frac{\beta_1 \, \beta_2 \, K \Lambda}{m^2 \, \omega}$$

where and they proved that in the absence of the disease all solutions tend to the disease free equilibrium  $E_0$ , when  $\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1$ . When the  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ ,  $E_0$  becomes unstable and an endemic

equilibrium emerges in  $\Omega$ . Linearising the system at the endemic equilibrium and using the second additive matrix result, they established the local and global stability of system 1.12. Finally they simulated the model and demonstrated some analytical results and explored the significance of the nonlinear incidence. These results showed that even though the stability results do not depend directly on the parameters  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$ , a decrease in these two parameters produces an increase in the number of secondary infections. They confirmed therefore that the parameters  $\alpha_1$ ,  $\alpha_2$  which are varying, control the magnitude of the infective individuals.

### 1.8 Ross-Macdonald Model in a Patchy environment by Auger et. al.

Auger et al [14], modified Ross-Macdonald model and subdivided the populations into n patches with susceptible/infectious humans and vectors residing in the patches. They assumed that some patches can be vector free, the hosts can migrate between the patches but not the vectors, and that the susceptible and infectious individuals have the same dispersal rate.

Basing their equations on the Ross-macdonald models, they came up with a set of equations describing their new model. They computed the basic reproduction ratio  $R_0$  and proved that when  $R_0 \leq 1$ , the disease free equilibrium is globally asymptotically stable, and when  $R_0 > 1$ , there exists and endemic equilibrium, which is also globally asymptotically stable on the biological domain minus the disease free equilibrium. Here is a brief description of their model : The transfer rate from patch i to patch j, for  $i \neq j$ , is denoted by  $m_{ij} \geq 0$ . The total host population on patch i is denoted  $N_i$ . For i = 1, 2, ..., n, the dynamics is given by

$$\dot{N}_i = \sum_{j=1^n, j \neq i} m_{ij} N_j - N_i \sum_{j=1, j \neq i^n} m_{ij}.$$

This system can be written as

$$\dot{N} = MN \tag{1.32}$$

They used the following notations

- $-I_{h,i}$  is the infectious host population on patch i
- p is the number of patches harboring vectors,  $I_{v,i}$ ,  $V_i$  are, respectively, the infectious vector population and constant vector population on patch i. If i > p there is no vector on patch i, i.e.,  $V_i=0$
- -a is the man biting rate of vectors
- $-b_1$  is the proportion of infectious bites on hosts that produce a patent infection.
- $-b_2$  is the proportion of infectious bites by susceptible vectors on infectious hosts that produce a patent infection.
- $-\mu$  is the per capita rate of vector mortality.
- $\gamma$  is the per capita rate of host recovery from infection.

Auger et al numbered the patches such that only the first p patches,  $1 \le p \le n$ , are infested by the vectors. On the patches i for i > p,  $V_i = 0$ , hence  $I_{v,i} = 0$ 

For patches such that  $i \leq p$ , i.e., where vectors are present, we have

$$\dot{I}_{h,i} = b_1 a I_{v,i} \frac{N_i - I_{h,i}}{N_i} - \gamma I_{h,i} + \sum_{j=i,j\neq i}^n m_{ij} I_{h,j} - I_{h,i} (\sum_{j=i,j\neq i}^n m_{ij})$$
(1.33)

$$\dot{I}_{v,i} = b_2 a \left( V_i - I_{v,i} \right) \frac{I_{h,i}}{N_i} - \mu I_{v,i}$$
(1.34)

For i > p, there are no vectors on patch i and the equation for the infectious hosts has only the recovery and migration terms. The equation governing the evolution of  $I_{h,i}$  is the following

$$\dot{I}_{h,i} = -\gamma I_{h,i} + \sum_{j=i,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ij} I_{h,j} - I_{h,i} (\sum_{j=i,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ij})$$
(1.35)

They used some notations and conventions to represent the whole system as

$$\dot{N} = MN \tag{1.36}$$

$$\dot{I}_{h} = \beta_{1} \operatorname{diag}(N)^{-1} \operatorname{diag}(N - I_{h}) I_{v} - \gamma I_{h} + M I_{h}$$
(1.38)

$$\pi \dot{I}_v = \beta_2 \operatorname{diag}(\pi N)^{-1} \operatorname{diag}(\pi (V - I_v)) \pi I_h - \mu \pi I_v$$
(1.40)

where  $\operatorname{diag}(X, p, q)$  denotes, the  $p \times q$  matrix diagonal matrix whose diagonal is given by the components of X and the other terms are zero for  $X \in \mathcal{R}^p$  or  $X \in \mathcal{R}^q$ 

Using the concept of Metzler matrices and with further simplification of the system they showed that the origin is the disease free equilibrium and computed the basic reproduction number as

$$\mathcal{R}_{0}^{2} = \frac{\beta_{1} \beta_{2}}{\mu} \rho(-\operatorname{diag}(\pi \operatorname{m}) Z),$$

where  $Z = (D - \gamma I)^{-1}(1:p, 1:p)$ , i.e., the sub-matrix of the *p* first rows and *p* first columns of  $D - \gamma I)^{-1}$ . It was proved that the disease free equilibrium is globally asymptotically stable.

The stability analysis of the endemic equilibria was done using the theory of irreducible monotonic systems, Lyapunov functions and the La Salle invariance principle. They proved that the endemic equilibrium is locally and also globally asymptotically stable. In this study the researchers concentrated on metapopulation of malaria and the dynamics of transmission when the human host migrates. However they did not consider, differentiated susceptibility and infectivity which are important factors in malaria transmission, that we cannot afford to ignore especially in a patchy environment.

# CHAPITRE 2

# A Differentiated Susceptibility and Infectivity Age Structured Malaria model

#### Contents

Introduction	26
2.1 An SIS malaria model in a patchy environment	26
2.2 Introduction	26
2.3 The model	28
2.4 Reduced System	31
2.5 Basic properties of the model	34

### Introduction

### 2.1 An SIS malaria model in a patchy environment

## 2.2 Introduction

Malaria is caused by a parasite of a genus plasmodium, that is transmitted by the female anopheles mosquito as it sucks blood from human hosts for its egg development.

In Kenya, malaria is the leading cause of morbidity and mortality. It is estimated that it accounts for 30% of all outpatient attendance and 19% of all admissions to health facilities. The infection ranges from intense in the lowland to endemic in the highlands causing havoc to the public health system especially during periods of suitable climatic conditions. About 20% of all deaths in children under five are as a result of malaria infection (MOH 2006). Although the disease is found in most parts of the country, the lake stable and coastal region plus the highland epidemic-prone districts have risks of over 20% and 19% respectively, with an estimated population of 19 million people (or 49% of the total Kenyan population).

The Western Kenya highlands bares the greatest blunt of the disease with some areas suffering as high as 70% infection rates. Entomological studies in different highland ecosystems indicate that transmission is heterogeneous. The terrain characteristics and topography which processes rain, results to big differences in epidemic magnitudes. A result identified three hydrological systems including the V-shaped valleys, the U-shaped valleys and the plateaus.

The types of valleys determine drainage quality, the rainfall threshold and consequently vector

breeding. The U-shaped valleys are broad shaped and have slow moving rivers or streams with poor drainage. This favors mosquito population growth resulting in high malaria infection rates and incidence.

The V-shaped valleys have narrow bottoms with fast flowing rivers or streams with good drainage, this makes it hard for mosquito to find suitable breeding sites and thus lower their population growth. The plateaus are flat, though they have good drainage, and their ecosystem behaves like the V-shaped valleys unless there are large water bodies like dams. This implies that the terrain characteristics can modify the level of malaria transmission and the rate of development of immunity as the risk of an epidemic is closely related to the level of immunity of the human population [149].

The V-shaped and the U-shaped valleys are located in different geographical locations, thus clearly separated, and are apart, so in this case the 'spatialization' is discontinuous. Then the natural tool for modeling in this case is metapopulation.

In Kenya malaria is labeled as a 'travelling disease'. Report from Kibera's Ushirika clinic in Nairobi, where malaria is the main disease treated daily, estimates that 80% percent of the people treated for malaria had travelled out of Nairobi. This implies they got infected and returned, with symptoms only appearing once they are back in the estate. The neighbouring estate is inhabited by people who live near Lake Victoria, where the disease is widespread. By being less exposed to malaria, many loose the semi-immunity they used to have. This is why they contract it easily when travelling upcountry, (http://www.irinnews.org/Report/73501/KENYA-Climate-change-and-malaria-in-Nairobi). This brings the disease to the city which has been free of malaria. Then metapopulation models with migration between the patches suits the 'highland malaria' dynamics in Kenya. Understanding human movement will facilitate the identification of individuals and key zones in malaria transmission and may guide intervention measures, monitoring and improve the intervention programs.

Result from literature also confirms that children between 1 and 5 years represent a very significant source of mosquito infections compared to adults [49] and they are not also bitten in same way as adults [109, 130]. Moreover it is well observed that there is a differentiation in these two age groups as most deaths occur in infants and parasitemia levels of infected individuals decrease with age [139]. This naturally constricts us to differentiated susceptibility and infectivity models.

With the predicted climate change [105], the epidemics may become more frequent and severe posing a serious threat on the already strained public health system. Furthermore, due to the large areas affected by epidemic malaria, it may not be affordable to spray every house with indoor residual insecticides [149]. A model that would lead to a better understanding of transmission and risk of severe disease comes in handy at this time.

Mathematical modeling plays a major role in understanding infectious disease dynamics as it describes the complex disease transmission processes. It also provides insights into the disease dynamics during the rigorous analysis process. The first malaria model was formulated by Sir. Ronald Ross in 1911 [121]. Since then, modeling of vector borne disease has grown in leaps and bounds as shown in reviews [19, 34, 36, 58]. Hyman [69] et al. formulated a general differential susceptibility and differential infectivity model for a disease transmission. They proved that the disease free equilibrium is globally stable when  $\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1$  and unstable otherwise. When  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$
they show that there exists an endemic equilibrium and solutions approach this equilibrium asymptotically. The model can only be used for directly transmitted disease. Pongsumpun [119] formulated a model to study the influence of age structure in an SIS model for Dengue Hemorrhagic Fever (DHF) and showed that age structure reduces the periods of oscillation on the susceptible and infected human population and the infected mosquito population. It also tightens the spiraling into the endemic equilibrium state. The difference with our intended model is the metapopulation setting, the differentiated patch and age susceptibility and infectivity, not forgeting the disease malaria.

Auger et.al. [14] modified Ross model to n patches. A thorough analysis on the local and global stability of the disease free and the endemic equilibrium is done using  $\mathcal{R}_0$ . The model however assumed that the susceptibility and infectivity is similar in all the patches, an important difference that we wish to model considering the heterogenity in the ecosystem of Western Kenyan Highlands.

Motivated by the work of [14] and [119], we formulate an age structured malaria model with susceptibility and infectivity of an individual depending on their age and residence patch. We shall then compare our results with the current findings.

The region is subdivided into homogenous patches and the population in the patches is further subdivided into children, ages 1-5, and adults, over 5 years of age. The susceptibility of the two age groups is differentiated to depend on the patch where the individual resides. The two age groups are allowed to migrate between the patches, making short visits to return to their residences later.

We assume that the rate of migration does not depend on the epidemiological status and age of the human host, that is, that the infected or uninfected children move with the same migration rate with the infected or uninfected adults. We also assume that mosquitoes do not migrate. In Section 2, we formulate a mathematical model describing the dynamics of a two class age structure of the human population occupying the patches with migration rates between the patches similar for the two classes. In Section 3, the system is reduced to a more compact form for ease of analysis. In Section 4, we describe the basic properties of the model. In Section 5, we study the stability of the model. An example of the model in two patches is presented in Section 6 and numerical analysis is done in Section 7.

## 2.3 The model

Let  $S_{hi}^C$   $(S_{hi}^A)$ , denote the susceptible children (adults) in patch *i* respectively, while  $I_{hi}^C$   $(I_{hi}^A)$  denotes the susceptible children (adults) respectively. The vector population is likewise identified by  $S_{vi}$  and  $I_{vi}$  for the susceptible and infective vectors respectively. The total human population which is assumed to be constant, is given by the sum of all host in all the patches as  $N = S_h + N_h$ . So that  $N_i = N_i^C + N_i^A$  denotes the total host population in patch *i*. The total vector populations is given by the sum of all vectors in all the patches as  $V = S_v + I_v$  and  $V_i = S_i + I_i$  is the total vector population in patch *i*. Migration of hosts is allowed in and out of the patch with an assumption that those who visit return to their resident patches (i.e. they make short visits sufficient for transmission to take place). We assume a uniform migration rate  $m_{ij} \ge 0$ , i = 1..n denoting proportion of individuals from patch *j* to patch *i*. The flow of individuals into the different compartments is represented in Diagram 2.1 shown below

The total host population on patch i is defined as  $N_i = N_i^C + N_i^A$  and its dynamics is given



Figure 2.1 – Transfer Diagram for the different epidemiological groups in different patches

by  $\dot{N}_i = \dot{N}_i^C + \dot{N}_i^A$ , and

$$\dot{N}_{i}^{C} = \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ij}^{C} N_{j}^{C} - \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} N_{i}^{C}$$
$$\dot{N}_{i}^{A} = \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ij}^{A} N_{j}^{A} - \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{A} N_{i}^{A}$$

where  $\sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} N_j$  is the total number of residents of patch *i* at time *t* [10]. We define the vector of  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ ,  $N^C$ ,  $N^A$  and  $N^v$  whose components are respectively  $N_i^C$ ,  $N_i^A$  and  $N_i^v$ .

If we define the matrix  $M^C$  by

$$M_{i,j}^C = \begin{cases} m_{ij}^C \text{ if } i \neq j \\\\ m_{ii}^C = -\sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^n m_{ji}^C \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$$

and the matrix  $M^A$  analogously, the preceding equations are

$$\hat{E}\dot{N}^C = M^C N^C \quad \dot{N}^A = M^A N^A$$

We can also assume that there is some migration for the mosquitoes, at least for some nearby patches. Then in the same way we introduce

$$\hat{E}\dot{N}^v = M^v N^v$$

If all the patches are sufficiently distant from each others, then no migration of mosquitoes occurs then  $\mathcal{M}^v = 0$ 

Therefore the dynamics of the total host and vector population on patch i is be defined by

$$\dot{N}_i^{\Delta} = \mathcal{M} \, N_i^{\Delta} \tag{2.1}$$

where  $N^{\vartriangle}$  is the vector defined by

$$\hat{E}N^{\triangle} = \begin{bmatrix} N^C \\ N^A \\ N^v \end{bmatrix}$$

and the matrix  $\mathcal{M}$  is the diagonal block matrix

$$\hat{E}\mathcal{M} = \begin{bmatrix} M^C & 0 & 0\\ 0 & M^A & 0\\ 0 & 0 & M^v \end{bmatrix}$$

Our migration equation becomes

$$\dot{N} = \mathcal{M} N. \tag{2.2}$$

The following are the notations used in the model :

- $\Lambda_i$  is the recruitment of new born children in patch *i*.
- $-S_{h,i}$ ,  $I_{h,i}$  is the susceptible, respectively infectious host population on patch i
- $S_{v,i}$ ,  $I_{v,i}$  is the susceptible, respectively infectious vector population on patch *i*.
- $-a_i$  is the man biting rate of vectors in patch *i*.
- $-b_1$  is the proportion of infectious bites on host that produce a patent infection
- $-\ b_2$  is the proportion of bites by susceptible vectors on infected host that produce a patent infection
- $-\mu_{h,i}^{C}(\mu_{h,i}^{A})$  is the per capita rate of children (adult) mortality in patch *i*.
- $-\nu$  is the rate children translate to adults. Then  $\frac{1}{\nu}$  is the mean duration of childhood.
- $\mu_{v,i}$  is the per capita rate of vector mortality.
- $-\gamma_i^C$  is the per capita rate of child recovery from infection, and  $\frac{1}{\gamma_i^C}$  is the childs' mean duration in the infectious compartment in patch *i*. A similar definition holds for the adult recovery,  $\gamma_i^A$ .

The total host and vector population in all the patches is constant. We assume that the parameters  $a_i$  is dependent on the host age group in the patches. We also assume that recovery rate  $\gamma_i$ does not depend on age [139] but on how quickly the host receives treatment and their history of malaria infection. This clearly depends on the nature of the health system in the patch *i*. We consider age structured system where children translate to adults at a rate  $\nu$ . For the patches i = 1, ..., n we have the 6 n equations

$$\begin{split} \dot{S}_{h,i}^{C} &= \Lambda_{i} - b_{1}a_{i}^{C}\frac{S_{h,i}^{C}}{N_{i}}I_{v,i} + \gamma_{i}^{C}I_{h,i}^{C} - (\mu_{i}^{C} + \nu)S_{h,i}^{C} + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n}m_{ij}^{C}S_{h,j}^{C} - S_{h,i}^{C}\sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n}m_{ji}^{C}\\ \dot{S}_{h,i}^{A} &= \nu S_{h,i}^{C} - b_{1}a_{i}^{A}\frac{S_{h,i}^{A}}{N_{i}}I_{v,i} + \gamma_{i}^{A}I_{h,i}^{A} - \mu_{i}^{A}S_{h,i}^{A} + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n}m_{ij}^{A}S_{h,j}^{A} - S_{h,i}^{A}\sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n}m_{ji}^{A}\\ \dot{I}_{h,i}^{C} &= b_{1}a_{i}^{C}\frac{S_{h,i}^{C}}{N_{i}}I_{v,i} - (\gamma_{i}^{C} + \mu_{i}^{C} + \nu)I_{h,i}^{C} + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n}m_{ij}^{C}I_{h,j}^{C} - I_{h,i}^{C}\sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n}m_{ji}^{C}\\ \dot{I}_{h,i}^{A} &= b_{1}a_{i}^{A}\frac{S_{h,i}^{A}}{N_{i}}I_{v,i} + \nu I_{h,i}^{C} - (\gamma_{i}^{A} + \mu_{i}^{A})I_{h,i}^{A} + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n}m_{ij}^{A}I_{h,j}^{A} - I_{h,i}^{A}\sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n}m_{ji}^{C}\\ \dot{S}_{v,i} &= \Lambda_{v} - \frac{S_{h,i}}{N_{i}}(b_{2}a_{i}^{C}I_{h,i}^{C} + b_{2}a_{i}^{A}I_{h,i}^{A}) - \mu_{v,i}S_{v,i} + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n}m_{ij}^{v}I_{v,j}^{v} - I_{v,i}\sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n}m_{ji}^{v}\\ \dot{I}_{v,i} &= \frac{S_{h,i}}{N_{i}}(b_{2}a_{i}^{C}I_{h,i}^{C} + b_{2}a_{i}^{A}I_{h,i}^{A}) - \mu_{v}I_{v,i} + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n}m_{ij}^{v}I_{v,j}^{v} - I_{v,i}\sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n}m_{ji}^{v} \end{split}$$

The term  $\Lambda_i$  represents the recruitment of newborns into the susceptible children's class.  $b_1 a_i^C I_{v,i} \frac{(S_{b,i}^C)}{N_i}$ in the first equation represents the differentiated infection of susceptible children by infectious mosquitoes using frequency dependent transmission and a non constant host population in patch i. The term  $-\gamma_i I_{h,i}^C (-\gamma_i I_{h,i}^A)$  defines the recovery of infected child (adult) respectively,  $\mu_i^C$  is the per capita death rate of children in patch i,  $\nu$  is the rate children pass into adulthood, and the last term defines host migration. For the second and third equations the terms are defined similarly for Adults. The fifth equation for infected Children and infected Adults, while the last term  $-\mu_i I_{v,i}$  caters for vector mortality.

We will assume in the sequel that  $\nu < \gamma_i^A$  for any index *i* 

The rationale for this assumption is that the rate of recovering, for an adult or a child, is considerably greater than the mean sojourn time in the compartment of childhood. Actually  $\nu \approx \frac{1}{5 \times 365} j^{-1}$  and  $\gamma_i^A \approx \frac{1}{2 \times 30} j^{-1}$ 

The complete system is given by equations and (2.3).

## 2.4 Reduced System

It turns out that system given by equations (2.3) can be rewritten in a triangular form so we need the following theorem to reduce such a system and thus study a smaller system.

Theorem 2.1 (Vidyasagar). Consider the following  $C^1$  system :

$$\dot{x} = f(x) \qquad x \in \mathbb{R}^n, y \in \mathbb{R}^m$$
  

$$\dot{y} = g(x, y)$$
  
with an equilibrium point,  $(x^*, y^*)i.e$   

$$f(x^*) = 0 \quad and \quad g(x^*, y^*) = 0$$
(2.4)

If  $x^*$  is globally asymptotically stable (GAS) in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  for the system  $\dot{x} = f(x)$ , and if  $y^*$  is GAS in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , for the system  $\dot{y} = g(x^*, y)$ , then  $(x^*, y^*)$  is (locally) asymptotically stable for (2.4). Moreover if all the trajectories of (2.4) are forward bounded, then  $(x^*, y^*)$  is a GAS for (2.4). To apply the above Vidyasagar theorem we would need to prove the stability analysis of first equation, then we would only have to test the stability of the infection equation.

From equation (2.3) if we add equation (i) and equation (iii) together we get

$$\dot{N}_{i}^{C} = \Lambda_{h,i} - (\mu_{h,i}^{C} + \nu)N_{i}^{C} + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ij}^{C}N_{j}^{C} - \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C}N_{i}^{C}$$

Which gives

$$\hat{E}\dot{N}^C = \Lambda + \left(-\operatorname{diag}(\mu_h^C + \nu \,1) + M^C\right)N^C.$$

We note that the matrix  $[-\text{diag}(\mu_h^C + \nu 1) + M^C] \ge 0$ , is a Metzler matrix.

For a matrix M the stability modulus, that we will denote s(M), is the largest real part of the elements of the spectrum Spec(M) of M

$$s(M) = \max_{\lambda \in \operatorname{Spec}(M)} Re(\lambda).$$

We have now

$$\hat{E}1^T \left[-\text{diag}(\mu_h^C + \nu \, 1) + M^C\right] = -(\mu_h^C + \nu)^T \ll 0.$$

This proves ([?, 131]) that the stability modulus of  $M^C$  satisfies

$$\hat{E}s\left(-\operatorname{diag}(\mu_h^C+\nu\,1)+M^C\right)<0,$$

implying that this Metzler matrix is non singular, which in turn implies that the opposite its inverse is nonnegative [?, 131].

Therefore the equilibrium of this linear system is given by

$$\hat{E}\bar{N}^{C} = -[-\text{diag}(\mu_{h}^{C} + \nu 1) + M^{C}]^{-1}\Lambda_{h} > 0,$$

and is globally asymptotically stable.

A similar result is obtained for the adult population with an equilibrium denoted by  $\bar{N}^A$ 

$$\bar{N}^A = -\nu \left( -\text{diag}(\mu^A) + M^A \right)^{-1} \bar{N}^C > 0,$$

and for the mosquito population with an equilibrium denoted by  $\overline{V}$ .

$$\bar{V} = \left(-\text{diag}(\mu_v) + M^v\right)^{-1} \Lambda_v$$

Reduction process

We will now gives different expressions for the equation of our system. Depending on the case at hand we will use the most convenient form to give the properties of this system and the corresponding proofs.

We can rewrite system (2.3) in  $\mathbb{R}^{6n}_+$ , with a immediate variable change

$$\begin{split} \dot{N}^{C} &= \Lambda + \left(-\text{diag}(\mu_{h}^{C} + \nu \, 1) + M^{C}\right) N^{C} \\ \dot{N}^{A} &= \nu N^{C} + \left(-\text{diag}(\mu_{h}^{A}) + M^{A}\right) N^{A} \\ \dot{N}_{v} &= \Lambda_{v} + \left(-\text{diag}(\mu_{v}) + M^{v}\right) N^{v} \\ \dot{I}_{h,i}^{C} &= \beta_{1}^{C} I_{v,i} \frac{\left(N_{i}^{C} - I_{h,i}^{C}\right)}{N_{i}} - \left(\gamma^{C} + \mu_{h}^{C} + \nu \, 1\right) I_{h,i}^{C} + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ij}^{C} I_{h,j}^{C} - I_{h,i}^{C} \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \\ \dot{I}_{h,i}^{A} &= \beta_{1}^{A} I_{v,i} \frac{\left(N_{i}^{A} - I_{h,i}^{A}\right)}{N_{i}} + \nu I_{h,i}^{A} - \left(\gamma^{A} + \mu_{i}^{A}\right) I_{h,i}^{A} + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ij}^{A} I_{h,j}^{A} - I_{h,i}^{A} \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{A} \\ \dot{I}_{v,i} &= \frac{\left(N^{v} - I_{v,i}\right)}{N_{i}} \left(\beta_{2}^{C} I_{h,i}^{C} + \beta_{2}^{A} I_{h,i}^{A}\right) - \mu_{v} I_{v,i} + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ij}^{v} I_{v,j} - I_{v,i} \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \\ \dot{I}_{v,i} &= \frac{\left(N^{v} - I_{v,i}\right)}{N_{i}} \left(\beta_{2}^{C} I_{h,i}^{C} + \beta_{2}^{A} I_{h,i}^{A}\right) - \mu_{v} I_{v,i} + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ij}^{v} I_{v,j} - I_{v,i} \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \\ \dot{I}_{v,i} &= \frac{\left(N^{v} - I_{v,i}\right)}{N_{i}} \left(\beta_{2}^{C} I_{h,i}^{C} + \beta_{2}^{A} I_{h,i}^{A}\right) - \mu_{v} I_{v,i} + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ij}^{v} I_{v,j} - I_{v,i} \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \\ \dot{I}_{v,i} &= \frac{\left(N^{v} - I_{v,i}\right)}{N_{i}} \left(\beta_{2}^{C} I_{h,i}^{C} + \beta_{2}^{A} I_{h,i}^{A}\right) - \mu_{v} I_{v,i} + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ij}^{v} I_{v,j} - I_{v,i} \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \\ \dot{I}_{v,i} &= \frac{\left(N^{v} - I_{v,i}\right)}{N_{i}} \left(\beta_{2}^{C} I_{h,i}^{C} + \beta_{2}^{A} I_{h,i}^{A}\right) - \mu_{v} I_{v,i} + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ij}^{v} I_{v,j} - I_{v,i} \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \\ \dot{I}_{v,i} &= \frac{\left(N^{v} - I_{v,i}\right)}{N_{i}} \left(\beta_{i}^{C} I_{i,i}^{C} + \beta_{i}^{A} I_{i,i}^{A}\right) - \mu_{v} I_{v,i} + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ij}^{v} I_{v,j} - I_{v,i} \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \\ \dot{I}_{v,i} &= \frac{\left(N^{v} - I_{v,i}\right)}{N_{i}} \left(\beta_{i}^{C} I_{i,i}^{C} + \beta_{i}^{A} I_{i,i}^{A}\right) - \mu_{v} I_{v,i} + \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ij}^{v} I_{v,j} - I_{v,i} \sum_{j=1,j\neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \\ \dot{I}_{v,i} &= \frac{\left(N^{v} - I_{v,i}\right)}{N_{i}} \left(\beta_{i}^{C} I_{v,i}^{C} + \beta_{i}^{A} I_{i,i}^{A}\right) - \frac{\left(N^{v} - I_{v,i}\right)}{N_{i}} \\$$

This system is clearly triangular if we consider the first variables  $(N^C, N^A, N^v)$ . By application of Theorem 2.1, the stability analysis of (2.5) is now reduced to the stability analysis of the system

$$\begin{cases} \dot{I}_{h,i}^{C} = \beta_{1}^{C} I_{v,i} \frac{(\bar{N}_{i}^{C} - I_{h,i}^{C})}{\bar{N}_{i}} - (\gamma^{C} + \mu_{h}^{C} + \nu \, 1) I_{h,i}^{C} + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ij}^{C} I_{h,j}^{C} - I_{h,i}^{C} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \\ \dot{I}_{h,i}^{A} = \beta_{1}^{A} I_{v,i} \frac{(\bar{N}_{i}^{A} - I_{h,i}^{A})}{\bar{N}_{i}} + \nu I_{h,i}^{C} - (\gamma^{A} + \mu_{i}^{A}) I_{h,i}^{A} + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ij}^{A} I_{h,j}^{A} - I_{h,i}^{A} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{A} \\ \dot{I}_{v,i} = \frac{(\bar{V}_{i} - I_{v,i})}{\bar{N}_{i}} (\beta_{2}^{C} I_{h,i}^{C} + \beta_{2}^{A} I_{h,i}^{A}) - \mu_{v} I_{v,i} + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ij}^{v} I_{v,j} - I_{v,i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \end{cases}$$
(2.6)

We set

$$\bar{N} = \bar{N}^{C} + \bar{N}^{A}$$

$$I_{h}^{C} = (I_{h,1}^{C}, I_{h,2}^{C}, \dots, I_{h,n}^{C})^{T}$$

$$I_{h}^{A} = (I_{h,1}^{A}, I_{h,2}^{A}, \dots, I_{h,n}^{A})^{T}$$

$$I_{v} = (I_{v,1}, I_{v,2}, \dots, I_{v,n})^{T}$$

Then equation (2.6) can be written, in a vectorialized way, as

$$\begin{cases} \dot{I}_{h}^{C} = \operatorname{diag}(\beta_{1}^{C})\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1}\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{C} - I_{h}^{C})I_{v} - \operatorname{diag}(\gamma^{C} + \mu_{h}^{C} + \nu 1)I_{h}^{C} + M^{C}I_{h}^{C} \\ \dot{I}_{h}^{A} = \operatorname{diag}(\beta_{1}^{A})\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1}\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{A} - I_{h}^{A})I_{v} + \nu I_{h}^{C} - \operatorname{diag}(\gamma^{A} + \mu_{h}^{A})I_{h}^{A} + M^{A}I_{h}^{A} \\ \dot{I}_{v} = [\operatorname{diag}(\beta_{2}^{C}I_{h}^{C}) + \operatorname{diag}(\beta_{2}^{A}I_{h}^{A})]\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1}(\bar{V}_{i} - I_{v,i}) - \operatorname{diag}(\mu_{v})I_{v} + M^{v}I_{v} \end{cases}$$
(2.7)

For another variable change, we set

$$\begin{aligned} x &= \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^C)^{-1} I_h^C \\ y &= \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^A)^{-1} I_h^A \\ z &= \operatorname{diag}(\bar{V})^{-1} I_v. \end{aligned}$$

Rewriting system (2.7) in terms of x, y and z, we have

$$\dot{x} = \operatorname{diag}(\beta_1^C)\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1}\operatorname{diag}(\bar{V})\operatorname{diag}(1-x)z - \operatorname{diag}(\gamma^C + \mu_h^C + \nu 1)x + \tilde{M}^C x$$
$$\dot{y} = \operatorname{diag}(\beta_1^A)\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1}\operatorname{diag}(\bar{V})\operatorname{diag}(1-y)z - \operatorname{diag}(\gamma^A + \mu_h^A)y + \nu x + \tilde{M}^A y$$
$$\dot{z} = \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1} \left[\operatorname{diag}(\beta_2^C)\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^C)\operatorname{diag}(x) + \operatorname{diag}(\beta_2^A)\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^A)\operatorname{diag}(y)\right](1-z) - \operatorname{diag}(\mu_v)z + \tilde{M}^v z,$$
$$(2.8)$$

where we define the matrices

$$\begin{split} \tilde{M}^C &= \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^C)^{-1} M^C \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^C), \\ \tilde{M}^A &= \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^A)^{-1} M^A \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^A), \\ \tilde{M}^v &= \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^v)^{-1} M^v \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^v). \end{split}$$

Finally, we will make a final "vectorization" of the system

$$\hat{E}\mathcal{A} = \begin{bmatrix} \operatorname{diag}(\beta_1^C) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1} \operatorname{diag}(\bar{V}) & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \operatorname{diag}(\beta_1^A) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1} \operatorname{diag}(\bar{V}) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1} \end{bmatrix},$$
$$\mathcal{B} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & I_n \\ 0 & 0 & I_n \\ \operatorname{diag}(\beta_2^C) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^C) & \operatorname{diag}(\beta_2^A) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^A) & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

Ê

$$C = \begin{bmatrix} \operatorname{diag}(\gamma^{C} + \nu 1 + \mu_{h}^{C}) & 0 & 0 \\ -\nu I_{n} & \operatorname{diag}(\gamma^{A} + \mu_{h}^{A}) & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \operatorname{diag}(\mu_{v}) \end{bmatrix}$$

Ê

$$\tilde{\mathcal{M}} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{M}^C & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \tilde{M}^A & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & \tilde{M}^v \end{bmatrix}$$

Ê

We observe that  $\tilde{\mathcal{M}} = \Delta^{-1} \mathcal{M} \Delta$  where  $\Delta$  is the diagonal matrix

$$\Delta = \begin{bmatrix} \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{C}) & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{A}) & 0\\ 0 & 0 & \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{v}) \end{bmatrix}$$

Ê

 $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  are nonnegative matrices and we claim that  $-\mathcal{C} + \tilde{\mathcal{M}}$  is a stable Meztler matrix.

Indeed the stability modulus of  $-\mathcal{C}$  is negative and

$$s(-\mathcal{C}) = -\min(\gamma^C + \nu \, 1 + \mu_h^C, \gamma^A + \mu_h^A, \mu_v) < 0$$

where the minimum is taken over the components of the 3 positive vectors. We have

 $-\mathcal{C} + \tilde{\mathcal{M}} \le -s(\mathcal{C}) I_{3n} + \tilde{\mathcal{M}}$ 

Since the matrices involved are Metzler matrices, this implies the following inequality for the corresponding stability modulus

$$s\left(-\mathcal{C}+\tilde{\mathcal{M}}\right) \leq -s(\mathcal{C}) I_{3n} + s(\tilde{\mathcal{M}}) = -s(\mathcal{C}) < 0$$

The relation  $s(\tilde{\mathcal{M}})$  follows from  $s(\tilde{\mathcal{M}}) = s(\mathcal{M})$  and from  $1^T \mathcal{M} = 0$  which implies by Perron-Frobenius that  $s(\mathcal{M}) = 0$ .

Using the preceding matrices and the vector X = (x, y, z) we rewrite equation (2.8) in a compact form as

$$\dot{X} = \mathcal{A}\operatorname{diag}(1-X)\mathcal{B}X + (-\mathcal{C} + \tilde{\mathcal{M}})X$$
(2.9)

This system evolves on the unit cube of  $\mathbb{R}^{3n}$ .

## 2.5 Basic properties of the model

For any index i we shall use the classical notations : x < y if  $x \leq y$  and  $x_i \leq y_i$  for some i and we write  $x_i \ll y_i$  if  $x_i < y_i$  for all i.

Proposition 1 (Positively invariant set). The unit cube

$$\mathfrak{K} = \{ (x,y,z) \in \mathbb{R}^{3n} \ | \ 0 \le x \le 1; \quad 0 \le y \le 1, \ 0 \le z \le 1 \}.$$

is positively invariant for system (2.8).

## Proof

To show the invariance of the unit cube  $\mathfrak{K}$ , under the flow of the system (2.8), it suffices to show that each of the faces of the cube cannot be crossed.

On the patch i we have

$$\hat{E}\dot{x}_{i} = \beta_{1}^{C} \frac{\bar{V}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}} z_{i} \left(1 - x_{i}\right) - \left(\gamma_{i}^{C} + \mu_{h,i}^{C} + \nu\right) x_{i} + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ij}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{j}^{C}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{j}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{j}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{j}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}} x_{j} - x_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}}$$

Ê

If  $x_i = 0$ 

$$\dot{x}_i = \beta_1^C \, \frac{\bar{V}_i}{\bar{N}_i} \, z_i + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^n m_{ij}^C \, \frac{\bar{N}_j^C}{\bar{N}_i^C} \, x_j \ge 0.$$

implying that x = 0 cannot be crossed from positive to negative.

If  $x_i = 1$ , then for  $j \neq i$  we have  $x_j = 0$ , since the entire population is 1. Then

$$\dot{x}_i = -(\gamma_i^C + \mu_{h,i}^C + \nu) - \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^n m_{ji} < 0.$$

The equation for  $y_i$  in patch i is

$$\hat{E}\dot{y}_{i} = \beta_{1}^{A} \frac{\bar{V}_{i}}{\bar{N}_{i}} z_{i} (1 - y_{i}) - (\gamma_{i}^{A} + \mu_{h,i}^{A}) y_{i} + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ij} \frac{N_{j}^{A}}{N_{i}^{A}} y_{j} - y_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}$$

Ê

If  $y_i = 0$  then

$$\dot{y}_i = \beta_1^A \, \frac{\bar{V}_i}{\bar{N}_i} \, z_i + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^n m_{ij} \, \frac{N_j^A}{N_i^A} \, y_j \ge 0.$$

if  $y_i = 1$  we have again  $y_j = 0$  for any  $j \neq i$  and

$$\hat{E}\hat{E}\dot{y}_{i} = -(\gamma_{i}^{A} + \mu_{h,i}^{A}) - \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji} < 0$$

Finally the equation for  $z_i$  in patch *i* is given by

$$\hat{E}\dot{z}_{i} = \beta_{2}^{C} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}}{\bar{N}_{i}} x_{i} (1-z_{i}) + \beta_{2}^{A} \frac{\bar{N}_{i}^{A}}{\bar{N}_{i}} y_{i} (1-z_{i}) - \mu_{v,i} z_{i} + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ij}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{j}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{j}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{j}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{j}} z_{j} - z_{i} \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ji}^{v} \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{j}} z_{j}$$

Ê

If  $z_i = 0$ , then for any i,

$$\dot{z}_{i} = \beta_{2}^{C} \, \frac{\bar{N}_{i}^{C}}{\bar{N}_{i}} \, x_{i} + \beta_{2}^{A} \, \frac{\bar{N}_{i}^{A}}{\bar{N}_{i}} \, y_{i} + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} m_{ij}^{v} \, \frac{\bar{V}_{j}}{\bar{V}_{i}} \, z_{j} \ge 0,$$

and if  $z_i = 1$  then for any  $j \neq i$ ,  $z_j = 0$  since the whole population is 1 and thus

$$\dot{z}_i = -\beta_2^C \, \frac{\bar{N}_i^C}{\bar{N}_i} \, x_i \, -\beta_2^A \, \frac{\bar{N}_i^A}{\bar{N}_i} \, y_i \, -\sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^n m_{ji}^v < 0$$

proposition is proved.

Proposition 2.

If the matrix  $M^C + M^A + M^v$  is irreducible, then the system (2.9) is strongly monotone in the interior of the positively invariant set  $[0, 1]^{3n}$ 

## $\operatorname{Proof}$

We utilise the theory of monotone dynamical systems introduced by [63, 65, 64], developed further in [63] and applied in [14].

System (2.9) is monotone if its Jacobian is a Metzler matrix on the unit cube. The Jacobian of system (2.9) is given by

$$\hat{E}J(X) = \mathcal{A}\operatorname{diag}(1-X)\mathcal{B} + (-\mathcal{C} + \tilde{\mathcal{M}}) - \mathcal{A}\operatorname{diag}(\mathcal{B}X)$$

The Jacobian J(X) is clearly a Metzler matrix since  $0 \le X \le 1$ , which implies that the system is cooperative in the unit cube.

Next, we show that the Jacobian J(X) is an irreducible matrix in the set  $[0, 1]^{3n}$ . This will imply strong monotonicity of the system in the interior of the unit cube. In this set the diagonal terms of diag(1 - X) are positive, the same property is satisfied for  $\mathcal{A}$ , then the connectivity of the associated graph of  $\mathcal{A}$  diag $(1 - X)\mathcal{B}$  is reduced to consider the connectivity of  $\mathcal{B}$ .

It is well known that a matrix is irreducible if its associated graph is strongly connected. Then only the off diagonal terms are concerned. Then it is sufficient to prove that the matrix

$$\hat{E}\mathcal{A}$$
diag $(1-X)\mathcal{B} + (-\mathcal{C} + \tilde{\mathcal{M}})$ 

Ê

is irreducible. For the associated graph we distinguishes three categories of vertices : the vertices corresponding to the  $x_i$  (children vertices),  $y_i$  (adults vertices),  $z_i$  (mosquitoes vertices). Considering the matrix  $\mathcal{B}$  it is clear that a vertex  $x_i$  is connected to the vertices of the same patch i, i.e,  $y_i$  and  $z_i$ . In other words on the three vertices of patch i are contained in a strongly connected component. The vertices from a patch is a subgraph and we can use the contraction of each  $(x_i, y_i, z_i)$  in the general digraph to obtain a new digraph wich represents movements between the patches. To prove the strong connectedness it is sufficient to prove that this contracted digraph is strongly connected.

To the matrix  $\tilde{\mathcal{M}}^{\mathcal{C}}$  correspond a digraph between the patches. This graph is equivalent to the associated digraph of  $\mathcal{M}^{\mathcal{C}}$ . Since  $M^{\mathcal{C}}$ ,  $M^{\mathcal{A}}$  and  $M^{v}$  are Metzler matrices, we can consider the matrix  $M^{\mathcal{C}} + M^{\mathcal{A}} + M^{v}$  and its corresponding multigraph on the graph of patches. This oriented multigraph represents actually the circulation of malaria parasites between the patches. Malaria parasites can be transported either by child, adults or mosquitoes.

Since we have assumed that the matrix, our graph is strongly connected, consequently the Jacobian is irreducible. We note that we are in a context of multiple species (i.e., childs, adults and mosquitoes) in a metapopulation model as conceptualized in [?].

Our assumption simply means that the circulation of paras

# chapitre 3

## Stability Analysis

#### Contents

3.1	Basic Reproduction Number, $\mathcal{R}_0$	•
3.2	Main Result	)
3.3	An Example in Two Patches 41	
3.4	Simulation	2
	3.4.1 Parameter values	5
3.5	Numerical simulation	5
	3.5.1 The U-shaped Valley Sites : Iguhu and Umutete, $\mathcal{R}_0 = 5.36$	-
	3.5.2 The V-shaped Valley Sites : Fort Tenan and Marani, $\mathcal{R}_0 = 1.67$	)
	3.5.3 Conclusion	)

## 3.1 Basic Reproduction Number, $\mathcal{R}_0$

Using the classical framework defined in [32],[141], we define

$$\mathcal{F} = \begin{bmatrix} \operatorname{diag}(\beta_1^C) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1} \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^v) \operatorname{diag}(1-x) z \\ \operatorname{diag}(\beta_1^A) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1} \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^v) \operatorname{diag}(1-y) z \\ (\operatorname{diag}(\beta_2^C) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^C) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1} \operatorname{diag}(x) + \operatorname{diag}(\beta_2^A) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^A) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1} \operatorname{diag}(y)) \operatorname{diag}(1-z) \end{bmatrix}$$

the appearance of new infections in infectious compartments and by

$$\mathcal{V} = \begin{bmatrix} -(\gamma^C + \tilde{\mu}_h^C) x + M^C x \\ -(\gamma^A + \mu_h^A) y + \nu x + M^A y \\ -\mu_v z + M^v z \end{bmatrix}$$

the transfer into the compartments by all other means. The Jacobian F of  $\mathcal{F}$  is given by

$$\mathbf{F} = \begin{bmatrix} -\operatorname{diag}(\beta_{1}^{C})\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1}\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{v})\operatorname{diag}(z) & 0 & \operatorname{diag}(\beta_{1}^{C})\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1}\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{v})\operatorname{diag}(1-x) \\ 0 & -\operatorname{diag}(\beta_{1}^{A})\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1}\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{v})\operatorname{diag}(z) & \operatorname{diag}(\beta_{1}^{A})\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1}\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{v})\operatorname{diag}(1-x) \\ \operatorname{diag}(\beta_{2}^{C})\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{C})\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1}(1-z) & \operatorname{diag}(\beta_{2}^{A}\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{A})\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1}(1-z) & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

When there is no infection (at the origin) is the Jacobian F of  $\mathcal{F}$  is given by

$$\mathbf{F}(0,0,0) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \operatorname{diag}(\beta_1^C) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1} \operatorname{diag}(\bar{V}) \\ 0 & 0 & \operatorname{diag}(\beta_1^A) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1} \operatorname{diag}(\bar{V}) \\ \operatorname{diag}(\beta_2^C) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^C) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1} & \operatorname{diag}(\beta_2^A) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^A) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1} & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$

The Jacobian V of  $\mathcal{V}$  is given by

$$\mathbf{V} = \begin{bmatrix} -(\gamma^{C} + \tilde{\mu}_{h}^{C}) + M^{C} & 0 & 0 \\ \\ \nu & -(\gamma^{A} + \mu_{h}^{A}) + M^{A} & 0 \\ \\ 0 & 0 & -\mu_{v} + M^{v} \end{bmatrix}$$

The matrix

$$\mathbf{V}^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} (-(\gamma^C + \tilde{\mu}_h^C) + M^C)^{-1} & 0 & 0\\ -\frac{\nu}{((\gamma^C + \tilde{\mu}_h^C) + M^C)((\gamma^A + \mu_h^A) + M^A)} & (-(\gamma^A + \mu_h^A) + M^A)^{-1} & 0\\ 0 & 0 & (-\mu_v + M^v)^{-1} \end{bmatrix}$$

The basic reproduction number is defined in [141] as

$$\mathcal{R}_0 = \rho(FV^{-1}) = \rho(V^{-1}F).$$

Now we are using Metzler instead of M-matrices so we use our  $\mathcal{R}_0$  is defined by  $\mathcal{R}_0 = \rho(-FV^{-1}).$ 

$$-FV^{-1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \operatorname{diag}(\beta_1^C) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1} \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^v)(-\mu I_{n \times n})^{-1} \\ 0 & 0 & \operatorname{diag}(\beta_1^A) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1} \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^v)(-\mu I_{n \times n})^{-1} \\ \eta & \operatorname{diag}(\beta_2^A \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^A) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1}((\gamma_i^A + \mu_h^A) - M^A)^{-1} & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

where

$$\eta = \frac{\operatorname{diag}(\beta_2^C)\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^C)\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1}}{(-(\gamma^C + \tilde{\mu}_h^C) + M^C)} - \frac{\nu\operatorname{diag}(\beta_2^A)\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^A)\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1}}{(-(\gamma^C + \tilde{\mu}_h^C) + M^C)(-(\gamma^A + \mu_h^A) + M^A)}$$

We have

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{R}_{0}^{2} &= \frac{\operatorname{diag}(\beta_{1}^{C})\operatorname{diag}(\beta_{2}^{C})\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{C})\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-2}\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{v})}{(\mu_{v} - M^{v})(\gamma^{C} + \tilde{\mu}_{h}^{C} - M^{C})} \\ &+ \frac{\nu\operatorname{diag}(\beta_{1}^{C})\operatorname{diag}(\beta_{1}^{A})\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{A})\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-2}\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{v})}{(\mu_{v} + M^{v})(\gamma^{C} + \tilde{\mu}_{h}^{C} - M^{C})(\gamma^{A} + \mu_{h}^{A} - M^{A})} \\ &+ \frac{\operatorname{diag}(\beta_{1}^{A})\operatorname{diag}(\beta_{2}^{A})\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{A})\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-2}\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{v})}{(\mu_{v} - M^{v})(\gamma^{A} + \mu_{h}^{A} - M^{A})} \end{aligned}$$

When  $\mathcal{R}_0 < 1$ , the DFE is locally asymptotically stable, and if  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$  the DFE is unstable, see [141, 32].

## 3.2 Main Result

In this section establish global stability of the DFE and a global stability result for  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ . We have the following theorem

Theorem 3.1. If  $\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1$ , then system (2.9) is globally asymptotically stable at the origin. If  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ , then there exists a unique endemic equilibrium  $E^*$ , which is globally asymptotically stable on  $\mathfrak{K} \in [0, 1]^{3n}$ .

Proof We recall system (2.9).

 $\dot{X} = \mathcal{A} \operatorname{diag}(1 - X) \mathcal{B}X + \left[-\mathcal{C} + \mathcal{M}\right] X$ 

The Jacobian at the origin will be given by

$$J(X) = \mathcal{A}\mathcal{B}\operatorname{diag}(1-X) + \mathcal{B}(-AX) + [-\mathcal{C} + \mathcal{M}]$$

or

$$J(0) = \mathcal{A}\mathcal{B} + [-\mathcal{C} + \mathcal{M}]$$

that is

$$J = \mathcal{AB} + [-\mathcal{C} + \mathcal{M}].$$

To prove the proposition above we assume that  $\rho(\mathcal{AB} + [-\mathcal{C} + \mathcal{M}]^{-1}) \leq 1$ .

Since  $[-\mathcal{C} + \mathcal{M}]$  is a metzler matrix which is invertible and  $\mathcal{A} \ge 0$ , this is a regular splitting of J [144]. We know from [71, 141, 143] that

$$\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1 \quad \iff \quad \rho(-\mathcal{A}\mathcal{B}[-\mathcal{C}+\mathcal{M}]^{-1}) \leq 0.$$

From the preceding section we proved that the Jacoban J is an irreducible metzler martrix. So there exists a positive vector  $\mathbf{c} \gg 0$ , such that

$$\mathbf{c}^{t}(\mathcal{A}\mathcal{B}+\mathcal{C}) = \alpha(J)\,\mathbf{c}^{t} \leq 0.$$

To prove the global stability of the DFE we consider the Lyapunov function

$$L(X) = \langle \mathbf{c} \mid X \rangle,$$

where  $\langle | \rangle$ , denotes the inner product. From the definition of  $\mathbf{c} \gg 0$ , this function is actually positive definite in the nonnegative orthant. We compute the derivative of *L* along the trajectories of 2.9 and find that it is equivalent to

$$\dot{L}(X) = \langle \mathbf{c} \mid (\mathcal{A} \operatorname{diag}(1 - X) \mathcal{B} + [-\mathcal{C} + \mathcal{M}]) X \rangle 
\leq \langle \mathbf{c} \mid \mathcal{A} \mathcal{B} + [-\mathcal{C} + \mathcal{M}] \rangle 
= \langle (\mathcal{A} \mathcal{B} + [-\mathcal{C} + \mathcal{M}])^t \mathbf{c} \mid X \rangle$$

$$= \langle \alpha(J) \mathbf{c} \mid X \rangle$$

$$= \alpha(J) \langle \mathbf{c} \mid X \rangle.$$
(3.1)

Since  $\alpha(J) \leq 0$  the derivative is negative.

We now consider the case when  $\mathcal{R}_0 < 1$ . Computing the derivative along the trajectories of 2.9, we have

$$\dot{L}(X) = \langle \mathbf{c} \mid (\mathcal{A}\mathcal{B} + [-\mathcal{C} + \mathcal{M}]) X \rangle = \alpha(\mathcal{A}\mathcal{B} + [-\mathcal{C} + \mathcal{M}]) \langle \mathbf{c} \mid X \rangle.$$

Since we know that  $\mathcal{R}_0 < 1$  implies  $\alpha(J) < 0$  the derivative is again negative definite. This proves the asymptotic stability of the DFE.

When  $\mathcal{R}_0 = 1$ , we have

$$\dot{L}(X) = \langle \mathbf{c} \mid \mathcal{A}\operatorname{diag}(1-X)\mathcal{B}X + [-\mathcal{C}+\mathcal{M}]X \rangle,$$
$$= \langle \mathbf{c} \mid (\mathcal{A}\mathcal{B} + [-\mathcal{C}+\mathcal{M}])X - \mathcal{A}\operatorname{diag}(X)\mathcal{B}X \rangle,$$

but we are in the case when  $\mathcal{R}_0 = 1 \implies \alpha \left( \mathcal{A} \mathcal{B} + \left[ -\mathcal{C} + \mathcal{M} \right] \right) = 0$ , therefore,

$$\dot{L}(X) = -\langle \mathbf{c} \mid \mathcal{A}\operatorname{diag}(X) \mathcal{B} X \rangle.$$

Since  $\mathbf{c} \gg 0$  for  $\dot{L}$  to be zero, then  $\mathcal{A} \operatorname{diag}(X) \mathcal{B}X$  must be equal to zero. Now we show that the largest invariant set  $\mathfrak{L} \in \mathfrak{E}$  is reduced to the origin.

This set is defined by

$$\mathfrak{E} = \{ X \in [0,1]^{3n} \mid \dot{L}(X) = 0 \}.$$

The expression diag(X)  $\mathcal{B}X = 0$  defines points equivalent to  $x_i y_i = 0$ ,  $x_i z_i = 0$  and  $y_i z_i = 0$ , i = 1, ..., n. We also recall that our system is irreducible, and so there exists at least a point in  $\mathfrak{L}$  such that  $x_i = 0$  or  $y_i = 0$  or  $z_i = 0$  i = 1, ..., n.

From the system 2.9,

If  $x_i = 0$ , then for

$$\dot{x}_i = \operatorname{diag}(\beta_1^C) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1} \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^v) \operatorname{diag}(z) + \sum_{j \neq i} m_{ij}^C x_j = 0$$

This shows that  $z_i = 0$ , and all the  $x_j = 0$  for which  $m_{ij} \neq 0$ , i.e., all  $x_j$  connected to  $x_i$  are equal to zero.

Using the irreducibility hypothesis, we can argue that all the  $x_i$  and  $x_j$  are equal to zero.

Next, if  $y_i = 0$ , then

$$\dot{y}_i = \operatorname{diag}(\beta_1^A) \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1} \operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^v) \operatorname{diag}(z) + \sum_{j \neq i} m_{ij} y_j = 0 \quad \Rightarrow \ z_i = y_j = 0$$

and all the  $y_j = 0$  for which  $m_{ij} \neq 0$ , i.e., all  $y_j$  connected to  $y_i$  are equal to zero.

And, if  $z_i = 0$ , then

$$\dot{z}_{i} = \operatorname{diag}(\beta_{2}^{C})\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{C})\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1}\operatorname{diag}(x) + \operatorname{diag}(\beta_{2}^{A}\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N}^{A})\operatorname{diag}(\bar{N})^{-1}\operatorname{diag}(y) + \sum_{j \neq i} m_{ij} z_{j} = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow x_i = y_i = z_j = 0.$$

and all the  $z_j = 0$  for which  $m_{ij}^v \neq 0$ , i.e., all  $z_j$  connected to  $z_i$  are equal to zero. The invariance

of  $\mathfrak{L}$  shows that  $x_i = 0$  and therefore for all cases of x, y and z, the set  $\mathfrak{L}$  is reduced to the origin. The global stability of the DFE is concluded from LaSalle's Invariance Principle [91]. To prove the second part of our theorem, we need the following theorem according to Hirsch [63].

Theorem 3.2. Let F be a  $C^1$  vector field in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , whose flow  $\phi$  preserves  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$  for  $t \ge 0$  and is

Theorem 3.2. Let F be a  $\mathbb{C}^+$  vector field in  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ , whose how  $\phi$  preserves  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$  for  $t \geq 0$  and is strongly monotone in  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ . Assume that the origin is an equilibrium and that all trajectories in  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$  are bounded. Suppose the matrix-valued map  $DF : \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n_+ \times \mathbb{R}^n_+$  is strictly anti monotone, in the sense that,

if 
$$x < y$$
, then  $DF(x) > DF(y)$ ,

then either all the trajectories in  $\mathbb{R}^n_+ \setminus \{0\}$  tend to the origin, or else there is a unique equilibrium  $p \in \text{Int } \mathbb{R}^n_+ \ (p \gg 0)$  and all the trajectories in  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$  tend to p.

For our case we shall consider the positively invariant unit cube  $\mathfrak{K} \in \mathbb{R}^{3n}$ . We recall the Jacobian of system 2.9, with the Jacobian

$$D(X) = -\mathcal{A}\mathcal{B}X + \mathcal{A}\operatorname{diag}(1-X)\mathcal{B} + [-\mathcal{C} + \mathcal{M}],$$

The Jacobian is clearly an irreducible metzler matrix therefore its right to conclude that the flow of system 2.9 is monotone in  $\Re$ .

The matrix valued map DX(x, y, z) is a decreasing function of (x, y, z) since  $\mathcal{B}$  is nonzero with nonegative rows. This proves that the Jacobian is strictly antimonotone. That is;

If we take any  $X_1 < X_2 \in X$  then  $D(X_1) > DX_2$  therefore the anti monotone criteria is met.

We have already proved that the DFE is unstable when  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ , then from theorem 5.3, there exists an endemic equilibrium  $E^* \gg 0$  in the interior of  $\mathfrak{K}$  and all trajectories in  $\mathbb{R}^{3n}$  tend to this equilibrium. This equilibrium satisfies the equation

,

$$\mathcal{A}\operatorname{diag}(1-E^*)\mathcal{B}E^* + \left[-\mathcal{C} + \mathcal{M}\right]E^* = 0.$$

The Jacobian at the endemic equilibrium satisfies

$$D(E^*)E^* = (-\mathcal{A}\mathcal{B}E^* + \mathcal{A}\operatorname{diag}(1-E^*)\mathcal{B} + [-\mathcal{C}+\mathcal{M}])E^* = -\mathcal{A}\mathcal{B}E^* < 0.$$

Since  $\mathcal{A}$  is a stable Metzler matrix and  $\mathcal{B}$  is nonnegative this expression implies that the matrix is stable, hence the stability modulus  $s(DX(E^*)) < 0$ , [2] (critelion  $I_{28}$  of Theorem 6.2.3). Consequently the endemic equilibrium,  $E^*$  is locally asymptotically stable. The global stability is a result of theorem 5.3, and this concludes our proof.

## 3.3 An Example in Two Patches

In this section we give a result to the case of two patches. We shall use the structure defined in Subsection 3.1.

$$\mathcal{F} = \begin{bmatrix} \beta_{1}^{C} I_{v,1} \frac{(N_{1}^{C} - I_{h,1}^{C})}{N_{1}} \\ \beta_{1}^{C} I_{v,2} \frac{(N_{2}^{C} - I_{h,2}^{C})}{N_{2}} \\ \beta_{1}^{A} I_{v,1} \frac{(N_{1}^{A} - I_{h,1}^{A})}{N_{1}} \\ \beta_{1}^{A} I_{v,2} \frac{(N_{2}^{A} - I_{h,2}^{A})}{N_{2}} \\ \frac{(N_{1}^{v} - I_{v,1})}{N_{1}} (\beta_{2}^{C} I_{h,1}^{C} + \beta_{2}^{A} I_{h,1}^{A}) \\ \frac{(N_{1}^{v} - I_{v,2})}{N_{2}} (\beta_{2}^{C} I_{h,2}^{C} + \beta_{2}^{A} I_{h,2}^{A}) \end{bmatrix}, \quad \mathcal{V} = \begin{bmatrix} (-\gamma_{1}^{C} + \mu_{1}^{C} + \nu) I_{h,1}^{C} + m_{12} I_{h,2}^{C} - m_{21} I_{h,1}^{C} \\ (-\gamma_{2}^{C} + \mu_{2}^{C} + \nu) I_{h,2}^{C} + m_{21} I_{h,1}^{C} - m_{12} I_{h,2}^{C} \\ (-\gamma_{1}^{A} + \mu_{1}^{A}) I_{h,1}^{A} + \nu I_{h,1}^{C} + m_{12} I_{h,2}^{A} - m_{21} I_{h,1}^{A} \\ (-\gamma_{2}^{A} + \mu_{2}^{A}) I_{h,2}^{A} + \nu I_{h,2}^{C} + m_{21} I_{h,1}^{A} - m_{12} I_{h,2}^{A} \\ (-\gamma_{2}^{A} + \mu_{2}^{A}) I_{h,2}^{A} + \nu I_{h,2}^{C} + m_{21} I_{h,1}^{A} - m_{12} I_{h,2}^{A} \\ (-\gamma_{2}^{v} + \mu_{2}^{A}) I_{h,2}^{A} + \nu I_{h,2}^{C} + m_{21} I_{h,1}^{V} - m_{12} I_{h,2}^{A} \\ (-\gamma_{2}^{v} + \mu_{2}^{A}) I_{h,2}^{A} + \nu I_{h,2}^{C} + m_{21} I_{h,1}^{A} - m_{12} I_{h,2}^{A} \\ (-\gamma_{2}^{v} + \mu_{2}^{A}) I_{h,2}^{A} + \nu I_{h,2}^{C} + m_{21} I_{h,1}^{V} - m_{12} I_{h,2}^{A} \\ (-\gamma_{2}^{v} + \mu_{2}^{A}) I_{h,2}^{A} + \nu I_{h,2}^{C} + m_{21} I_{h,1}^{V} - m_{12} I_{h,2}^{A} \\ (-\gamma_{2}^{v} + \mu_{2}^{A}) I_{h,2}^{A} + \nu I_{h,2}^{C} + m_{21} I_{h,1}^{V} - m_{12} I_{h,2}^{A} \\ (-\gamma_{2}^{v} + \mu_{2}^{A}) I_{h,2}^{A} + \nu I_{h,2}^{V} + m_{21} I_{h,1}^{V} - m_{12} I_{h,2}^{V} \\ (-\gamma_{2}^{v} + \mu_{2}^{V}) I_{h,2}^{V} + \nu I_{h,2}^{V} + m_{21} I_{h,1}^{V} - m_{12} I_{h,2}^{V} \\ (-\gamma_{2}^{v} + \mu_{2}^{V}) I_{h,2}^{V} + \nu I_{h,2}^{V} + m_{21} I_{h,1}^{V} - m_{12} I_{h,2}^{V} \\ (-\gamma_{2}^{v} + \mu_{2}^{V}) I_{h,2}^{V} + \nu I_{h,2}^{V} + m_{21} I_{h,2}^{V} + m_{21} I_{h,2}^{V} \\ (-\gamma_{2}^{v} + \mu_{2}^{V}) I_{h,2}^{V} + \nu I_{h,2}^{V} + m_{12} I_{h,2}^{V} + m_{12} I_{h,2}^{V} \\ (-\gamma_{2}^{v} + \mu_{2}^{V}) I_{h,2}^{V} + \nu I_{h,2}^{V} + m_{12} I_{h,2}^{V} + m_{12} I_{h,2}^{V} \\ (-\gamma_{2}^{v} + \mu_{2}^{V}) I_{h,2}^{V} + \mu_{2}^{V} + \mu_{2}^{V} + \mu_{2}^{V} + \mu_{2}^{V} + \mu_{2}^{V} + \mu_{2}^{V$$

The derivative  $F = D(\mathcal{F})$  of  $\mathcal{F}$  is given by

$$F(0,0,0) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{\beta_1^C N_1^C}{N_1} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{\beta_1^C N_2^C}{N_2} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{\beta_1^A N_1^A}{N_1} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{\beta_1^A N_2^A}{N_2} \\ \frac{\beta_2^C N_1^v}{N_1} & 0 & \frac{\beta_2^A N_1^v}{N_1} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \frac{\beta_2^C N_2^v}{N_2} & 0 & \frac{\beta_2^A N_2^v}{N_2} & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

while the derivative  $V = D(\mathcal{V})$  of  $\mathcal{V}$  at the origin is given by V(0,0,0)

	$\int -(\gamma_1^C + \mu_1^C + \nu + m_{21})$	$m_{12}$	0	0	0	0
	$m_{21}$	$-(\gamma_2^C + \mu_2^C + \nu + m_{12})$	0	0	0	0
_	ν	0	$-(\gamma_1^A + \mu_1^A + m_{21})$	0	0	0
_	0	u	0	$-(\gamma_2^A + \mu_2^A + m_{12})$	0	0
	0	0	0	0	$-(\mu_v+m_{21}^v)$	0
	0	0	0	0	0	$-(\mu_v + m_{12}^v)$

The basic reproduction number is given by  $\rho(-FV^{-1})$  From our example and at the DFE, this matrix is defined by  $FV^{-1}$  which has the values

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{\beta_1^C N_1^C}{\mu_v N_1} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{\beta_1^C N_2^C}{\mu_v N_2} \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{\beta_1^A N_1^A}{\mu_v N_1} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & \frac{\beta_1^A N_2^A}{\mu_v N_2} \\ \frac{N_1^C \bar{\gamma}_2^C}{N_1 D} (\beta_2^C + \frac{\beta_2^A}{\bar{\gamma}_1^A}) & \frac{m_{21} N_1^v}{N_1 D} (\beta_2^C + \frac{\nu \beta_2^A}{\bar{\gamma}_1^A}) & \frac{\beta_2^A N_1^v}{\bar{\gamma}_1^A N_1 D} & 0 & 0 \\ \frac{N_1^v m_{21}}{N_2 D} (\beta_2^C + \frac{\nu \beta_2^A}{\bar{\gamma}_2^A}) & \frac{N_2^v \bar{\gamma}_1^C}{N_2 D} (\beta_2^C + \frac{\beta_2^A}{\bar{\gamma}_2^A}) & 0 & \frac{\beta_2^A N_2^v}{\bar{\gamma}_2^A N_2} & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

assuming that

$$D = (\gamma_1^C + \mu_1^C + \nu + m_{21})(\gamma_2^C + \mu_2^C + \nu + m_{12}) - m_{12}m_{21}) = \bar{\gamma}_1^C \bar{\gamma}_2^C - m_{12}m_{21},$$

and

$$\bar{\gamma}_1^C = (\gamma_1^C + \mu_1^C + \nu + m_{21}), \quad \bar{\gamma}_2^C = (\gamma_2^C + \mu_2^C + \nu + m_{12})$$

and

$$\bar{\gamma}_1^A = (\gamma_1^A + \mu_1^A + \nu + m_{21}), \quad \bar{\gamma}_2^A = (\gamma_2^A + \mu_1^A + \nu + m_{12})$$

To get the basic reproduction number we need to solve  $det|\lambda I - J| = 0$  which is a  $6 \times 6$  matrix. Rewriting the matrix in the form

$$\Theta = \left[ \begin{array}{cc} 0I_4 & B \\ A & 0I_2 \end{array} \right].$$

The determinant of  $\Theta$  is given by

$$det(\Theta - \lambda I_6) = \begin{vmatrix} -\lambda I_4 & B \\ A & -\lambda I_2 \end{vmatrix} = \lambda^4 \begin{vmatrix} I_4 & -\frac{1}{\lambda}B \\ A & -\lambda I_2 \end{vmatrix},$$

$$= \lambda^4 \left| \left[ \begin{array}{cc} I_4 & 0 \\ A & I_2 \end{array} \right] \left[ \begin{array}{cc} I_4 & -\frac{1}{\lambda}B \\ 0 & -\lambda I_2 + \frac{1}{\lambda}AB \end{array} \right] \right|.$$

Using the properties of determinants we have

$$det(\Theta - \lambda I_6) = \lambda^4 det(-\lambda I_2 + \frac{1}{\lambda}AB) = \lambda^2 det(AB - \lambda^2 I_2) = 0.$$

We see after some calculation, that

$$\mathcal{R}_0^2 = \frac{a_0 + \sqrt{a_0^2 - 4a_1}}{2}$$

where

$$a_0 = (A_{11}B_{11} + A_{13}B_{31} + A_{22}B_{22} + A_{24}B_{42})$$
$$a_1 = [(A_{11}B_{11} + A_{13}B_{31})(A_{22}B_{22} + A_{24}B_{42})] - [(A_{21}B_{11} + A_{23}B_{31})(A_{12}B_{22} + A_{14}B_{42})]$$

## 3.4 Simulation

In this section we obtain two baseline values for two sites in each ecosystem namely, the U-shaped valleys and V-shaped valleys. We also describe our reasons for using these values and the references, where available. We estimate parameter values from published studies and countrywide data. For migration rates, we pick realistically feasible values from literature. Umutete and Iguhu are two patches representing the U-shaped valleys, and, Marani and Fort Tenan for the V-shaped valleys. From the study on the different ecosystems, the plateaus and the U-shaped valleys ecosystem have the characteristic, such that the results for the V-shaped valleys apply to the plateau ecosystem. Some suitable references for our values are [25, 149, 111, 47, 140].

#### 3.4.1 Parameter values

 $b_1$ : For the proportion of infectious bites on susceptible hosts we shall use the value 0.011 for the U-shaped and the and 0.08 for the V-shaped valley ecosystem .

 $b_2$ : The proportion of infectious bites on susceptible mosquitoes, is different for the two ecosystems due to acquired or partial immunity so we assume that it is five times higher in the V-shaped valleys (0.24) than the higher in the U-shaped valleys (0.048).

 $a_h^C$ : The man biting rate for the children is assume to be 0.52 in the U-shaped valleys and 0.42 in the V-shaped valleys. We have assumed that the rate is higher due to the high mosquito population in the U-shaped valleys.

 $a_h^A$  The biting rate for the adults is less than that of the children and we shall use the value 0.15 for the adults the U-shaped valleys and 0.12 in the V-shaped valleys.

 $\gamma_i^C = \gamma_i^A$ : Since the rate of recovery depends on how fast diagnosis is done and the effectiveness of treatment in patch *i* we assume here the same value for the two ecosystems at 0.33 or

30 days period of infectiousness.

 $\nu$ : The rate children become adults is not easy to determine, but since the two ecosystems have similar economic status, we shall use the value 0.00283 as used in literature.

 $\mu_1^C$ : The natural death rate for children under five death for the U-shaped valleys is estimated at 7.9% in Kenya by Unicef. This figure may include disease related deaths but the data is not elaborate. In this case we have assumed that this high rate is for the U-shaped valleys and 5.9% for the V-shaped valleys which may be suffering fewer deaths due to malaria.

 $\mu_1^A = \mu_2^A$ : The per capita death rate for adults is assumed to be the same for the two ecosystem. We use the death rate for the country (Kenya) which is estimated at 3.5%.

 $\mu_v$ : The per capita mosquito death rate is estimated at 0.033 from literature.

 $\Lambda_h$ : This is the recruitment by birth to the susceptible human compartment, we in the V-shaped valleys (0.07) is assumed to be less than the rate in the U-shaped valleys (0.13).

Data for  $N_1$ ,  $N_2$ , and  $N_v$  was not exactly available so we decided to use random values with the total population being 10000 people so that we have 5000 people on each patch ( 3500 children and 1500 adults for each ecosystem). The mosquito population likewise was estimated to be 20000 mosquitoes in the U-shaped valleys and 1500 mosquitoes in the V-shaped valleys. The summary of the parameter values described above is is given in table 3.1 below.

Parameter	U-Shaped Valleys	V-shaped Valleys	Dimension
$a^C$	0.52	0.42	$day^{-1}$
$a^A$	0.15	0.12	$day^{-1}$
$b_1$	0.011	0.08	$day^{-1}$
$b_2$	0.048	0.24	$day^{-1}$
$\mu_h^C$	0.079	0.059	$day^{-1}$
$\mu_h^A$	0.033	0.033	$day^{-1}$
$ \mu_v $	0.033	0.033	$day^{-1}$
$\nu_h^A$	0.000283	0.000283	$day^{-1}$
$m_{12}^{C}$	0.08	0.08	$day^{-1}$
$m_{21}^{\overline{C}}$	0.08	0.08	$day^{-1}$
$m_{12}^{\overline{A}}$	0.5	0.5	$day^{-1}$
$m_{21}^{\overline{A}}$	0.5	0.5	$day^{-1}$
$\gamma_1^{\overline{C}}(\gamma_1^A)$	0.0035	0.0035	$day^{-1}$
$\gamma_2^C(\gamma_2^A)$	0.0035	0.0035	$day^{-1}$
$\Lambda_h$	0.04	0.04	$day^{-1}$
$\Lambda_v$	0.13	0.07	$day^{-1}$

Table 3.1 - parameter values and ranges for system 2.3

## 3.5 Numerical simulation

In this section, we calculate the reproductive number,  $\mathcal{R}_0$  for model 2.3 for the parameter values given in table 3.1.

## 3.5.1 The U-shaped Valley Sites : Iguhu and Umutete, $\mathcal{R}_0 = 5.36$

We show a numerical simulation of the malaria model 2.3 in the figures below using the parameter values given in Table 3.1 When the age structuring is ignored the dynamics of the host



Figure 3.1 – A numerical simulation of model 2.3 using parameter values defined in Table 3.1 for the U-shaped valleys system. The age structure in the populations is clearly shown. In this case  $\mathcal{R}_0 = 5.36$ 

population in the U-shaped valleys is represented by Figure 3.2. The disease in the age structured model fades out faster than the unstructured. The steady states also settle to the endemic equilibrium faster in the age structured model. If there is no spatialization the values for the U-shaped valleys for both ecosystems has host population variation represented in Figure 3.3. The interaction between the patches raises infection rate, so that the disease persists in the total population, while it fades out fast when the patches are isolated.

## 3.5.2 The V-shaped Valley Sites : Fort Tenan and Marani, $\mathcal{R}_0 = 1.67$

When the age structuring is ignored the variation of the host population in the V-shaped valleys is represented by Figure 3.5.

## 3.5.3 Conclusion

We have presented in this paper, an analysis of an age structured metapopulation model, by extending the Ross-Maddonald model. We assumed that, for malaria, age structuring is important



Figure 3.2 – A numerical simulation of model 2.3 using parameter values defined in Table 3.1 for the U-shaped valleys ecosystem. A case where there is no age structure in the population. In this case  $\mathcal{R}_0 = 5.36$ 

as the severity of the disease, its infectivity and susceptibility is age specific. We have assumed that the two age groups migrate to neighboring patches and that their epidemiological characteristics are ecosystem dependent. We assumed that vectors do not migrate, and the migration parameters for hosts are constant, similar and independent of the compartment. The same result can be easily extended to the case where vectors migrate to explore the migration model for both populations since the villages are not very far apart.

A formular for  $\mathcal{R}_0$  is obtained, which although complex due to the infinite number of patches, can be used to explore the effects of the parameters on the model. This formula will allow theoretical exploration of the options and efficiency of targeted public health intervention policies. The example in the two ecosystems simplifies the expression for  $\mathcal{R}_0$ , which we used to do the simulation with some realistic data.

This model can be extended to increase applicability in real situations. The two populations which we assumed to be constant can be varied and some disease induced deaths be included. The acquired immunity can also be included to show the dynamics. Treatment and vaccinated classes can also be incorporated in the force of infection.



Figure 3.3 - A numerical simulation of model 2.3 using parameter values defined in Table 3.1 for the U-shaped valleys ecosystem. The is no age structure and the two ecosystems are treated as one U-shaped valley ecosystem



Figure 3.4 – A numerical simulation of model 2.3 using parameter values defined in Table 3.1 for the V-shaped valleys ecosystem with age structure. In this case  $\mathcal{R}_0 = 1.67$ 



Figure 3.5 – A numerical simulation of model 2.3 using parameter values defined in Table 3.1 for the V-shaped valleys ecosystem. The is no age structures in the populations. In this case  $\mathcal{R}_0 = 1.67$ 

## 3.5. NUMERICAL SIMULATION

The important of age structure in the dynamics of malaria can not be overemphasized as most malaria induced deaths occur in infants and the average parasitemia levels of infected individuals decreases with age. The acquired immune response also changes with age.

Adding age structure allows age specific control strategies that have greater impact in reducing disease incidence.

Metapopulation modeling on the other hand is an important feature in the dynamics of malaria. If the disease is controlled in one patch below the threshold size, there is possibility of a reintroduction from other patches, thus there is need to understand spatial heterogenity for effective and thorough control strategies. On the other hand, migration may effectively raise the level of infection. In such a case the disease will disappear in isolated patches, but will persist in the total population.

Further studies may include the probability of increased/decreased travel risk to and from the endemic region.

Our attempt towards the search for a practical solution on elimination and control of highland malaria in Western Kenya, is only but a small step in the right direction.

## CHAPITRE 4

## Dynamics of Vector-Host feeding Contact Rate with Saturation in malaria

## Contents

4.1	Introduction	50
4.2	Vector-Host Contact	52
4.3	The Model Equations	53

## 4.1 Introduction

Malaria is an infectious disease caused by a parasite of the genus, Plasmodium. It is transmitted between human hosts by female anopheles mosquitoes as they seek blood meal for their eggs development. When a mosquito bites an infected person, a small amount of blood is taken in which contains microscopic malaria parasites. When the mosquito takes its next blood meal, these parasites mix with the mosquito saliva and are injected into the person being bitten and the transmission process is perpetuated.

Malaria constitutes a big health problem especially within sub-saharan Africa and Asia. World Malaria Report 2011, estimates that it causes between 250-260 million infections and more than a million deaths (mostly among children in Africa), annually. In Kenya, reports show that despite the many control strategies to eliminate malaria, it has re-emerged and increased in incidence. The disease continues to wreck havoc on millions especially from the poor countries [129].

Vector abundance in Western Kenya is driven by temperature variation, ecosystem characteristics and human activities. The population varies depending on the site, the season and the species of the vector. Some sites in Western Kenya has 12.7 fold indoor resting densities during he long rainy season (March-June) and 23.3 fold during the dry season (January-March) [110]. This implies that the vector populations is never constant as assumed in many models. On the other hand host population changes due seasons and economic activities, natural deaths and death due to diseases like malaria and migration to urban centers and other regions for greener pastures. For our model to capture the reality of the epidemics in Western Kenya highlands, we assume that the host and mosquito populations change with time.

## CHAPITRE 4. DYNAMICS OF VECTOR-HOST FEEDING CONTACT RATE WITH 4.1. INTRODUCTION SATURATION IN MALARIA

Most malaria models assume a constant human biting rates in their models, which means that hosts are freely available whenever a mosquito wants to bite, but in practice, this is more of a simplifying assumption. Research shows that for small host population, this rate is proportional to the host population size, and for large host population, it is constant [52, 66]. The feeding cycle of a mosquito involves, host-seeking, feeding, resting, site-seeking, oviposition and host seeking resumes [83, 113]. The probability of finding a host and successfully obtaining a blood meal depends on many factors. Among them is human avoidance and defensive behaviour [39, 97].

If the mosquito survives this process, and has a successful blood meal, it rests, finds a larval habitat, oviposit and continue host seeking. Since this process drives malaria transmission, it is necessary to address the specific form of the mosquito-human contact process. Arditi [75], argues that the rates of (successful predation) contact between a predator and a prey is most properly a function of the ratios of their proportions. This would fit into malaria mosquito which inhabit homesteads and other areas where human hosts are available, like farms and urban areas [133]. It is also clear that this contact rate does not increase without bound, as the predator -prey ratio increases, this is because once a mosquito is fed, it rests before ovipositing, to resume host seeking and biting again [106].

When the predator-prey ratio value is low, the contact rate will be limited by the predators ability to find the prey, on the other hand if the ratio is high, the contact rate is limited by the predators satiation (desired predation rate) [66, 75]. For malaria, the contact rate takes a similar course where the mosquito bites will increase as a function of host-vector ratio until the ratio reaches a critical level [89].

Saturation models are also not lacking in literature. A cholera model with saturation in the incidence was proposed by Capasso [24]. They argue that when there is a real threat to infection people become cautious and take preventive measures which controls further infection. Heesterbeek [57] formulated a saturated individual contact rate in relationships such as courting and marriage, where they assume that the population mixes randomly. Zu and Ma [120] analyzed a SEIR epidemic model whose latent period is described by delay and included a saturated incidence rate. Zhang and Ma [70] studied a SEIR model with saturation in contact rates and did a thorough analysis of its global dynamics.

In 2010, ming and Li [23] formulated vector borne disease model, where they argue that increasing the density of the susceptible hosts with respect to infected ones leads to Holling type II saturation on the force of infection of host. In this model the biting rate of vectors and both populations are assumed to be constant. Further the model neglects disease related deaths a very crucial factor in malaria infection.

A model by [40] on dengue with variable human population is formulated and analyzed for both local and global dynamics. Ngwa et at [112] analyzed the stability of a malaria model, with disease deaths, recovery and variable host and vector populations. However they assumed that the biting rate of vectors is constant hence their infection term is the one described in [121]. Realising then the need to predict the dynamics and transmission of malaria with great precision, we are motivated to engage in this study, as we pay particular attention to saturation in mosquito feeding habits and the varying host and vector populations.

The rest of the paper is subdivided as follows; Section two covers vector-host contact with satu-

ration. In section three, the saturated contact process model is formulated. Section 4 is dedicated to the existence of equilibria, while section 5 studies the stability of the Disease Free and the Endemic equilibrium. Finally in section six we give some results on numerical simulation.

## 4.2 Vector-Host Contact

Vector-host contact results from the need for mosquitoes to obtain a blood meal for their eggs development. A given vector's biting rate is limited by both host population density and its own feeding frequency [87]. Therefore the per vector biting rate should increase as a function of the host ratio until the ratio reaches a critical level, which we denote  $Q_v$ , above which, biting rate saturates and the average vector can feed at its preferred rate  $b_v$  (contacts per vector per time). Below this threshold, the relative scarcity of hosts constrains the rate at which a vector can feed on the given type of hosts (it must seek other sources).

We assume that an average host can receive bites at a maximum rate  $b_h$  beyond which it successfully defends itself against the vector (including leaving the place altogether) [89]. Then this threshold density ratio is given by

$$Q_v = \frac{b_v}{b_h}.$$

We shall assume a saturated contact process as used in [86, 88] with the so-called Holling Type 1 form. Under this assumption, the per-vector contact rate can be described as a function of the host-vector density ratio  $z = \frac{N_h}{N_v}$  as

$$f(z) = b_v \min\{z/Q_v, 1\}.$$

When  $z > Q_v$  (many host per vector) the rate completely saturates at the maximum desired biting rate  $f(z) = b_v$ , while for  $z < Q_v$  (ie. few hosts per vector)  $f(z) = b_v \frac{z}{Q_v}$ , and the rate rises linearly with the host-vector ratio. The later is our interest in this study since the saturated contact process  $f(z) = b_v$  has been used in the classical Ross model for malaria [121]. Substituting  $z = \frac{N_h}{N_v}$  in the function f(z) and multiply by  $N_v$ , we obtain the total biting rate which is

$$b_v \min(N_h, \frac{N_v}{Q_v}).$$

which can be rewritten in the form

$$\min{\{b_h N_h, b_v N_v\}}.$$

We note that for the current host density the maximum number of vectors that can effectively bite hosts at one given time is  $\frac{N_v}{Q_v}$ . Therefore the parameter  $Q_v$  is an important determinant in our of model. It determines which of the two population densities is driving the biting contact rate.

To examine the rate of appearance of new malaria infections from the rate of mosquito feeding contacts, we have to take into account the probability of infection resulting from an effective contact where one party (host or vector) is infected with malaria parasite and the other is not. Let  $\pi_h$  be the probability that such a contact between an infected vector and an uninfected host results in infecting the host,  $\pi_v$  as the proportion of blood meal contacts between infected hosts and uninfected vectors which result in an infected vector. Further if  $S_h$ ,  $I_h$  are the susceptible and infectious hosts respectively and  $S_v$ ,  $I_v$  are the susceptible and infectious vectors respectively, the new infections will be given as defined in [89]. - For the Hosts

- For the Vectors

$$b_h N_h \frac{S_h}{N_h} \frac{I_v}{N_v} \cdot \pi_h = \pi_h b_h S_h \frac{I_v}{N_v}$$

$$b_h N_h \frac{S_v}{N_v} \frac{I_h}{N_h} \cdot \pi_v = \frac{\pi_v b_v}{Q_v} I_h \frac{S_v}{N_v}$$

since  $b_h = \frac{b_v}{Q_v}$ 

In many malaria models, saturation has been assumed to be constant [14, 121, 138]. Here we consider the density dependent biting rate, and the populations ratio plays a vital role in the transmission. If the vectors-host ratio is low, the bites are few and hence the probability of transmission reduces too. As the ratio increases the infection will rise as a function of the ratio until it reaches the threshold and it becomes a constant. We wish to model this change in biting rate as the vector-host ratio changes and study its effect on the basic reproduction ratio.

## 4.3 The Model Equations

The model we derive here is mathematically equivalent to the classical Ross model [121]. The saturation in contact processes will address how the infection rates depend on this ratio. We assume that mosquito has a variable population growth such that birth  $\Lambda_v > \mu_v$ . For the human population, we assume a density dependent mortality rate, such that the total population vary with time and is modified by a logistic equation that include disease induced deaths.

A description of the variables and parameters used in the model follows in tables 5.1 and 4.2 respectively.

Variable	Definition	Units
$S_h$	Susceptible Host Population Density	Hosts
$S_v$	Susceptible Vector Population Density	Vectors
$I_h$	Infectious Host Population Density	Hosts
$I_v$	Infectious Vector Population Density	Vectors
$N_h$	Total Host Population Density (constant)	Hosts
$N_v$	Total Vector Population Density (variable)	vectors/time

Table 4.1 – Variables used in the model related to infection contact process

The dynamics of our model will be governed by the following set of equations :

$$\dot{S}_{h} = \Lambda_{h} - \pi_{h} b_{h} S_{h} \frac{I_{v}}{N_{v}} + \gamma_{h} I_{h} - \mu_{h} S_{h},$$

$$\dot{I}_{h} = \pi_{h} b_{h} S_{h} \frac{I_{v}}{N_{v}} - (\mu_{h} + \gamma_{h} + \nu_{h}) I_{h},$$

$$\dot{S}_{v} = \Lambda_{v} - \frac{\pi_{v} b_{v}}{Q_{v}} I_{h} \frac{S_{v}}{N_{v}} - \mu_{v} S_{v},$$

$$\dot{I}_{v} = \frac{\pi_{v} b_{v}}{Q_{v}} I_{h} \frac{S_{v}}{N_{v}} - \mu_{v} I_{v}.$$
and
$$\dot{N}_{h} = \Lambda_{h} - \mu_{h} N_{h} - \alpha_{h} I_{h} \quad \dot{N}_{v} = \Lambda_{v} - \mu_{v} N_{v}.$$
(4.1)

Parameter	Definition	Units
$\Lambda_h, \Lambda_v$	Hosts, Vectors density dependent birth rate	host, vector/unit time
$\pi_h$	probability of host infection per contact	host/vec/time
$\pi_v$	probability of vector infection per contact	vec/host/ time
$\gamma_h$	Hosts rate of recovery	host/unit time
$Q_v$	vector-host ratio above which per-vector biting saturates	$\rm vec/host$
$b_h$	host irritability biting threshold	bites/host/time
$b_v$	preferred (max.) vector feeding rate	bites/vec/ time
$\alpha_h,$	disease dependent death rate	host/time

Table 4.2 – Parameters used in the model related to infection contact process

The term  $\Lambda_h$  in the susceptible hosts compartment corresponds to a constant recruitment of susceptible hosts by natural birth. The transmission term  $-\pi_h b_h S_h \frac{I_v}{N_v}$  corresponds to frequency dependent infection of susceptible hosts by infectious mosquitoes, on infection they move to the infectious compartment. The infected hosts who recover  $\gamma_h I_h$  become susceptible again as malaria has no permanent immunity. The last terms  $-\mu_h S_h$ ,  $-\mu_h I_h$  represents per capita deaths of the susceptible, infected hosts respectively. In the susceptible mosquito vectors,  $\Lambda_v$  represent the recruitment of susceptible mosquitoes by birth. The term  $\frac{\pi_v b_v}{Q_v} S_h \frac{I_v}{N_v}$  corresponds to the transmission of malaria to an susceptible mosquito by and infected host. Both the susceptible and infectious mosquitoes are subject to natural deaths as defined in the terms  $-\mu_v S_v$ ,  $-\mu_v I_v$  respectively. Infective period of mosquitoes ends with their death due to their relatively short life-cycle so we do not have recovery or immune term in the vector equations [16, 68].

All the parameters in the model are non negative and the model equations are well posed. For initial values  $(S_h, I_h, S_v, I_v, N_h, N_v)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^6_+$ , the solutions exist and remains in the region for all  $t \geq 0$ .

In the absence of disease the host population dynamics is given by  $\dot{N}_h = \Lambda_h - \mu_h N_h$ . In this kind of demographic structure, the total human and mosquito population size  $N_h(t)$  approaches a carrying capacity  $\frac{\Lambda_h}{\mu_h}$  for any non zero initial population size.

The mosquito population  $N_v(t)$  also approaches a carrying capacity  $\frac{\Lambda_v}{\mu_v}$ . For ease of studying the system, we let setting  $\beta_h = \pi_h b_h$ ,  $K = (\mu_h + \gamma_h + \nu_h)$  and  $\beta_v = \frac{\pi_v b_v}{Q_v}$ , and the equation now takes the form

$$\begin{split} \dot{S}_{h} &= \Lambda_{h} - \beta_{h} S_{h} \frac{I_{v}}{N_{v}} + \gamma_{h} I_{h} - \mu_{h} S_{h}, \\ \dot{I}_{h} &= \beta_{h} S_{h} \frac{I_{v}}{N_{v}} - K I_{h}, \\ \dot{S}_{v} &= \Lambda_{v} - \beta_{v} I_{h} \frac{S_{v}}{N_{v}} - \mu_{v} S_{v}, \\ \dot{I}_{v} &= \beta_{v} I_{h} \frac{S_{v}}{N_{v}} - \mu_{v} I_{v}. \\ and \\ \dot{N}_{h} &= \Lambda_{h} - \mu_{h} N_{h} - \alpha_{h} I_{h} \quad \dot{N}_{v} = \Lambda_{v} - \mu_{v} N_{v}. \end{split}$$

$$(4.2)$$

Using the relation  $S_h = N_h - I_h$ , and  $S_v = N_v - I_v$ , we will now study the system

$$\begin{cases} \dot{I}_{h} = \beta_{h} \left( N_{h} - I_{h} \right) \frac{I_{v}}{N_{v}} - K I_{h}, \\ \dot{I}_{v} = \beta_{v} I_{h} \frac{N_{v} - I_{v}}{N_{v}} - \mu_{v} I_{v}. \\ \dot{N}_{h} = \Lambda_{h} - \mu_{h} N_{h} - \nu_{h} I_{h} \\ \dot{N}_{v} = \Lambda_{v} - \mu_{v} N_{v}. \end{cases}$$
(4.3)

which is defined in feasible region (ie. where the model makes biological sense)

$$\Gamma = \{ (I_h, I_v, N_h, N_v) \in \mathbb{R}^4_+ : 0 \le I_h \le 1, \ 0 \le I_v \le 1, N_h \ge 0, N_v \ge 0 \}$$

where  $\mathbb{R}^4_+$  denotes the non-negative cone of  $\mathbb{R}^4$  including its lower dimensional faces. It is clear that  $\Gamma$  is positively invariant with respect to (4.3). We denote the boundary and the interior of  $\Gamma$  by  $\partial\Gamma$  and  $\overset{\circ}{\Gamma}$  respectively.

## CHAPITRE 5

## Stability Analysis :Saturation

# Contents 5.1 Local Stability of the DFE 5.2 Global stability of the Disease Free Equilibrium 5.3 Existence and stability of the Endemic Equilibrium (EE) 5.4 Conclusion and discussion

## 5.1 Local Stability of the DFE

In the absence of infection, the model has a constant solution,  $P_0$ , also referred to as the Disease Free equilibrium (DFE) which is defined by  $P_0 = (0, 0, \frac{\Lambda_h}{\mu_h}, \frac{\Lambda_v}{\mu_v})$ . To establish the stability of this equilibrium, the Jacobian of 4.3 is computed at the DFE. The

stability of  $P_0$  is determined by the signs of the eigenvalues of this jacobian. If the real parts of the eigenvalues are all negative, then, the equilibrium  $P_0$  is locally asymptotically stable. The Jacobian of system 4.3 is given by

$$J_P = \begin{bmatrix} -\beta_h \frac{I_v}{N_v} - K & \beta_h \frac{(N_h - I_h)}{N_v} & \beta_h \frac{I_v}{N_v} & \beta_h (N_h - I_h) \frac{I_h}{N_v} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$-\beta_v \frac{I_h}{N_v} - \mu_v & 0 & -\beta_v \frac{(N_v - I_v)}{N_v^2} I_h$$
$$-\nu_h & 0 & -\mu_h & 0$$
$$0 & 0 & -\mu_v$$

The Jacobian at the DFE is given by the matrix

$$J_{P^{\theta}} = \begin{bmatrix} -K & \beta_h \frac{\Lambda_h \mu_v}{\Lambda_v \mu_h} & 0 & 0 \\ \beta_v & -\mu_v & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\mu_h & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & -\mu_v \end{bmatrix}$$

We note that there is only one non zero element int the third and the fourth rows, and both elements are negative, we can the determine if the eigenvalues of this  $J_{P^0}$  have negative real parts by getting the eigenvalues of the block matrix

$$J_{01} = \begin{bmatrix} -K & \beta_h \frac{\Lambda_h \mu_v}{\Lambda_v \mu_h} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\beta_v & -\mu_v$$

The characteristic equation is given by

$$\lambda^2 + \lambda(K + \mu_v) + K\mu_v(1 - \tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0)$$

whose eigenvalues are purely negative if and only if  $\mathcal{R}_0 < 1$ , where

$$\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 = \mathcal{R}_0^2 = \frac{\beta_h \, \beta_v \, \Lambda_h}{\mu_h \, \Lambda_v \, K} = \frac{b_h \, \pi_h \, b_v \, \pi_v \, \Lambda_h}{\Lambda_v \, \mu_h \, Q_v \left(\gamma_h + \mu_h + \nu_h\right)}$$

hence we have established the following proposition :

Proposition 3. The DFE  $P_0$  is locally asymptotically stable if  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 \leq 1$  and unstable if  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 > 1$ .

 $\hat{\mathcal{R}}_0$  is referred to as the basic reproduction number. It is defined as the number of secondary infectious cases resulting from one infectious individual introduced into an entirely susceptible population in his entire life of infectiousness [?]. The quantity  $\hat{\mathcal{R}}_0$  is important in the study of infectious diseases as it is the threshold that determines if the disease dies out or it persists in the population. When  $\hat{\mathcal{R}}_0 \leq 1$ , then the DFE is locally stable.

Proposition 4. If  $N_v = 0$  the model has only the disease free equilibrium  $P_0: (0, 0, \frac{\Lambda_h}{\mu_h}, \frac{\Lambda_v}{\mu_v})$  as a constant solution.

Proof

If  $N_v = 0$ , then the only possible nonnegative constant solution for the system is  $P_0$ . The characteristic shows clearly that the DFE will always exist, and when  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 > 1$  an endemic equilibrium where the disease persists in the populations is established. The steady state solution for which the total vector and human populations are both zero is not realistic since there is nothing to prove. In the presence of the disease, without disease deaths both populations are equal to  $(N_h, N_v) = (\frac{\Lambda_h}{\mu_h}, \frac{\Lambda_v}{\mu_v})$ . With the progress of the disease, the total host population size will be determined by the magnitude of  $\nu_h$ , and a new equilibrium for the host will be established.

This equilibrium is given by

$$N_h^* = \frac{\Lambda_h - \nu_h I_h^*}{\mu_h}$$

Its important to note that if the disease deaths are high enough then the value of  $N_h^*$  would be negative and the equilibrium would cease to exist.

We also note that since infection is determined by the ratios of the total human and host populations, the parameter  $Q_v$ , plays an important role in the overall model and especially  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0$ .

## 5.2 Global stability of the Disease Free Equilibrium

Theorem 5.1. The disease-free equilibrium  $P_0 = (0, 0, \frac{\Lambda_h}{\mu_h}, \frac{\Lambda_v}{\mu_v})$  of ?? is globally asymptotically stable in  $\Gamma$  if  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 \leq 1$  and it is unstable if  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 > 1$ .

## Proof

Consider the Lyapunov function

$$\mathcal{L} = \beta_v I_h + K I_v$$

The derivative of  $\mathcal{L}$  along the trajectories of 4.3 is given by

$$\begin{cases} \dot{\mathcal{L}} = \beta_{v} \dot{I}_{v} + K \dot{I}_{v} \\ = \beta_{v} \left[ \beta_{h} \left( N_{h} - I_{h} \right) \frac{I_{v}}{N_{v}} - K I_{h} \right] + K \left[ \beta_{v} I_{h} \frac{\left( N_{v} - I_{v} \right)}{N_{v}} - \mu_{v} I_{v} \right] \\ = \beta_{v} \beta_{h} I_{v} - \beta_{v} \beta_{h} I_{h} \frac{I_{v}}{N_{v}} - \beta_{v} K I_{h} + K \beta_{v} I_{h} - K \beta_{v} I_{h} \frac{I_{v}}{N_{v}} - K \mu_{v} I_{v} \\ = \left[ \beta_{v} \beta_{h} - K \mu_{v} \right] I_{v} - \beta_{v} I_{h} (\beta_{h} - K) \frac{I_{v}}{N_{v}} \\ = K \mu_{v} \left[ \tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{0} - 1 \right] I_{v} - \beta_{v} I_{h} (\beta_{h} - K) \frac{I_{v}}{N_{v}} \\ \leq K \mu_{v} I_{v} [\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{0} - 1] \\ \leq 0, \quad if \ and \ only \ if \quad \tilde{\mathcal{R}}_{0} \leq 1 \end{cases}$$

$$(5.1)$$

From the Lyapunov-Lasalle theorem [54], we know that all paths in  $\Gamma$  approach the largest positively invariant subset of the set E where  $\dot{V} = 0$ . The set E is defined when  $I_h = 0$  and  $I_v = 0$ . On the boundary of  $\Gamma$  where  $I_h = I_v = 0$  we have

$$\dot{N}_h = \Lambda_h - \mu_h N_h$$

which implies

$$N_h = \frac{\Lambda_h}{\mu_h} + [N(0) - \frac{\Lambda_h}{\mu_h}] e^{-t}$$

so that as t tends to  $\infty$ ,  $N_h$  tends to  $\frac{\Lambda_h}{\mu_h}$ . Similarly as t tends to  $\infty$ ,  $N_v$  tends to  $\frac{\Lambda_v}{\mu_v}$ . Therefore all the solution paths in  $\Gamma$  approach the disease free equilibrium  $P_0$ .

This means that when  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 \leq 1$ , the infected host and vector subpopulations vanishes over time and the disease dies out [70]. In the next section we show that the disease persists when  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 > 1$ .

## 5.3 Existence and stability of the Endemic Equilibrium (EE)

Theorem 5.2. If  $\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1$ , then all the trajectories of 4.3 tend to the disease-free equilibrium, which is globally asymptotically stable on the positive orthant. If  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 > 1$ , then there exists a unique endemic equilibrium  $(I_h^*, I_v^*) \gg 0$ , and all the trajectories of the positive orthant, minus the origin, tend to this equilibrium which is GAS on the unit cube minus the origin.

#### Proof

As our model focuses on saturation in the vector feeding habits, and this saturation depends in the ratio of the densities of the two population, then we know that these densities drive the infection dynamics. From the total human population equation

$$\frac{dN_h}{dt} = \Lambda_h - \mu_h N_h - \nu I_h,$$

we get the solution

$$N_h(t) = \frac{\Lambda_h - \nu_h}{\mu_h I_h} + N_h(0) e^{-\mu_h t}$$

and similarly

$$N_v(t) = \frac{\Lambda_v}{\mu_v} + N_v(0) e^{-\mu_v t}$$

Since  $N_h(t) \to \frac{\Lambda_h}{\nu_h + \mu_h I_h}$ , as  $t \to +\infty$  and  $N_v(t) \to \frac{\Lambda_v}{\mu_v}$ , as  $t \to +\infty$  we can substitute for  $N_h$  and  $N_v$  into the first and the second equations of system 4.3 to get the following two dimensional asymptotically autonomous differential equation

$$\begin{cases} \frac{dI_h}{dt} = \frac{\beta_h \mu_v}{\Lambda_v \mu_h} [\Lambda_h - (\nu_h + \mu_h) I_h] I_v - K I_h, \\ \frac{dI_v}{dt} = \frac{\beta_v}{\Lambda_v} (\Lambda_v - \mu_v I_v) I_h - \mu_v I_v \end{cases}$$
(5.2)

Which is positively invariant in the region

$$\mathcal{K} = \{I_h, I_v \in \mathbb{R}^2_+ \; ; \; 0 \le I_h \le \frac{\Lambda_h}{\mu_v}, \; 0 \le I_h \le \frac{\Lambda_v}{\mu_v + \nu_h}\}$$

Ensuing next us an application of the theory of monotone and strongly monotone dynamical systems, that was developed by Hirsch in a series of papers. If we show that the Jacobian of system is a metzler matrix then it is a prove that the dynamical system is monotonic. We need the following theorem according to Hirsch [63],

Theorem 5.3. Let F be a  $C^1$  vector field in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , whose flow  $\phi$  preserves  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$  for  $t \ge 0$  and is strongly monotone in  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ . Assume that the origin is an equilibrium and that all trajectories in  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$  are bounded. Suppose the matrix-valued map  $DF : \mathbb{R}^n_+ \to \mathbb{R}^n_+ \times \mathbb{R}^n_+$  is strictly antimonotone, in the sense that,

if 
$$x < y$$
, then  $DF(x) > DF(y)$ ,

then either all the trajectories in  $\mathbb{R}^n_+ \setminus \{0\}$  tend to the origin, or else there is a unique equilibrium  $p \in Int \mathbb{R}^n_+ (p \gg 0)$  and all the trajectories in  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$  tend to p.
We rewrite system 5.2 in the form  $\dot{X} = A(X)X$ , where  $X = (I_h, I_v)$ , and then show that it is cooperative and strongly monotonic. The system will take the form

$$\dot{Z} = \begin{pmatrix} I_h \\ I_v \end{pmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -K & a[\Lambda_h - (\mu_h + \nu_h) I_h] \\ b[\Lambda_v - \mu_v I_v] & -\mu_v \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} I_h \\ I_v \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.3)

where  $a = \frac{\beta_v \mu_v}{\Lambda_h \mu_h}$  and  $b = \frac{\beta_v}{\mu_v}$ . The Jacobian of the system is given by

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} -K - a (\mu_h + \nu_h) I_v & a [\Lambda_h - (\mu_h + \nu_h) I_h] \\ b (\Lambda_v - \mu_v I_v) & -\mu_v - b\mu_v I_h \end{bmatrix}$$

We see that A is a metzler matrix. We need to show that it is irreducible hence strongly monotonic. To prove irreducibility of a Metzler matrix it is enough to show that the directed graph associated with J is strongly connected [2]. We name the vertices of the associated graph  $m_{12}, m_{21}$ . If  $I_h \ll \frac{\Lambda_h}{\mu_h + \nu_h}$ , then the element  $m_{12} = [\Lambda_h - (\mu_h + \nu_h)] > 0$  which means that there is a path connecting  $m_{12}$  to  $m_{21}$ . Again if  $I_h \ll \frac{\Lambda_v}{\mu_v}$ , the element  $m_{21} = b(\Lambda_v - \mu_v I_v) > 0$ . This proves strong monotonicity on the flow of the system in the positive orthant except on the faces not  $I_h \ll \frac{\Lambda_h}{\mu_h + \nu_h}$  and not  $I_h \ll \frac{\Lambda_v}{\mu_v}$ . Any trajectory with an initial point outside these faces, will leave the face.

Since our Jacobian is irreducible, the system is cooperative and therefore strongly monotonic.

Now we show that the trajectories are bounded.

When  $I_h = 0$ , we have

$$\dot{I}_h = a\Lambda_h I_v \ge 0,$$

when  $I_h = 0$ , we have

$$\dot{I}_v = a\Lambda_v I_h \ge 0,$$

when  $I_h = \frac{\Lambda_h}{(\mu_h + \nu_h)}$ , we have

$$\dot{I}_h = -\frac{K\Lambda_h}{(\mu_h + \nu_h)} < 0,$$

when  $I_v = \frac{\Lambda_v}{(\mu_v)}$ , we have

$$I_v = -\Lambda_v < 0,$$

This clearly shows that no trajectory can leave the region  $\mathcal{K}$ , hence all the trajectories are bounded.

From theorem 5.3 and the fact that  $\hat{\mathcal{R}}_0 > 1$ , we conclude that the trajectories of system 5.2 converge to an equilibrium  $\bar{P}$  as  $t \to \infty$ . We s also deduce that  $\bar{P} = (\bar{I}_h, \bar{I}_v) \gg 0$  from the fact that the system is strongly monotonic.

Lastly we recall the Jacobian of our system

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} -K - a (\mu_h + \nu_h) I_v & a [\Lambda_h - (\mu_h + \nu_h) I_h] \\ b (\Lambda_v - \mu_v I_v) & -\mu_v - b\mu_v I_h \end{bmatrix}$$

if we take  $I_{h1} < I_{h2} \in I_h$  and  $I_{v1} < I_{v2} \in I_v$  then we see clearly that  $J(I_{h1}, I_{v1}) > J(I_{h2}, I_{v2})$ . Thus our system satisfies the antimonotone criteria. Since we have already shown that the DFE  $P^0$  is unstable when  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 > 1$ , there exists therefore, an endemic equilibrium  $\bar{P} \gg 0$  in the interior of  $\mathcal{K}$  and all the trajectories in  $\mathbb{R}^2$  tend to this equilibrium. This equilibrium satisfies  $\dot{X} = A(\bar{P})\bar{P} = 0$ , that is

$$\begin{bmatrix} -K & a \left[ \Lambda_h - (\mu_h + \nu_h) \, \bar{I}_h \right] \\ -b \left[ \Lambda_v - \mu_v \, \bar{I}_v \right] & -\mu_v \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \bar{I}_h \\ \bar{I}_v \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}$$

The Jacobian above at the Endemic equilibrium is given by

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} -K - a \left(\mu_h + \nu_h\right)^{-} I_v & a \left[\Lambda_h - \left(\mu_h + \nu_h\right) \bar{I}_h\right] \\ b \left(\Lambda_v - \mu_v^{-} I_v\right) & -\mu_v - b \mu_v \bar{I}_h \end{bmatrix}$$

and  $J(\bar{P})\bar{P}$  is given by

$$\begin{bmatrix} -K & a\left[\Lambda_h - (\mu_h + \nu_h)\bar{I}_h\right] \\ -b\left[\Lambda_v - \mu_v\bar{I}_v\right] & -\mu_v \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \bar{I}_h \\ \bar{I}_v \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} -(\mu_h + \nu_h)\bar{I}_v\bar{I}_h & 0 \\ 0 & -b\mu_v\bar{I}_v\bar{I}_h \end{bmatrix}$$

But since  $A(\bar{P})\bar{P} = 0$ , we notice that

$$J(\bar{P})\bar{P} = \begin{bmatrix} -(\mu_h + \nu_h)\bar{I}_v\bar{I}_h & 0\\ 0 & -b\mu_v\bar{I}_v\bar{I}_h \end{bmatrix} < 0.$$

This implies that the stability modulus  $\alpha(J(\bar{P})) < 0$ , [2], which implies therefore that the endemic equilibrium  $\bar{P}$  is locally asymptotically stable. The uniqueness and global stability is a direct result of theorem 5.3.

## 5.4 Conclusion and discussion

In this study, we developed a vector feeding habits saturation model for the spread of malaria with disease induced deaths and varying human and host populations. We have shown that the two populations drive the entire infection process through the parameter  $Q_v$ , which plays a vital role in the basic reproduction number. Mathematical analysis was done to establish that in the absence of the disease, a disease free equilibrium will always exist if  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 \leq 1$ . In the presence of the disease, that is when  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 > 1$ , an endemic equilibrium is established with the infectious populations greater than zero.

Parameter	Value	Dimension
$\Lambda_h$	0.04	unit time
$\Lambda_v$	0.13	unit time
$\pi_h$	0.22	unit time
$\pi_v$	0.48	unit time
$\gamma_h$	0.33	unit time
$b_h$	0.21	unit time
$b_v$	0.43	unit time
$\alpha_h,$	0.0329	unit time
$\mu_h$	0.033	unit time
$\mid \mu_v$	0.033	unit time

Table 5.1 – Parameters used in the model related to infection contact process



Figure 5.1 – Variation of susceptible host and vector populations at the Disease Free equilibrium.  $Q_v = 0.3$  and  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 = 0.718 < 1$ 



Figure 5.2 – Variation of susceptible host and vector populations at the Endemic equilibrium.  $Q_v = 0.09$  and  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 = 2.495 > 1$ 



Figure 5.3 – Variation of Infected Host, Infected Vector, Total Host and Total Vector populations at the Disease Free equilibrium.  $Q_v = 0.3$  and  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 = 0.718 < 1$ 



Figure 5.4 – Variation of Infected Host, Infected Vector, Total Host and Total Vector populations at the Endemic Equilibrium.  $Q_v = 0.09$  and  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0 = 2.495 > 1$ 

Using the values in Table 5.1 we simulate system 4.1, and show the dynamics of various populations in the figures below.

We observe from Figure 5.3 and Figure 5.4 and that a decrease in  $Q_v$  increases  $\mathcal{R}_0$  and vice versa. That is when the human population is very low, mosquitoes will turn to other bloodmeal source, and malaria transmission goes down. Then  $Q_v$  controls the magnitude of malaria transmission. This implies that the best methods of controlling malaria in the highlands should target the adult mosquito, its biting habits and alternative sources of blood meals. Our results are consistent with results in literature that,  $\tilde{\mathcal{R}}_0$  is a threshold that completely determines the global dynamics of disease transmission [104]

## CHAPITRE 6

## Conclusion and Perspective

We formulated and studied two models for highland malaria transmission in Western Kenya. Some basic models in disease dynamics and epidemiology useful to this thesis have been reviewed.

Our first interest was modeling the discontious spatialization, exhibited by the different terrain ecosystems. Considering the importance of the individual's age in the malaria infection and transmission, we grouped the metapopulation in each patch as children (0-5 years) and adults (over 5 years). With a set of differential equations the dynamics of malaria transmission in children and adults in n different patches was described by a system of first order, ordinary equations.

A qualitative analysis was done for the age structured-metapopulation model by applying dynamical systems theory. A threshold  $\mathcal{R}_0$  was computed, which completely determines if the disease dies out or persists in the population. We prove that, if  $\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1$ , the disease free equilibrium is globally stable, and, if  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ , the endemic equilibrium is unique and globally asymptotically stable. An example of the model on two patches is given. We also provide some numerical study applied to four sites in Western Kenya grouped as U-shaped and V-shaped valley ecosystems. The simulation was done with data from Western Kenya where available and also from published literature. Different scenarios were analysed and model validated to highlight the importance of metapopulation and age structuring which are often neglected in many malaria models.

In the second model, we studied the dynamics of malaria transmission in the highlands, with disease induced deaths and varying vector and human populations, and saturation in the vector feeding rate. In this model the biting rate is density dependent, and the two population densities ratio plays a vital role in the transmission. We assume that if the host-vector ratio is low, the bites are few and therefore the probability of transmission reduces too. We introduce a threshold ratio  $Q_v$ , such that, as the ratio increases the biting rate, will rise as a function of the density ratio until it reaches this threshold and it becomes a constant.  $Q_v$  is an important parameter in our model as it determines which of the two population densities is driving the biting rate hence malaria transmission.

We assume that the vector and the human population vary with time since malaria causes deaths, hence can have profound effects on the population size. A qualitative study of this model has been done and a basic reproduction number calculated. As in the previous case, the existence of equilibrium solutions and their stability depends on the basic reproductive number,  $\mathcal{R}_0$  which in turn depends on  $Q_v$ . When  $\mathcal{R}_0 \leq 1$ , we proved that the disease free equilibrium is locally and globally asymptotically stable, and if  $\mathcal{R}_0 > 1$ , there exists an unique endemic equilibrium that is locally and globally asymptotically stable. The model was validated with some realistic data to show the populations and the role of  $Q_v$  on the basic reproduction number,  $\mathcal{R}_0$ .

## ANNEXE A

## Mathematical Tools

#### Contents

A.1	Preliminaries and Notation	66
A.2	Stability	67
	A.2.1 Stability : Basic definition	68
	A.2.2 Dynamical Properties	68
A.3	Monotone systems	69
	A.3.1 Monotone Dynamical System	70
	A.3.2 Triangular System	70
	A.3.3 Lyapunov Methods	72
	A.3.4 LaSalle Invariance Principle	73
A.4	Matrices	74
	A.4.1 Metzler Matrices	76
	A.4.2 Characteristics of Metzler stable matrices	79
	A.4.3 Irreducible Metzler Matrices	80
	A.4.4 Regular Splitting of a Metzler matrix	82
A.5	Calculation of Basic Reproduction Number	83

Mathematical modeling of infectious diseases is done by analysing the dynamical systems developed during model formulation. The systems may be ordinary, partial or difference differential equations, which may be linear or nonlinear. In this thesis we have dealt with nonlinear ordinary differential equations and hereby give some definitions and classical results from dynamical systems theory .

## A.1 Preliminaries and Notation

Ordered vector space  $\mathbb{R}^n$ 

We use the standard notation  $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$  to define a vector and  $x_i$  to denote the  $i^{th}$  vector component in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . The vector space  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is said to be ordered if, when  $x \ge y$  the inequality  $x_i \ge y_i$  also holds. On the positive orthant the inequality  $x \ge y$  is equivalent to  $x - y \in \mathbb{R}^n$  and in particular

 $x \ge 0 \iff$  for every index*i*,  $x_i \ge 0$ .

We write x > 0, when  $x \ge 0$  and  $x \ne 0$ , and write  $x \gg 0$ , if x is in the interior of  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$  such that

 $x \gg 0 \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \text{for every index} i, \quad x_i > 0.$ 

The same notation is used for matrices and we define a matrix  $A(n, n, \mathbb{R}^{n^2})$  as an  $n \times n$  matrix in  $\mathbb{R}^{n^2}$ . The notation  $A \ge B$  holds if for the pair of indices (i, j) we have  $a_{ij} \ge b_{ij}$  and A > Bholds if  $A \gg B$ .

For the ordered vector space  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , we define a closed interval

$$[a,b] = \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid a \le x \le b\} = [a_1,b_1] \times \dots, \times, [a_n,b_n].$$

This notation can also be used on the open interval

]] $a, b[[= \{x \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid a \ll x \ll b\} =]a_1, b_1[\times, \dots, \times]a_n, b_n[.$ 

If E and F are subsets of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , we have the classical definition

$$\mathbb{R}_{+}E = \{\lambda x \mid \lambda \in \mathbb{R}_{+} \ x \in E\}$$

and

$$E + F = \{ x + y \mid x \in E \ y \in F \}.$$

A scalar product of two vectors is denoted by  $\langle x \mid y \rangle$ . If M is a matrix and  $M^T$  its transpose, we can define the vectors on  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and the  $n \times 1$  column vectors and express the scalar product as  $\langle x \mid y \rangle = x^T y$ . We denote by  $e_i$  the canonical basis of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

Definition A.1 (Autonomous Systems). Let  $\Omega$  be a subset of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Consider the autonomous differential equation defined by :

$$\dot{x} = X(x) \qquad x \in \Omega \tag{A.1}$$

Suppose that  $X : \Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$  is continuous and satisfies the conditions as a solution of A.1, is unique and continuously depend on the initial conditions. The stationary or equilibrium points of the system A.1 are the points  $x_0 \in \Omega$  satisfying  $X(x_0) = 0$ . For each  $x \in \Omega$ , we denote by  $X_t(x)$ the solution of the system A.1 satisfying  $X_0(x) = x$ . We suppose that X satisfies the conditions that  $X_t(x)$  is continuous in (t, x).

### A.2 Stability

A system which lacks stability would be a poor model for reality as reality is always a perturbation of what we think it is. So some kind of stability is needed in modeling. Two kinds of stability are of great importance in application of differential equations : stability respecting perturbation of initial values for a fixed equation and stability respecting perturbations of the equation itself. In the first case we say the system is 'persistent' and second case 'robust'. We say that an equilibrium point is locally stable if all solutions which start near  $\bar{x}$  (meaning that the initial conditions are in the neighborhood of  $\bar{x}$ ) remain near  $\bar{x}$  for all future time.

#### A.2.1 Stability : Basic definition

Consider system A.1.

Definition A.2 (Equilibrium point). A point  $\bar{x} \in \mathbb{R}^n$  is an equilibrium point of the system A.1 if  $f(\bar{x}, t) = 0$ .

Definition A.3 (Lyapunov stability). Let  $\bar{x} \in \omega$  be an equilibrium point. System A.1 is stable (we say also Lyapunov stable) at  $\bar{x}$  or  $\bar{x}$  is a stable equilibrium position for A.1, if for each  $\epsilon > 0$ there exists a positive real number  $\delta$  such that for each x with  $|x - \bar{x}| < \delta$ , the solution X(t(x))is defined for all  $t \ge 0$  and satisfies  $|X(t(x)) - \bar{x}| < \epsilon$  for all t > 0. When A.1 is not Lyapunov stable at  $\bar{x}$ , we say that it is unstable at  $\bar{x}$ .

Definition A.4 (Attractivity). The steady state  $\bar{x}$  is said to be attractive (We say also that A.1 is attractive at  $\bar{x}$ ) if there exists a neighborhood  $U \in \Omega$  of  $\bar{x}$  in such a way that for any initial condition x belonging to U, the corresponding solution X(t(x)) of A.1 is defined for all  $t \geq 0$  and tends to  $\bar{x}$  as t tends to infinity, i.e.,  $\lim_{t\to +\infty} Xt(x) = \bar{x}$ .

Definition A.5 (Asymptotic stability). We say that  $\bar{x}$  is stable if solutions starting "close" to it at a given time, remain close to it for all future times. It is said to be asymptotically stable if nearby solutions actually converge to  $\bar{x}$  at  $t \to \infty$ . That means it is lyapunov stable and attractive.

Definition A.6 (Exponential stability). The system A.1 is exponentially stable (respectively globally exponentially stable) at  $\bar{x}$ , if there exist two positive constants K and  $\lambda$  such that  $|X(x) - \bar{x}| < \epsilon < K |x - \bar{x}| \epsilon^{-\lambda t}$  for all x in a neighborhood of  $\bar{x}$  (respectively for all  $x \in \Omega$ ) and all positive time t.

Definition A.7 (Attractor). This refers to a compact, nonempty set K which attracts some neighborhood N of itself. It is assumed that K is invariant, that is, it contains the orbits of all its equilibrium points. The neighbourhood N can always be chosen to be invariant also by simply replacing it with the union of all its points. The largest of such N, i.e. the set of all points attracted to K is called the basin of K. An attractor enjoys some kind of stability. Any trajectory starting near it may wonder away, but eventually returns to approach it asymptotically.

Definition A.8 (Global stability). We say an equilibrium point  $\bar{x}$  is globally stable if it is stable for all initial conditions  $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^n$ 

#### A.2.2 Dynamical Properties

Definition A.9 (Invariant set). Given the dynamical system  $\dot{x} = f(x)$  and a trajectory  $s(t, x_0)$  where  $x_0$  is the initial point. Let

$$\mathcal{O} \triangleq \{ x \in \mathbb{R}^n \mid \phi(x) = 0 \}$$

where  $\phi$  is a real valued function. Then the set  $\mathcal{O}$  is said to be positively invariant if  $x_0 \in \mathcal{O}$  implies that  $x(t, x_0) \in \mathcal{O}$ , for all  $t \geq 0$ . This means that once a trajectory of the system enters  $\mathcal{O}$ , it will not leave it again.

Definition A.10 (Orbit). The orbit  $\gamma^+(x_0)$  is called a positive orbit if for all  $x_0$  in the set

$$\{x(t, x_0) \mid t \ge 0\},\$$

the orbit is defined by :

$$\gamma(x_0) = \{ x(t, x_0) \mid t \in \mathbb{R} \}.$$

The set is positively invariant if  $\gamma^+(M) \subset M$ , and invariant if it contains the orbits of each of its points.

*Note* : In the study of dynamical systems, a limit set is the state a dynamical system reaches after an infinite amount of time has passed, by either going forward or backwards in time. Limit sets are important because they can be used to understand the long term behavior of a dynamical system.

Definition A.11 ( $\omega$ -Limit point). A point p is called an  $\omega$ -limit point of  $X_t(x)$  if there exists a sequence  $t_n \in \mathbb{R}$  such that

$$\lim_{n \to +\infty} t_n = +\infty \quad and \quad \lim_{n \to +\infty} x_{t_n}(x) = p$$

The set of all  $\omega$ -limit point is the  $\omega$ -limit set of x and is denoted by  $\omega(x)$ . This means that the sequence  $t_n$  tends to  $+\infty$  as n tends to infinity and the flow through x tends to p as n tend to  $+\infty$ 

Theorem A.1. If the positive orbit  $\gamma^+(x_0)$  is bounded then the set of points  $\omega$ -limit points,  $\omega(\gamma)$  is non empty, compact, connected and invariant.

Theorem A.2 (Poincare-Bendixon). Consider the equation  $\dot{x} = f(x)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^2$ . Suppose that  $\gamma^+$  is a bounded positive orbit and  $\omega(\gamma^+)$  does not contain equilibrium points. Then  $\omega(\gamma^+)$  is a periodic orbit. If  $\omega(\gamma^+) \neq \gamma^+$  this periodic orbit is called a limit cycle.

Definition A.12. For the  $C^1$  autonomous system  $\dot{x} = f(x)$  and an equilibrium point  $x_0$ , the linearised system in  $x_0$  is defined by the linear system

$$\dot{x} = Df(x_0)x,$$

where  $Df(x_0)$  is the derivative of f at  $x_0$ .

Theorem A.3 (Poincare-Lyapunov). Consider the  $C^1$  system  $\dot{x} = f(x)$  and an equilibrium point  $x_0$ .

- 1. If  $Df(x_0)$  has the real parts of all its eigenvalues negative, then  $x_0$  is asymptotically stable.
- 2. If  $Df(x_0)$  has (at least) one of its eigenvalues with a positive real part, then  $x_0$  is unstable.

## A.3 Monotone systems

Consider the system A.1 where X is  $\mathcal{C}^1$  and  $\Omega$  is an open set in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ .

- X is said to be of type K in  $\Omega$  if for each i;  $X_i(a) \leq X_i(b)$  for any two points a and b in  $\Omega$  satisfying  $a_k \leq b_k$  and  $a_i = b_i$ ,  $(i \neq k \text{ and } i, k = 1, 2, ..., n)$ ;
- We say that  $\Omega$  is p convex if  $tx + (1 t)y \in \Omega$ , for all  $t \in [0, 1]$  whenever  $x, y \in \Omega$  and  $x \leq y$ ;
- The system A.1 is said to be a cooperative system if  $\Omega$  is P convex and

$$\frac{\partial X_i(x)}{\partial x_j} \ge 0, \quad i \ne j, \ x \in \Omega$$

- We say that system A.1 is a competitive system if  $\Omega$  is P - convex and

$$\frac{\partial X_i(x)}{\partial x_j} \le 0, \quad i \ne j, \ x \in \Omega$$

#### A.3.1 Monotone Dynamical System

Consider a dynamical system with a flow  $\phi_t : x \to \phi_t(x)$ . This dynamical system is said to be monotone if it is defined on an ordered metric space with the following property;

$$t \ge 0, \ x \le y \ \Rightarrow \ \phi_t(x) \le \phi_t(y)$$

It is said to be strongly monotone if

$$t \ge 0, \ x < y \implies \phi_t(x) \ll \phi_t(y)$$

We say that the system is anti-monotone if

$$t \ge 0, x \le y \implies DX(x) > DX(y), and$$

It is strictly anti-monotone if

$$t \ge 0, \ x < y \ \Rightarrow \ DX(x) > DX(y).$$

#### A.3.2 Triangular System

A triangular system is precisely an  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m$  system of the form

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x}_1 = f_1(x_1) \\ \dot{x}_2 = f_2(x_1, x_2) \end{cases}$$
(A.2)

where  $f_1$  is a map from  $\mathbb{R}^n$  to  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and  $f_2$  from  $\mathbb{R}^n$  to  $\mathbb{R}^m$ . We suppose that the conditions for existence and uniqueness of solutions are satisfied, (eg.  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  are  $\mathcal{C}^1$ ). The trajectories of the system have the same projection on  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \{0\}$  and hence the name triangular. In fact the Jacobian of this system is a lower triangular block, and it is also said to be hierachical. We will deduce a stability result from Vidyasagar Theorem [146]. The version presented here is independent and much simpler than the general case given by Vidyasagar.

Theorem A.4 (Vidyasagar). Consider the following  $\mathcal{C}^1$  system :

$$\begin{cases} \dot{x}_1 = f_1(x_1) \\ \dot{x}_2 = f_2(x_1, x_2) \end{cases}$$
(A.3)

If the origin of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  is globally asymptotically stable (GAS) for the system  $\dot{x}_1 = f_1(x_1)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  and the origin of  $\mathbb{R}^m$  is GAS for  $\dot{x}_2 = f_x(0, x_2)$  on  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , then the origin of  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m$  is asymptotically stable. Furthermore if all the trajectories are bounded, then the origin is GAS for A.3 on  $\mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^m$ .

Proof of Stability

Let the following be a neighborhood of the the origin

$$B(0,\varepsilon) = \{(x_1, x_2) \mid ||x_2|| \le \varepsilon\}.$$

Since the equilibrium points of the isolated  $C^1$  system are GAS, we can apply the inverse Lyapunov theorem. There exists positive definite  $C^1$  functions  $V_1(x_1)$  and  $V_2(x_2)$  such that

$$\dot{V}_1 = \langle \nabla V_1(x_1) \mid f_1(x_1) \rangle \le 0, \qquad \dot{V}_2 = \langle \nabla V_2(x_2) \mid f_2(0, x_2) \rangle \le 0$$

The functions  $\dot{V}_1$  and  $\dot{V}_2$  are negative definite on  $B(0,\varepsilon)$  for  $\varepsilon$  sufficiently small since  $f_1$  and  $V_1$  are  $\mathcal{C}^1$ . Let

$$L = \max_{(x_1, x_2) \in B(0,\varepsilon)} \frac{\partial f_1}{\partial x_2} (x_1, x_2)$$

$$M = \max_{(x_1, x_2) \in B (0, \varepsilon)} \nabla V_2 (x_2)$$

Since  $V_2$  is a Lyapunov function, we can choose  $\delta_1 < \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$  sufficiently small such that

$$\max_{\|x_2\| \le \delta_1} \nabla V_2(x_2) < \min_{\frac{\varepsilon}{2} \le \|x_2\| \le \varepsilon} \nabla V_2(x_2)$$

$$\dot{V}_{2}(x_{2}) = \langle \nabla V_{2}(x_{2}) \mid f_{2}(x_{1}, x_{2}) \rangle = \langle \nabla V_{2}(x_{2}) \mid f_{2}(0, x_{2}) \rangle + \langle \nabla V_{2}(x_{2}) \mid f_{2}(x_{1}, x_{2}) - f_{2}(0, x_{2}) \rangle$$

From Taylors formular we have the following relation

$$f_2(x_1, x_2) - f(0, x_2) = \int_0^1 \frac{\partial f_2}{\partial x_1}(x_1, x_2) x_1 dt$$

and on  $B(0,\varepsilon)$  we have

$$\|f_2(x_1, x_2) - f_2(0, x_2)\| \le \|x_1\|$$

and the Cauchy Schwarz gives

$$\dot{V}_2(x_2) \le \langle \nabla V_2(x_2) | f_2(0, x_2) \rangle + L M || x_1 ||$$
(A.4)

Since the function  $\langle \nabla V_2(x_2) | f_2(0, x_2) \rangle$  is negative, we can define a function  $\varphi$  by

$$\varphi(c) = \min_{c \le \|x_2\| \le \varepsilon} -\langle \nabla V_2(x_2) \mid f_2(0, x_2) \rangle$$

This function  $\varphi$ , defined on  $\mathbb{R}$ , is continous, decreasing and tend to 0 as  $c \to 0$ . We show that  $\varphi(c) > 0$  for all c > 0.

Since the system  $\dot{x_1} = f_1(x_1)$  is asymptotically stable, we can choose  $\delta_2 \leq \delta_1$  such that for all initial conditions satisfying  $||x_1(0)|| \leq \delta_2$ , and  $t \geq 0$ , we have the inequality  $||x_1(t)|| \leq \frac{\varphi(c)}{LM}$ . Moreover if we have  $||x_1|| \leq \delta_2$  and  $||x_2|| \geq \delta_1$ , with the inequality A.4, we deduce the relation

$$\langle \nabla V_2(x_2) \mid f_2(0, x_2) \rangle + L M \|x_1\| < 0$$
 (A.5)

We define  $0 < \delta_3 < \delta_2$  so that

$$\max_{\|x_1\| \le \delta_3} V_1(x_1) < \min_{\delta_2 \le \|x_1\| \le \varepsilon} V_1(x_1)$$

Consider the open set  $\mathcal{U}$  defined by

$$\mathcal{U} = \{ (x_1, x_2) \mid ||x_1|| \le \delta_2, \quad ||x_2|| \le \delta_3 \}.$$

If  $x_1(0) \leq \delta_3$ , since  $V_1$  is decreasing, the preceding inequality implies that  $||x_1(t)|| \leq \delta_2$  (all the trajectory are inside the sphere of radius  $\delta_2$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ). For  $x_2(0) \leq \delta_3$ , we have

$$\max_{\|x_2\| \le \delta_3} V_2(x_2) \le \max \|x_2\| \le \delta_1 V_2(x_2) < \min_{\frac{\varepsilon}{2} \le \|x_2\| \le \varepsilon} V_2(x_2).$$

The trajectory  $(x_1(0), x_2(0))$  satisfy  $||x_2(t)|| \leq \delta_1$  which implies

$$V_2(x_2) \le \min_{\delta_1 \le \|x_2\| \le \varepsilon} V_2(x_2).$$

Consequently, we have  $||x_2|| \leq \delta_2$ . This leads to the inequality  $||x_2(t)|| \geq \delta_1$ , and from the inequality A.5, we have  $\dot{V}_2 \leq 0$ .

Since  $V_2$  is decreasing on the trajectories contained in the ring  $||x_1|| \leq \delta_2$ ,  $||x_2|| \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$ , we note that a trajectory cannot reach the sphere of radius  $\frac{\varepsilon}{2} \in \mathbb{R}^m$ . This shows that  $||x_1(t)|| \leq \delta_2 \leq \varepsilon$  and  $||x_2(t)|| \leq \frac{\varepsilon}{2}$ , which completes the prove of stability.

We will now show the local attractivity by the Lasalle invariance principle of Lasalle. Since the origin is stable, there exists a compact set X neighborhood U of the origin which is positively invariant. This restricts us to the invariant set U.

Consider the Lyapunov-Lasalle function  $V_1$ . By the hypothesis

$$V_1 = \langle \nabla V_1(x_1) \mid f_1(x_1) \rangle \le 0.$$

Let

$$E = \{ (x_1, x_2) \in \mathcal{U} \mid \dot{V}_1(x) = 0 \}$$

We also consider the largest invariant set E. This is evidently the set  $\{0\} \times \mathbb{R}^m \cup \mathcal{U}$ . By hypothesis the system  $\dot{x}_2 = f_2(0, x_2)$  is globally asymptotically stable in  $\{0\} \times \mathbb{R}^m$ . This implies that any negative trajectory of the system  $\mathcal{U} \setminus \{0\}$  exit  $\mathcal{U}$ . In effect if that is not the case, then there exists a trajectory  $\gamma \in \mathcal{U}$ . Then the set of  $\alpha$ -limit points of  $\gamma$  are invariant. By the asymptotic stability and invariance, this point contains the origin. This means that the trajectory starting close to the origin remain close to it. The fact that this trajectory is invariant contradicts the stability so the property stated is true. This means that the largest invariant set containing E is reduced to the origin. Which shows that  $\mathcal{U}$  is attractive.

If a trajectory is relatively compact, then the  $\omega$ -limit points are in  $\{0\} \times \mathbb{R}^m$ . In effect, for  $t_n \to \infty$ , we have  $x_1(t_n) \to 0$ . If all the trajectories are compact, then the  $\omega$ -limit points are in  $\{0\} \times \mathbb{R}^m$ . By the asymptotic stability of  $\{0\} \times \mathbb{R}^m$ , the origin is an  $\omega$ -limit. All trajectories gets as close as possible to the origin. Due to stability they are attracted to the open set  $\mathcal{U}$  defined above, otherwise they approach the origin asymptotically.

#### A.3.3 Lyapunov Methods

The Lyapunov function plays a major role in the study of dynamical systems' stability. We dedicate this section to some results due to Lyapunov. Let  $V : \Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$  be a continuus function.

Definition A.13. We have the following definitions

- 1. The function V is said to be positive definite if V(x) = 0 and V(x) > 0 in a neighborhood  $\Omega_0$  of  $x_0$  for all  $x \neq x_0$  in the neighborhood.
- 2. The function V is said to be negative definite if -V is positive definite.
- 3. The function V is said to be semi-positive if  $V(x_0) = 0$  and  $V(x) \ge 0$  in a neighborhood  $\Omega$  of  $x_0$

Theorem A.5 (Lyapunov Theorem). Let V be a function

- If a function V is positive definite and  $\dot{V}$  is negative semi-definite in  $\Omega$ , then the equilibrium point  $x_0$  is stable for the system A.1.
- If the function V is positive definite and  $\dot{V}$  is negative definite in  $\Omega$ , then the equilibrium point  $X_0$  is asymptotically stable for the system A.1

This theorem implies that to show that an equilibrium point  $x_0$  is stable, it is sufficient to a find a Lyapunov function for the point. Moreover, to use the original Lyapunov theorem to show the asymptotic stability of a given system, we must determine a function V whose derivative is positive definite and the derivative  $\dot{V}$  is negative definite. In a general case, this is not straightforward. The condition on the derivative  $\dot{V}$  can be relaxed by using the LaSalle Invariance principle introduced in the next section.

#### A.3.4 LaSalle Invariance Principle

Theorem A.6 (LaSalle Invariance Principle [91, 92]). Let  $\Omega \subset \mathbb{R}^n$  be a compact set that is positively invariant with respect to the system A.1. Let  $V : \Omega \to \mathbb{R}$  be continuously differentiable such that  $\dot{V}(x) \leq 0$  in  $\Omega$ . Let E be the set of all points in  $\Omega$  where  $\dot{V}(x) = 0$ . Let L be the largest invariant set in E. Then every solution starting in  $\Omega$  approaches L as  $t \to \infty$ 

This theorem is a very important tool for systems analysis, and is different from Lyapunov, as it does not require V to be positive definite and  $\dot{V}$  to be negative definite. However, it only provides information on the attractiveness of the considered system at the equilibrium  $x_0$ . For example, it can be used to prove that the solutions tend toward an equilibrium point when the set L is reduced to that equilibrium point. It does not indicate whether this equilibrium is stable or not. When one wants to establish asymptotic stability of an equilibrium  $x_0 \in \Omega$ , we use the following corollary which is a consequence of the LaSalle invariance principle.

Corollary A.1 (LaSalle,[92]). Consider the compact set  $\Omega \in \mathbb{R}n$  with  $x_0 \in \Omega$ . Let  $V : \mathbb{U} \to \mathbb{R}$  be a continously differentiable positive definite function such that  $\dot{V} \leq 0$  in  $\mathbb{U}$ . Let  $E = \{x \in \mathbb{U} \mid \dot{V} = 0\}$ . Assume that the largest positively invariant set contained in E is reduced to the point  $x_0$ . Then  $x_0$  is an asymptotically stable equilibrium point for the system A.1. If these conditions are satisfied for  $\mathbb{U} = \Omega$ , if in addition V is in  $\Omega$  ie.  $\lim V(x) = +\infty$  when  $d(x, \frac{\partial}{\partial x}\Omega) + ||x|| \to +\infty$ , then all trajectories are bounded for  $t \geq 0$  and  $x_0$  is a globally stable equilibrium point for the system A.1.

Corollary A.2. Under the assumptions of the previous theorem, if the set L is reduced to the point  $x_0 \in \Omega$ , then  $x_0$  is a globally stable equilibrium point for the system A.1 defined on  $\Omega$ 

## A.4 Matrices

Definition A.14 (Stability Modulus, Spectral radius). Let A be a square matrix, we denote by spec(A) all the eigenvalues of A. The stability modulus of A is the number defined by

$$\alpha(A) = \max\{Re(\lambda); \lambda \in Spec(A)\}.$$

The matrix A is said to be stable if  $\alpha(A) < 0$ . The spectral radius is the real number  $\rho(A)$  defined by

$$\rho(A) = \max_{\lambda \in Spec(A)} |\lambda|.$$

We say that a matrix A is stable if its eigenvalues have strictly negative real parts. Such a matrix is also said to be Hurwiz.

Theorem A.7. Let  $A \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{R})$ . The spectrum of A is contained in the union of disks whose centers are the diagonal coefficients  $a_{ii}$  of the matrix A and radii are the respective sums of the absolute values of the remaining coefficients in the row.

In other words for each index i,  $1 \le i \le n$ , if we set  $r_i = \sum_{j=1, j \ne i}^n |a_{ij}|$ , then

$$Spec(A) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} B(a_{ii}, r_i)$$

Lemma 1. Let  $A \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{R})$  be a square matrix. If A is a singular matrix, then there exists an index  $i_0$  such that

$$|a_{i_0 i_0}| \le \sum_{j=1, j \ne i} |a_{i_o j}|$$

In other words, the term  $a_{i_0 i_0}$  dominates the column  $i_0$ .

#### Proof

Let *n* be an arbitrary integer. Assume that *A* is a singular matrix. Then, the matrix *A* will be the linear map of  $\mathbb{R}^n$  to itself, or its corresponding matrix. Since *A* is singular,  $Ker(A) \neq \{0\}$ ; Let  $x = (x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_n)^T \in Ker(A)$ ; Let  $i_0$  be an index of the component *x* such that  $x_{i_0}$  achieves the maximum of *x* (that is to say  $|x| = \max_{1 \le i \le n} |x_i| = ||x||_{\infty}$ 

$$Ax = 0 \Rightarrow (Ax)_{i_0} = \sum_{j=1}^n a_{i_0} x_j = 0$$
  
$$\Rightarrow -a_{i_0 i_0} x_{i_0} = \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^n a_{i_0 j} x_j = 0$$
  
$$\Rightarrow |a_{i_0 i_0}| |x_{i_0}| \le \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^n |a_{i_0 j}| |x_j| = 0$$
  
$$\le \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^n |a_{i_0 j}| |x_j| = 0.$$

Since  $x_{i_0} \neq 0$ , it follows that

$$|a_{i_0 i_0}| \le \sum_{j=1, j \ne i}^n |a_{i_0 j}|$$

which ends the proof of the lemma. The following is a better consequence of the theorem and the preceding lemma;

Corollary A.3. Let  $A \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{R})$  be a square matrix. If A is a singular matrix, then there exists an index  $i_0$  such that

$$|a_{i_0i_0}| \le \sum_{j=1, j \ne i} |a_{i_{0j}}|.$$

In other words, the term  $a_{i_0i_0}$  dominates the column  $i_0$ . The proof of this corollary is identical to that of the previous lemma, however we replace the matrix A by its transpose  $A^T$  which has the same properties as the matrix A.

Proof of theorem A.7 Let  $A \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{R})$ ; then for all  $\lambda \in SpecA$ ,  $(A - \lambda I)$  is a singular matrix. The previous lemma implies that for all  $\lambda \in SpecA$ , there exists  $i_{\lambda} \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $1 \leq i_{\lambda} \leq n$  such that

$$|a_{i_{\lambda}i_{\lambda}}| \leq \sum_{j=1, j \neq i_{\lambda}}^{n} |a_{i_{\lambda}}|$$

If we set  $r_i \sum_{j=1, j \neq i_{\lambda}}^{n} |a_{i_{\lambda}}|$ ; the previous inequalities are equivalent to; for all  $\lambda \in Spec(A)$ , there exists  $i_{\lambda} \in \mathbb{N}$ ,  $1 \leq i_{\lambda} \leq n$  such that  $B(a_{i_{\lambda}}, r_{i_{\lambda}})$ . If we consider the balls  $B(a_{i_i}, r_i)$  for all i,  $1 \leq i \leq n$ , it follows that any  $\lambda \in Spec(A)$  is inside on of them. So we can say that  $\lambda \in \bigcup_{i=0}^{n} (B(a_{i_i}, r_i))$ . This completes the prove.

Corollary A.4. Let  $A = (a_{ij}) \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{R})$  be a square matrix. The spectrum of the matrix A is contained in the union of the disks whose centers are the diagonal coefficients  $a_{ii}$  diagonal of the matrix A and whose radii are are the sums of the absolute values of the off-diagonal coefficients of the corresponding columns. In other words, for all i,  $1 \leq i \leq n$ , if we set  $r_i = \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^n |a_{ij}|$ , then

$$Spec(A) \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} B(a_{ii}, r_i)$$

Proof

This is a consequence of Theorem A.7 and Corollary A.3. In effect A is strictly diagonally dominant, then for all i such that  $1 \le i \le n$ , we have  $|a_{ii}| > r_i(r_i = \sum_{j=1, j \ne i}^n |a_{ij}|)$ , for the respective columns, or  $r_i = \sum_{j=1, j \ne i}^n |a_{ij}|$  for the respective row). So none of the balls  $B(a_{ii}, n)$  contains the origin of  $\mathbb{C}$ . Therefore no eigenvalue of A can be zero.

Definition A.15. We have the following definitions

- A matrix  $A = (a_{ij}) \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{R})$  is a strictly column diagonally dominant if for all *i* such that  $1 \leq i \leq n$ , we have

$$|a_{ii}| > \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} |a_{i_{ji}}|$$

- A matrix  $A = (a_{ij}) \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{R})$  is a strictly row diagonally dominant if for all i such that  $1 \leq i \leq n$ , we have

$$|a_{ii}| > \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n} |a_{iij}|$$

 We say that a matrix is strictly column (respectively row) diagonally dominant if the above inequalities strictly hold.

Corollary A.5. If a matrix A is strictly diagonally dominant, then it is invertible.

This is an immediate consequence of A.7 (Proof by contradiction).

Definition A.16. Let  $A = (a_{ij}) \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{R})$  be a square matrix. We say that the matrix A is reducible, if there exists a permutation matrix P such that

$$P^T A P = \begin{bmatrix} A_{11} & A_{12} \\ 0 & A_{22} \end{bmatrix}$$
(A.6)

The matrix A is said to be irreducible if and only if it is not reducible.

#### A.4.1 Metzler Matrices

Definition A.17. We say that  $A = (a_{ij}) \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{R})$  is a metzler matrix if all the off-diagonal entries are positive. That is,  $a_{ij} \geq 0$  for all i and j with  $i \neq j$ .

The following theorem due to Frobenius will be very useful for studying the stability of our models.

Theorem A.8 (Perron-Frobenius Theorem, [63]). If  $A = (a_{ij}) \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{R})$  is a non negative matrix;

- Then the spectral radius  $\rho(A)$  is an eigenvalue of A and there is a corresponding vector v > 0
- If in addition the matrix A is irreducible, then  $\rho(A) > 0$  and  $v \gg 0$ ; moreover,  $\rho(A)$  has algebraic multiplicity 1 and and if u > 0 is an eigenvector of A, then there exists s > 0 such that u = sv.
- If B > A, then  $\rho(B) > \rho(A)$ .
- Finally, if  $A \gg 0$ , then  $|\lambda| < \rho(A)$  for all other eigenvalues  $\lambda$  of A.

Corollary A.6. Let  $A = (a_{ij}) \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{R})$  be a Metzler matrix.

- The stability modulus  $\alpha(A)$  is an eigenvalue of A and there exists a vector v > 0 such that  $Av = \alpha(A)v$ . Moreover  $Re(\lambda) < \alpha(A)$  for all  $\lambda \in Spec(A) \{\alpha(A)\}$ .
- If in addition A is irreducible, then
  - 1.  $\alpha(A)$  is a simple eigenvalue;
  - 2.  $v \gg 0$  and all other positive eigenvectors of A are multiples of v;
  - 3. If B satisfies B > A, then  $\alpha(B) > \alpha(A)$ ;
  - 4. If  $\alpha(A) < 0$ , then  $-A^{-1} \gg 0$ .

 $\operatorname{Proof}$ 

Let  $C \ge 0$  large enough such that  $A + CI \ge 0$ . Hence applying the Perron-Frobenius theorem defined above on A + CI implies that  $C \ge 0$ . In particular, the spectral radius  $\rho(A + CI) > 0$ . We note that Spec(A + CI) = C + Spec(A); which implies that

$$\alpha(A + CI) = \rho(A + CI) = C + \alpha(A)$$

and consequently,  $\alpha(A)$  is an eigenvalue of A. If A is irreducible, A + CI is also irreducible. The theorem of Perron-Frobenius theorem applied to A implies properties 1, 2, 3. Moreoveras  $-a^{-1} = \int_0^\infty e^{tA} dt \gg 0$ , (4) is satisfied. The following theorem is important to study the stability of equilibrium points and the construction of Lyapunov functions.

Theorem A.9 (Metzler Stable Matrices). Let  $A = (a_{ij}) \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{R})$  be a Metzler matrix, the following statements are equivalent :

- The Matrix A is Metzler stable,
- The Matrix A is invertible and  $-A^{-1} \ge 0$ ,
- If  $b \gg 0$ , then the equation Ax + b = 0 has a solution  $x \gg 0$ ,
- There exists a vector c > 0, such that  $Ac \ll 0$ ,
- There exists a vector  $c \gg 0$ , such that  $Ac \ll 0$

The proof given here is an adaptation of a similar proof given in [2]. Proof :

 $1) \Rightarrow 2)$ 

The matrix A is stable, invertible and  $\alpha(A) < 0$ ; there exists a scalar k such that for all

$$x_0 \in \mathbb{R}_n, \|e^{tA} x_0\| \le K e^{\alpha(A) t} \|x_0\|.$$

We deduce that the integral  $\int_0^\infty e^{tA} x_0 dt$  is normally convergent for all  $x_0$ , therefore the matrix  $\int_0^\infty e^{tA} dt$  is absolutely convergent In effect the function  $t \in \mathbb{R}_+ \to e^{tA} \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{R})$  is in  $L^1(0,\infty)$  and

$$B = \int_0^\infty e^{tA} dt = -A^{-1}$$

We will determine the sign of each of the coefficients of the matrix  $B = (b_{ij})$ ; For this we consider the canonical base  $(e_i)$  in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ ; we note that;

$$b_{ij} = \langle B e_j, e_i \rangle = (B e_j)_i = \langle \int_0^\infty e^{tA} dt e_j, e_i \rangle$$
$$= \int_0^\infty \langle e^{tA}, e_i \rangle dt$$
$$= \int_0^\infty (e^{tA} e_j)_i dt \ge 0$$

Hence the matrix  $-A^{-1} = B \ge 0$ .

$$2) \Rightarrow 3)$$

Let b be a vector such that  $b \gg 0$ , and  $x = -A^{-1}b$ ; then  $x \gg 0$  is a product of two positive matrices. The matrix Ax + b = 0

 $(3) \Rightarrow 4)$ 

Let  $b \gg 0$  be a vector in  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ ; Let  $c = -A^{-1}b$ ; it is clear that  $AC = -b \ll 0$ .

 $4) \Rightarrow 5)$ 

Perturbing property (4) a little, we set  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $c_1 = c + \varepsilon \sum_{i=1}^n e_i \gg 0$ .

So  $Ac_1 = Ac + \varepsilon \sum_{i=1}^n Ae_i$ . By continuity we can choose  $\varepsilon > 0$  sufficiently small such that  $Ac_1 \ll 0$ .

 $5) \Rightarrow 1)$ 

Consider the differential equation  $\dot{x} = A^T x$  in the positive orthant. We choose a function

$$V(x) = \langle c, x \rangle.$$

From the hypothesis  $c \gg 0$ , V is positive definite in  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$  and so

$$\dot{V}(x) = \langle c, A x \rangle = \langle A^T c, x \rangle.$$

 $\dot{V}(x) = 0$ , if and only if x = 0. The Lyapunov theorem proves that the matrix  $A^T$  is asymptotically stable, hence A is stable since A and  $A^T$  have the same eigenvalues. This completes the prove of the theorem.

Theorem A.10. Let  $A = (a_{ij}) \in \mathcal{M}_n(\mathbb{R})$  be a Metzler matrix.

- 1. The stability modulus  $\alpha(A)$  of A is an eigenvalue of A with an associated positive eigenvector  $v \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$  such that  $v \neq 0$  and  $Av = \alpha(A)v$ ;
- 2. If in addition the matrix A is irreducible, then  $\alpha(A)$  is a simple eigenvalue of the matrix A to which a positive eigenvector is associated. That is to say, there exists  $v \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$  such that  $v \gg 0$  and  $Av = \alpha(A)v$ .

Proof

Let  $m = \min\{\min_{1 \le i \le n} a_{ii}, 0\}$  then  $A - mI \ge 0$ . Applying the Perron-Frobenius theorem on the

matrix A - mI it follows that there exist

$$v \in \mathbb{R}^n_+; (A - mI)v = \rho(A - mI)v$$

or there exists  $v \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$  such that

$$Av = (\rho(A - mI) + m)v$$

the vector v is an eigenvector of the matrix A associated with the eigenvalue  $\rho(A - mI) + m$ .

We note that for a square matrix B we have

$$Spec(B+kI) = k + Spec(B)$$

or  $\rho(A - mI)) = \max_{\lambda \in Spec(A - mI)} Re(\lambda)$  or

$$(\rho(A - mI) + m) = \max_{\lambda \in Spec(A - mI + mI)} Re(\lambda) = \max_{\lambda \in Spec(A)} Re(\lambda) = \alpha(A).$$

So v is an eigenvector of A associated with the eigenvalue

$$\alpha(A) = \rho(A - mI) + m \in \mathbb{R}.$$

Although this proof can be found in [125], we have given the complete proof because the theorem is very crucial in this thesis.

A.4.2 Characteristics of Metzler stable matrices

Let M be a metzler matrix of the form

$$M = \left(\begin{array}{cc} A & B \\ C & D \end{array}\right)$$

M is stable if and only if A and  $D - CA^{-1}B$  are stable.

 $\operatorname{Proof}$ 

We first prove the necessary condition. Since any principal sub-matrix of a Metzler stable matrix is still a Metzler stable matrix, (see [144]), then A and D are Metzler stable. As A is Metzler stable, there exists a vector  $c = (c_1, c_2) \gg 0$ , such that  $Mc \ll 0$  (condition  $I_{28}$  of theorem 2.3 [2]). This means that

$$Ac_1 + Bc_2 \ll 0,$$
$$Cc_1 + Dc_2 \ll 0.$$

Since A is Metzler stable,  $-A^{-1} \ge 0$  and C is positive. Multiplying  $Ac_1 + Bc_2 \ll 0$  by  $-CA^{-1}$ , we obtain  $-CC_1 - CA^{-1}Bc_2 \ll 0$  and consequently  $(D - CA^{-1}B)c_2 \ll 0$ . This proves, from  $I_{28}$  that  $(D - CA^{-1}B)$  is Metzler stable. This is a necessary condition.

We now prove the sufficient condition.

Since A and  $(D - CA^{-1}B)$  are Metzler stable, there exists a vector  $c_2 \ll 0$  such that

$$(D - CA^{-1}B)c_2 \ll 0.$$

So we now have  $c_3 = -A^{-1}Bc_2$ , since A is Metzler stable, we have  $-A^{-1} \ge 0$ . AS B is positive and  $c_2 \gg 0$ , we deduce that  $c_3 \gg 0$  and the inequalities

$$Cc_3 + Dc_2 \ll 0$$
,  $Ac_3 + Bc_2 \ll 0$ .

A is Metzler stable, so there exists a vector  $v \gg 0$  such that  $Av \ll 0$  (see theorem A.9). Now we choose  $c_1 = c_3 + \varepsilon v \gg 0$ , for  $\varepsilon > 0$ . We have

$$Cc_1 + Dc_2 = Cc_3 + Dc_2 + \varepsilon Cv.$$

One can choose  $\varepsilon > 0$  sufficiently small so that  $Cc_1 + Dc_2 \ll 0$ . Now,

$$Ac_1 + Bc_2 = Ac_2 + \varepsilon Av \ll 0.$$

So we find that  $c = (c_1, c_2) \gg 0$  such that  $Mc \ll 0$ . which proves that M is Metzler stable (see theorem A.9). This proves the sufficient condition. In the following result we will show that the stability modulus is an increasing function of Metzler matrices.

Theorem A.11 (Monotonicity and Stability Modulus).

- 1. If there exist  $v \gg 0$  such that  $Av \leq \beta v$ , then  $\alpha(A) \leq \beta$ .
- 2. If in addition, A is irreducible then v > 0 and  $Av < \beta v$  leading to  $\alpha(A) < \beta$ . Infact we must have  $v \gg 0$ .
- 3. If there exists v > 0 such that  $sv \leq Av$ , then  $s \leq \alpha(A)$ .
- 4. If in addition A is irreducible, then s < Av implies  $s < \alpha(A)$

#### A.4.3 Irreducible Metzler Matrices

In this section we will characterize a dynamical property of irreducible Metzler matrices. A Metzler matrix is invariant on the positive orthant. First, we prove a result on the irreducibility. The definition of irreducibility for Metzler matrices is equivalent to following property,

Proposition 5 (Irreducible Metzler Matrices). A Metzler matrix A is irreducible if and only if, for any vector x > 0 belonging to a face F of  $\mathbb{R}^n_+$ , where F is defined by :

$$F = \{ x \ge 0 \mid \exists I \in I, \ \langle e_i \mid x \rangle = 0 \}$$

there exists and index i such that  $\langle e_i | x \rangle = 0$  and  $\langle e_i | Ax \rangle > 0$ .

#### Proof

From theorem A.12, the irreducibility of a matrix depends only on its off-diagonal terms. We can always replace A with  $A + \lambda I$  for  $\lambda$  sufficiently large. The irreducibility condition is equivalent to the proposition condition. If there exists i such that  $\langle e_i | x \rangle = 0$  and  $\langle e_i | Ax \rangle > 0$ , then this is equivalent to  $\langle e_i | x \rangle = 0$  and  $\langle e_i | (A + \lambda I)x \rangle > 0$ . Without loss of generality we will therefore assume that  $A \ge 0$ .

The sufficient condition.

As a consequence, we suppose that for all *i* such that  $\langle e_i | x \rangle = 0$ , we have  $\langle e_i | Ax \rangle > 0$ . Let  $F_x = \mathbb{R}^+[0, x]$  be the face generated by *x*. Since  $A \ge 0$ , we have  $AF_x = \mathbb{R}^+[0, Ax]$ . The face  $F_x$  is characterized by the set of indices *I*. Now we have  $F_x = \{x \ge 0 | \langle e_i | x \rangle = 0\}$ . For these indices we have  $\langle e_i | x \rangle = 0$ . As a result  $AF_x \subset F_x$  and the matrix *A* is not irreducible.

The necessary condition.

If A is reducible, there there exists a face denoted by  $F_x$ , such that,  $AF_x \subset F_x$ . For any index such that  $\langle e_i | x \rangle = 0$  we have  $\langle e_i | Ax \rangle = 0$ .

Definition A.18. A directed graph  $\mathcal{G} = (X, U)$  is a pair consisting of a set  $X = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$  and a set U of  $X \times X$ . The elements of X are called nodes or vertices of the graph. An element  $(x, y) \in U$  is called an arc, x is the origin and y is the endpoint. A directed graph (resp. undirected) is a set of vertices with directed arcs (resp. undirected) linking the vertices.

Definition A.19. A path is a sequence of arcs  $(u_1, \ldots, u_p)$  such that each arc  $u_i$  has the endpoint which is the origin of  $u_{i+1}$ . It is said that the path joins the origin  $u_1$  with the end  $u_p$ . A graph is strongly connected if every pair of distinct vertices is joined by a path.

Any square matrix is associated with a directed graph.

Definition A.20. Consider a square matrix  $A = (a_{ij})$ . Consider also the graph with n vertices given by set  $X = \{x_1, \ldots, x_n\}$ . There is a path joining a vertex i to vertex j if  $a_{ji} \neq 0$ . Conversely, to a directed graph we associate a square matrix  $n \times n$ , where  $a_{ij} = 1$  if there is an arc that connects i and j and  $a_{ij} = 0$ , otherwise.

We can charaterize an irreducible matrix elegantly by the properties of the associated directed graph.

Theorem A.12. A matrix A is irreducible if and only if its graph  $\mathcal{G}(A)$  is strongly connected.

Proof : The necessary condition.

Suppose the matrix A is irreducible. Let i be a vertex, we define I as the set of vertices different from i that can be reached from i. In the set I for all vertices  $j \neq i$  there exists an arc joining j to i. The set I is non empty. In effect, if we consider the set, J, Indeed, and if we consider the set J, the complementary of the singleton  $\{i\}$ , as A is irreducible there exists  $k \notin J$  and  $j \in J$ such that  $a_{jk} \neq 0$ . But given the definition of J, this means that there exists  $j \neq i$  such that  $a_{ji} \neq 0$ . In other words there is an arc from i to j.

Suppose by contradiction that  $I \neq \{1, ..., n\}$ . By irreducibility of A, there exists  $j \in I$  and  $k \notin I$  such that  $a_{kj} \neq 0$ . That is there is an arc from i to k. But as  $j \in I$ , it is accessible from i, so k is accessible from i. This is a contradiction.

Sufficient condition.

Assume by contradiction that the graph is strongly connected and the associated matrix A is reducible. Then there exists a subset of indices I, such that if J is its complement, then  $a_{ji} = 0$  for all  $i \in I$  and  $j \in J$ . We choose an index  $i \in I$  and an index  $j \in J$ . This is always possible since I is a proper subset. Then there exists an arc joining i to j. Let there the set of indices  $\{k_1, \ldots, k_p\}$  be such that the following coefficients are non-zero

$$a_{j,k_1}; a_{k_1,k_2}, \ldots, a_{k_p,i}.$$

From the assumptions on i and j, it follows that  $a_{k_p,i} \neq 0$ ,  $k_p \notin J$  or  $k_p \in J$ . But if  $k_p \in I$  the same reasoning applied on  $a_{k_p,k_p}$  prove that  $k_{p-1} \in I$ . reasoning by induction shows that  $j \in I$  which is a contradiction.

Proposition 6. A is an irreducible Metzler matrix then each trajectory of the system  $\dot{x} = Ax$  are and will remain on one face. Precisely, A is an irreducible matrix, if and only if for any t > 0, we have  $e^{tA} \gg 0$ 

 $\operatorname{Proof}$ 

We assume that it is not true. Then there exists a t > 0 such that  $e^{tA} \in \partial \mathcal{R}^{n^2}_+$ . But for all s such that  $0 \leq s \leq t$  we have  $e^{(t-s)A}e^{tA}$ . The matrix  $e^{(t-s)A}$  is positive because (A is Metzler) and it is invertible. consequently if  $e^{sA} \gg 0$  this implies  $e^{tA} \gg 0$ . We now show that  $e^{sA}$  is not strongly positive for all  $o \leq s \leq t$ . There exists x > 0 belonging to the boundary of the orthant, such that  $e^{tA}x$  belongs to the boundary of the orthant. From the previous proposition, there is an index i such that  $\langle e_i \mid e^{tA}x \rangle = 0$  and  $\langle e_i \mid Ae^{tA}x \rangle > 0$ .

The function  $\varphi(s) = \langle e_i | e^{tA}x \rangle$  is positive for all s. It vanishes at t = s. This is a minimum, thus the derivative vanishes at t. Now

$$\dot{\varphi}(t) = \langle e_i \mid e^{tA} x \rangle > 0.$$

This is a contradiction. Conversely, if A is reducible, then A can be expressed as :

$$P^T A P = \left[ \begin{array}{cc} A_1 & A_2 \\ 0 & A_4 \end{array} \right],$$

or as

$$P^T e^{tA} P = \begin{bmatrix} e^{tA_1} & M(t) \\ 0 & e^{tA_4} \end{bmatrix}$$

The matrix  $e^{tA}$  is reducible and positive, and there exists a vector x > 0 on the boundary such that  $e^{tA}x$  is on the boundary of the orthant. This means that we cannot verify that  $e^{tA} \gg 0$ .

A.4.4 Regular Splitting of a Metzler matrix

We present and prove a result of Varga [144], which is applied in the formula for calculating the basic reproduction number,  $\mathcal{R}_0$ .

Definition A.21. Let a Metzler matrix A be invertible. A regular decomposition is a decomposition of the form

A = F + V

where  $F \ge 0$  and V is a Metzler stable matrix.

The following theorem is proved in [144], but given its importance int this thesis, we also present the proof here.

Theorem A.13. Let A be an invertible Metzler matrix. For a regular decomposition of A of the form A = F + V, the following two assertions are equivalent.

- 1. A is a stable matrix
- 2.  $\rho(-FV^{-1}) < 1$

Proof

Suppose A is a Metzler matrix, then from theorem A.9, we have  $-A^{-1} \ge 0$ . The matrix V = A - F and A are invertible so we can write

$$-FV^{-1} = -F(A - F)^{-1} = -FA^{-1}(I - FA^{-1})^{-1}$$

We let  $G = -FV^{-1}$  be a positive matrix. To get the spectral radius using the Perron-Frobenius theorem, it is sufficient to restrict ourselves to the positive eigenvectors. So let v > 0 be an eigenvector of G corresponding to an eigenvalue  $\lambda \ge 0$ , so that  $Gv = \lambda v$ . Now,

$$-FV^{-1}v = G(I-G)^{-1}v = \frac{\lambda}{1-\lambda}v$$

The matrix  $-FV^{-1}$  is positive. Conversely, let  $\mu \ge 0$  be an eigenvalue corresponding to an eigenvector v > 0. Then  $G(I - G)^{-1}v = \mu v$ . The matrix G and  $(I - G)^{-1}$  commute, and we deduce that  $Gv = \mu(I + G)v$ . This necessarily implies that  $\mu \ne 1$  and v is an eigenvector of G corresponding to the eigenvalue  $\frac{\mu}{1+\mu}$ .

The function defined by  $x \to \frac{x}{1+x}$  in  $[0,1] \in \mathbb{R}^+$  is a bijection between the eigenvalues of  $G = -FA^{-1}$  and those of  $-FV^{-1}$ . This is a monotonic function. Consequently we have

$$\rho(-FV^{-1}) = \frac{\rho(G)}{1+\rho(G)} < 1.$$

Conversely, assume  $\rho(-FV^{-1}) < 1$ . Then the matrix  $I - FV^{-1}$  is invertible and in addition a Metzler matrix. Since  $\rho(-FV^{-1})$ , we have  $\alpha(-I - FV^{-1}) < 1$ . This is a Metzler stable matrix. Its inverse if positive and therefore

$$-A^{-1} = (-I - FV^{-1})^{-1}V^{-1} \ge 0.$$

We see from theorem A.9 that A is a Metzler stable matrix, and this completes the proof.

### A.5 Calculation of Basic Reproduction Number

To calculate basic reproduction number we demonstrate here the method developed by van den Driessche and Watmough [141]. In the formular,  $\mathcal{R}_0$  is defined as the spectral radius of Next Generation Operator. The determination of the operation involves the distribution into two compartments, the compartment of infected (latent, infectious ...) and the compartment of uninfected individuals.

This technique was developed first by Diekmann and Heesterbeek in [32] and later developed by van den Driessche and Watmough in [141] for finite dimensional systems.

Consider an epidemiological model with no classes or with homogeneous compartments. The vector x represents the state of the system and  $x_j$  is the number (or concentration) of individuals in compartment j. The compartments are sorted in such a way that the first k compartments are free of infection (susceptibles) while the others are the infected compartments (latents, infected.).

Set the vector  $x = x_j$ , j = 1, ..., n where  $x_j$  is the number of individuals in compartment j.

Let  $\mathcal{F}_j(x)$  be the rate of appearance of new infections in compartment i,  $\mathcal{V}_i^+(x)$  be the rate of transfer of individuals into compartment i by all other means, and  $\mathcal{V}_j^-(x)$ , the rate of transfer of individuals out of compartment j. The dynamics of the compartment is defined by

$$\dot{x}_j = \mathcal{F}_j(x) + \mathcal{V}_j^+(x) - \mathcal{V}_j^-(x)$$

It is assumed that each function is continuously differentiable at least twice in each variable. If we put  $\mathcal{V}_j(x) = \mathcal{V}_j(x)^+ - \mathcal{V}_j(x)^-$  the previous system becomes

$$\dot{x}_i = \mathcal{F}_i(x) + \mathcal{V}_i(x).$$

If  $x_0$  is the disease free state of the system, and the infected compartments are empty. This equilibrium is called the Disease Free Equilibrium, ie j > k,  $(x_0)_j = 0$ . For biological reasons we have the following hypothesis :

- 1.  $x \ge 0$ ,  $\mathcal{F}_j(x) \ge 0$ ,  $\mathcal{V}_j^+(x) \ge 0$ ,  $\mathcal{V}_j^-(x) \ge 0$ . Since each function represents a directed transfer of individuals, they are all non-negative. If a compartment is empty, then there can be no transfer of individuals out of the compartment by death, infection, nor any other means. Therefore,
- 2. If  $x_i = 0$  then  $\mathcal{V}_j^-(x) = 0$ . In particular, we if set  $X_s = \{x \ge 0; x_j = 0, i = 1, \dots, n\}$  and if  $x \in X_s$ , then  $\mathcal{V}_j^-(x) = 0$ . In other words, there can be no transfer from an empty compartment.
- 3. If  $j \leq k$  then  $\mathcal{F}_j(x) = 0$ . That is, there is no immigration of infectives from the uninfected compartment.

4. If  $x_0$  is the disease free state then  $\mathcal{F}_j(x_0) = 0$  and for  $j \ge k$ ,  $\mathcal{V}_j^+(x_0) = 0$ . If the population remains near the DFE ie. if the there is no disease, then introduction of a few infected individual will not result in an epidemic.

We now estimate the average number of new infections resulting from introduction of a typical individual near the DFE. To determine the fate of a typical infective individual introduced into the population, we consider the dynamics of the linearized system with reinfection blocked. That is the system

$$\dot{x} = D\mathcal{V}(x_0)(x - x_0) = D\mathcal{V}^+(x_0)(x - x_0) - D\mathcal{V}^-(x_0)(x - x_0).$$

The following result is the precise structure of the linearised system  $DX(x_0)$  near the disease free equilibrium  $x_0$ .

Lemma 2. If  $x_0$  is a DFE, then the matrices  $D\mathcal{F}(x_0)$  and  $D\mathcal{V}(x_0)$  are decomposed in blocks

$$D\mathcal{F}(x_0) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0\\ 0 & F \end{bmatrix}, \quad D\mathcal{V}(x_0) = \begin{bmatrix} J_1 & J_2\\ 0 & V \end{bmatrix}$$

 $F \ge 0$  and V is a Metzler stable matrix.

The matrix  $_FV^{-1}$  is called the Second Generation Matrix. A complete prove of this theorem is done in [141].

Definition A.22 (Basic Reproduction Number,  $\mathcal{R}_0$ ). The basic reproduction number,  $\mathcal{R}_0$  is the spectral radius of the second generation matrix, namely

$$\mathcal{R}_0 = \rho(-FV^{-1})$$

The following interpretation is given for the matrix  $-FV^{-1}$ :

Consider an infected individual introduced into compartment k > m to a population without disease. The entry (i, k) of the matrix  $-V^{-1}$  is the average length of time this individual spends in compartment j during its lifetime, assuming that the population remains near the DFE and re-infection is blocked. The (i, j) entry of F is the rate at which infected individuals in compartment j produce new infections in compartment i. Hence, the (i, k) entry of the product  $FV^{-1}$  is the expected number of new infections in compartment i produced by the infected individual originally introduced into compartment k. The spectral radius of the matrix  $-FV^{-1}$ is the basic reproduction number. That is

$$\mathcal{R}_0 = \rho(-FV^{-1})$$

# ANNEXE B

## Biology of mosquito and malaria parasite

Contents		
	B.0.1	The parasites life cycle
	B.0.2	Mosquitoes Life cycle

In this appendix, we describe the history and biology of malaria and the malaria transmitting mosquito. The word, malaria, is derived from the Italian phrase, 'mal-aria', meaning bad air. Malaria infection is caused by a protozoan parasite of the genus Plasmodium four species of which infect human beings, the most common being Plasmodium vivax and most deadly being Plasmodium falciparum. The Anopheles mosquito serves as Plasmodium 's delivery system, or vector. Only female mosquitoes can transmit it since males don't take blood meals.

## B.0.1 The parasites life cycle.

The malaria parasite exhibits a complex life cycle involving the mosquito and a human host. Infection begins when the female Anophele mosquito bites an infected human and injects saliva with sporozoites into the human blood stream. Sporozoites are carried by the circulatory system to the liver and invade a variety of liver cells. The sporoziotes replicate to produce merozoites which are released into the bloodstream. Merozoites invade erythrocytes and enlarge to produce trophozoites. The trophozoites subdivide and mature to become schizonts, which are released following a rupture of the infected erythrocyte. Invasion of erythrocytes reinitiates another round of the blood-stage replicative cycle, usually referred to as the assexual cycle.

Sometimes, instead of the asexual replicative cycle, the parasite can differentiate into sexual forms known as macro- or microgametocytes. Ingestion of gametocytes by the mosquito vector induces gametogenesis (i.e., the production of gametes). Microgametes then fertilize the macro-gamete to produce a zygote which develops into a motile ookinete. The ookinet will penetrates the gut wall cells and develops into an oocyst. The oocyst mature and releases the sporozoites which migrate to and invade the salivary glands. This completes the life cycle of the parasite cycle. The incubation period (time from infection to development of the disease) is usually about 10 to 15 days.

## B.0.2 Mosquitoes Life cycle

The Anopheles has four stages in their life cycle : egg, larva, pupa, and adult. The first three stages last 5-14 days depending on the species and the ambient temperature. The adult females lives for about 1-2 weeks in nature.

Eggs : An anopheles mosquito lays between 50-200 eggs per oviposition directly on water. The eggs have floats on either side to help them float till they hatch within 2-3 days, in ambient temperature.

Larvae : Mosquito larvae have a well-developed head with mouth brushes used for feeding, a large thorax, and a segmented abdomen. They breathe through spiracles located on the abdomen and therefore must come to the surface frequently. Larvae spend most of their time feeding on algae, bacteria, and other microorganisms in the surface microlayer. They dive below the surface only when disturbed. They develop through 4 stages, or instars, after which they meta-morphose into pupae. At the end of each instar, the larvae molt, shedding their exoskeleton, or skin, to allow for further growth. The larvae prefer clean, unpolluted water and many species prefer habitats with vegetation. Some breed in open, sun-lit pools while others are found only in shaded breeding sites in forests.

Pupae : The pupa is comma-shaped when viewed from the side. The head and thorax are merged into a cephalothorax with the abdomen curving around underneath. They usually come to the surface frequently to breathe, through a pair of respiratory trumpets on the thorax. After a few days the pupa, splits and the adult mosquito emerges. The duration from egg to adult varies considerably among species and is strongly influenced by ambient temperature. Mosquitoes can develop from egg to adult in as little as 5 days but usually take 10-14 days in tropical conditions.

Adults : Anopheles mosquitoes can be distinguished from other mosquitoes by the palps, which are as long as the proboscis, and by the presence of discrete blocks of black and white scales on the wings. Adult Anopheles can also be identified by their typical resting position : males and females rest with their abdomens sticking up in the air rather than parallel to the surface on which they are resting. Mosquitoes can develop from egg to adult in as little as 5 days but usually take 10-14 days in tropical conditions.

Some Anopheles mosquitoes prefer to bite humans and others prefer animals, usually referred to as anthropophilic and zoophilic respectively. The anthrophilic are more likely to spread malaria because they bite humans more often. Most Anopheles are active at dusk and dawn (crepuscular) while others are nocturnal (active mostly at night). Some anophelines prefer to feed/rest indoors (endophagic / endophilic), while others feed/rest outdoors (exophagic / exophilic). When feeding, the female mosquito first injects some saliva into the host to prevent clotting, allowing the malaria parasite to enter the human host.

Some Anopheles species are poor vectors of malaria, because the parasites do not develop well (or at all) within them. These refractory strains have an immune response that encapsulates and kills the parasites after they have invaded the mosquito's stomach wall. It is hoped that some day, genetically modified mosquitoes that are refractory to malaria can replace wild mosquitoes, thereby limiting or eliminating malaria transmission. Once larvae emerge to become adults, the rate at which they feed on man is dependent upon the ambient temperature.

At  $17^{0}C$  the female mosquitoes feed on humans every 4 days while at  $25^{0}C$  they take blood meals from humans every 2 days. Rainfall increases the breeding habitats for mosquitoes leading to increased population sizes and the rate of malaria transmission. The rate of the parasite development in the female mosquito has an exponential relationship to temperature. Thus a very small increase in external temperature will reduce the time it takes for the parasite to mature several fold. In Western Kenya a  $0.5^{0}C$  increase in temperature since the 1970's can explain the eight-fold increase in malaria cases (http://www.ipsnews.net/news).

## Bibliographie

- [1] 2012.
- [2] R. P. A. Berman, Nonnegative Matrices in the Mathematical Sciences, Academic Press, 1979.
- [3] A. B. A. Vespagnani V. Colizza, Modeling the world-wide spread of pandemic influenza, PLoS Med., 4 (2007), p. 95.
- [4] R. P.-S. A. Vespagnani V. Colizza, Reaction-diffusion processes and metapopulation models in heterogeneous networks, Nat. Phys., 3 (2007), p. 276.
- [5] Y. Afrane, B. Lawson, A. Githeko, and G. Yan, Effects of microclimatic changes due to land use and land cover on the duration of gonotrophic cycles of anopheles gambiae giles (diptera : Culicidae) in western kenya highlands., J Med Ento- mol, 42 (1998).
- [6] —, Effects of microclimatic changes caused by land use and land cover on duration of gonotrophic cycles of anopheles gambiae (diptera : Culicidae) in western kenya highlands., J Med Entomol, 42 (2005).
- [7] H. Alles, K. Mendis, and R.Carter, Malaria mortality rates in south asia and in africa : implications for malaria control, Parasitology Today, 14 (1998).
- [8] R. Anderson and R.M.May, Infectious Diseases of Human Dynamics and Control., Oxford Science Publications, 1991.
- [9] J. Angulo, C. Takiguti, C. Pederneiras, and P. Megale, Identification of pattern and process in the spread of a contagious disease, Soc. Sci. Med, 13D (1979), p. 183.
- [10] J. Arino, J. Davis, D. Hartley, R. Jordan, J. Miller, and P. van den Driessche, A multispecies epidemic model with spatial dynamics, Math. Med. Biol., 22 (2005), p. 129.
- [11] J. Arino, R. Jordan, and P. van den Driessche, Quarantine in a multi-species epidemic model with spatial dynamics, Mathematical Biosciences, 206 (2007).
- [12] J. Arino and P. van den Driessche, A multi-city epidemic model, Math. Pop. Stud., 10 (2003).
- [13] J. Arudo, J. E. Gimnig, F. O. ter Kuile, S. P. Kachur, L. Slutsker, M. S. Kolczak, W. A. Hawley, A. S. S. Orago, B. L. Nahlen, and P. A. Phillips-Howard, Comparison of government statistics and demographic surveillance to monitor mortality in children less than five years old in rural western kenya., American Journal of Tropical Medicince and Hygiene., 68 (2003), pp. 30–37.

- [14] P. Auger, E. Kouokam, G. Sallet, M. Tchuente, and B. Tsanou, The ross-macdonald mode in a patchy environment, Mathematical Biosciences, 216 (2008), pp. 123–131.
- [15] N. Bailey, The Biomathematics of Malaria., Springer, 2010.
- [16] N. J. T. Bailey, The mathematical theory of infectious diseases and its application, Macmillan Publishers, 1975.
- [17] M. Balls, R. Bodker, C. Thomas, W. Kisinza, and H. M. andSW Lindsay, Effect of topography on the risk of malaria infection in the usambara mountains, tanzania., Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 98 (2004).
- [18] M. Bayoh and S. Lindsay, Effect of temperature on the development of the aquatic stages of anopheles gambiae sensu stricto (diptera : Culicidae)., Bull Entomol Res 2003, 93(5) :375-381., 93(5) (2003), pp. 375–381.
- [19] N. Becker, The use of epidemic model., Biometrics, 35 (1978).
- [20] B.M.Bloom, Tuberculosis : Pathogenis, protection and control., ASM Press, 1994.
- [21] T. Bousema and C. Drakeley, Epidemiology and infectivity of plasmodium falciparum and plasmodium vivax gametocytes in relation to malaria control and elimination., Clin. Microbiol., 24(2) (2011), p. 77.
- [22] G. Butler and P. Waltman, Persistence in dynamical systems., Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 96 (1986).
- [23] L. M. Cai and X. Z. Li, Global analysis of a vector-host epidemic model with nonlinear incidences, Applied Mathematics and Computation, 217 (2010).
- [24] V. Capasso and G. Serio, A generalisation of the kermack-mckendrick deterministic epidemic model, Math. Biosci, 42 (1978).
- [25] N. Chitnis, J. M. Hyman, and J. M. Cushing, Determining important parameters in the spread of malaria through the sensitivity analysis of a mathematical model., Bull. Math. Biology, 70 (2008), pp. 1272–1296.
- [26] N. R. Chitnis, Using Mathematical models in controlling the spread of malaria, PhD thesis, University of Arizona, 2005.
- [27] A. V. V. Colizza, Epidemic modelling in metapopulation systems with heterogeneous pattern : theory and simulations, J. Theor. Biol, 251 (2008), p. 450.
- [28] S. Connor, M. Qinones, M. Thomson, M. Jawara, J. Todd, and B. Greenwood, Movement of anopheles gambiae s.l. vectors between villages, Soc. Sci Med, 43 (1996).
- [29] C. Cosner and al., The effects of human movement on the persistence of vector- borne diseases., J. Theor. Bioll, 258 (2009).
- [30] F. Coutinho, M. Burattinia, L. Lopeza, and E. Massad, Threshold conditions for a nonautonomous epidemic system describing the population dynamics of dengue, Bulletin of Mathematical Biology, 68 (2006).
- [31] B. Daniel, Essai d'une nouvelle analyse de la mortalite causee par la petite verole et des avantages de l'inoculation pour la prevenir., Mem. Math. Phys. Acad. Roy. Sci., (1760), pp. 1–45.
- [32] O. Diekmann and J. Heesterbeek, Mathematical epidemiology of infectious diseases in Mathematical and Computational Biology, Wiley Series, 2000.
- [33] O. Diekmann, J. A. P. Heesterbeek, and J. A. J. Metz, On the definition and the computation of the basic reproduction ratio  $R_0$  in models for infectious diseases in heterogeneous populations, J. Math. Biol., 28 (1990), pp. 365–382.

- [34] K. Dietz, Epidemics and rumours : A survey., J. Roy. Statist. Soc. Ser. A, 130 (1967).
- [35] K. Dietz, L. Molineaux, and A. Thomas, A malaria model tested in the african savannah, Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 50 (1974).
- [36] K. Dietz and D. Schenzle, Mathematical models for infectious disease statistics, in A Celebration of Statistics., Springer-Verlag, 1985.
- [37] C. Drakeley, J. Bousema, N. Akim, K. Teelen, W. Roeffen, A. Lensen, M. Bolmer, W. Eling, and R. Sauerwei, Transmission-reducing immunity is inversely related to age in plasmodium falciparum gametocyte carriers., Parasite immunology, 28(5) (2006).
- [38] A. Ducrot, B. Some, S. Sirima, and P. Zong, A mathematical model for malaria involving differential susceptibility, exposedness and infectivity of human host, Journal of Biological Dynamics, (2008).
- [39] D.W.Kelly and C. E. Thompson, Epidemiology and optimal foraging : modelling the ideal free distribution of insect vectors., Parasitology, 120 (2000), pp. 319–327.
- [40] L. Esteva and C. Vargas, A model for dengue disease with variable human population, J. Math. Biol, 38 (1999).
- [41] A. Fall, A. Iggdr, G. Sallet, and J. Tewa, Epidemiological models and lyapunov exponents, Math.Model.Nat.Phenom., 2 (2007), pp. 62–83.
- [42] M. Fiedler, Special Matrices and their Applications in Numerical Mathematics, Martinus Nijhoff Publishers, 1986.
- [43] G. R. Fulford, M. G. Roberts, and J. A. P. Heesterbeek, The metapopulation dynamics of an infectious disease : tuberculosis in possums, Theor Popul Biol, 61 (2002).
- [44] P. Garnham, Malaria epidemics at exceptionally high altitude in kenya., Br Med J, 2 (1945).
- [45] G.D.Shanks, K. Biomndo, and S. et al., Changing patterns of clinical malaria since 1965 among a tea estate population located in the kenyan highlands, Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 94 (2000).
- [46] P. Gething, T. V. Boeckel, D. Smith, C. Guerra, A. Patil, R. Snow, and S. Hay, Modelling the global constraints of temperature on transmission of plasmodium falciparum and p. vivax., Parasit Vectors 2011, 4 :92., 4 (2011), p. 92.
- [47] A. Githeko, D. Branding-Bennet, M. Beier, F. Atieli, M. Owaga, and F. Collins, The reservoir of plasmodium falciparum malaria in a holoendemic area of western kenya, Action of Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 86 (1992), pp. 335–358.
- [48] A. Githeko and W. Ndegwa, Predicting malaria epidemics using climate data in kenyan highlands : a tool for decision makers., Global Change and Human Health, 2 (2001).
- [49] A. K. Githeko, J. M. Ayisi, P. K. Odada, F. K. Atieli, B. A. Ndenga, J. I. Githure, and G. Yan, Topography and malaria transmission heterogeneity in western kenya highlands : prospects for focal vector control, Malar J., 5 (2006), p. 107.
- [50] B. Greenfell and J. Harwood, (meta)population dynamics of infectious diseases, Elsevier Science, 12 (1997).
- [51] S. Gupta., R. Snow, C.A.Donnelly, K. Marsh, and Newbold, Immunity to non-cerebral severe malaria is acquired after one or two infections, Nature Medicine, 5 (1999), pp. 340– 343.

- [52] R. Gurtler, L. Ceballos, P. O. Krasnowski, and L. L. R. Stariolo, Strong host-feeding preferences of the vector triatoma infestans modified by vector density : implications for the epidemiology of chagas disease., PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases ., 3 (2009), p. 447.
- [53] H. L. Guyatt, K. Corlett, P.Timothy, Robinson, S. A. Ochola, and R. Snow, Malaria prevention in highland kenya : indoor residual house-spraying vs. insecticide-treated bednets., Tropical Medicine and International Health, 43 (2002).
- [54] J. Hale, Ordinary Differential Equations, New Yolk, 1969.
- [55] S. I. Hay, A. M. Noor, M. Simba, M. Busolo, H. L. Guyatt, S. A. Ochola, and R. W. Snow, Clinical epidemiology of malaria in the highlands of western kenya, Emerg. Infect. Dis., 8(6) (2002).
- [56] S. I. Hay, D. J. Rogers, S. E. Randolph, D. I. Stern, J. Cox, G. D. Shanks, and R. W. Snow, Hot topic or hot air? climate change and malaria resurgence in east african highlands., RENDS in Parasitology Vol.18 No.12 December 2002, 18(12) (2002).
- [57] J. Heesterbeek and J. Metz, The saturating contact rate in marriage and epidemic models, J. Math. Biol, 31 (1993).
- [58] H. Hethcote, A thousand and one epidemic models, Springer-Verlag, 1994.
- [59] H. Hethcote and H. Thieme, Stability of endemic equilibrium in epidemic models with subpopulations, Math. Biosci, 75 (1985), pp. 205–227.
- [60] H. W. Hethcote, The mathematics of infectious diseases, SIAM Rev, 42(4) (2004).
- [61] Y. Himeidan, E. Malik, and E. Adam, Epidemiological and seasonal pattern of malaria in irrigated areas of eastern sudan., Am J Infect Dis, 1 (2005).
- [62] Y. Himeidan, G. Zhou, L. Yakob, Y. Afrane, S. Munga, H. Atieli, El-Rayah, A. Githeko, and G. Yan, Habitat stability and occurrences of malaria vector larvae in western kenya highlands., Am J Infect Dis, 8 (2009), p. 234.
- [63] M. Hirsch, Systems of differential equations that are competitive or cooperative i : limit sets, SIAM J Math Anal, 13(2) (1982), p. 167.
- [64] —, The dynamical system approach to differential equations, Bull. AMS, 11 (1984), p. 1.
- [65] M. W. Hirsch and H. L. Smith, Monotone dynamical systems, in Handbook of differential equations : ordinary differential equations. Vol. II, Elsevier B. V., Amsterdam, 2005, pp. 239–357.
- [66] C. Holling, The functional response of predators to prey density and its role in mimicry and population regulations., emoirs of the Entomological Society of Canada, 45 (1965), pp. 3–60.
- [67] P. Hviid, Natural acquired immunity to plasmodium falciparum malaria in africa, Acta Tropica, 95 (2005).
- [68] H. H.W., Qualitative analysis of communicable disease models, Mathematical Biosciences, 28 (1976).
- [69] J. M. Hyman and J. Li, Differential susceptibility and infectivity epidemic models, Mathematical Biosciences and Engineering, 3 (2006), pp. 89–100.
- [70] Z. M. J. Zhang, Global dynamics of an seir epidemic model with saturating contact rate, Nonlinear Anal. RWA, 185 (2003).

- [71] J. A. Jacquez and C. P. Simon, Qualitative theory of compartmental systems, SIAM Rev., 35 (1993), pp. 43–79.
- [72] S. James, Report on a visit to kenya and uganda to advise on anti-malarial measures., tech. rep., London, 1929.
- [73] V. Jansen and A. Lloyd, Local stability analysis of spatially homogeneous solutions of multi-patch systems, J. Math. Biol, 41 (2004).
- [74] J.F.Trape, E. Zante, F. Legros, P. Druilhe, C. Rogier, H. Bouganali, and G. Salem, Malaria morbidity among children exposed to low seasonal transmission in dakar, senegal and its iplication for malaria control in trpical afirca., Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg., 48 (1993), pp. 748– 756.
- [75] C. Jost, O. Arino, and R. Arditi, About deterministic extinction in a ratio-dependent predator-prey model., Bulletin of Mathematical Biology, 61 (1999), pp. 19–32.
- [76] D. Kelly and C. Thompson., Epidemiology and optimal foraging : modelling the ideal free distribution of insect vectors., Parasitology, 120 (2000), pp. 319–327.
- [77] W. Kermack and A. G. McKendrick, Contributions to the mathematical theory of epidemics ii. 1927., Proc R Soc London, 115 (1927), pp. 700–721.
- [78] —, Contributions to the mathematical theory of epidemics i. 1927., Proc R Soc London, 138 (1932), pp. 55–83.
- [79] —, Contributions to the mathematical theory of epidemics iii. ., Proc R Soc London, 141 (1933).
- [80] K.Ghosh, C. J., and T. P.K., Immunity boosted by low exposure to infection in ansirs model, Eiological Modelling, 87 (1996).
- [81] G. F. Killeen, B. G. J. Knols, and W. Gu, Taking malaria transmission out of the bottle : Implications of mosquito dispersal for vector control interventions, THE LANCET Infectious Diseases, 3 (2003).
- [82] M. Kirby and Lindsay, Effect of temperature and inter-specific competition on the development and survival of anopheles gambiae sensu stricto and an. arabiensis larvae., Acta Tropica 2009, 109(2) :118-123., 109(2) (2009), pp. 118-123.
- [83] M. J. Klowden, The endogenous regulation of mosquito reproductive behavior, Experientia, 46 (1990), pp. 660–670.
- [84] K.Marsh, L. Otoo, and R. Hayes, Antibodies to blood stages antigens of plasmodium falciparum in rural gambians and their relationship to protection against infection, Transactions of the Royal Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene, 83 (1989).
- [85] M. Kretzschmar, J. Wallinga, M. Gail, K. Krickeberg, J. Samet, A. Tsiatis, and W. Wong, Mathematical Models in Infectious Disease Epidemiology., Springer, 2010.
- [86] C. Kribs-Zaleta, To switch or taper off: the dynamics of saturation., Mathematical Biosciences 192: 137-152., 192 (2004), pp. 137–152.
- [87] C. Kribs-Zaleta, Vector consumption and contact process saturation in sylvatic transmission of t. cruzi, Mathematical Population Studies, 13 (2006).
- [88] C. Kribs-Zaleta, Sharpness of saturation in harvesting and predation., Mathematical Biosciences and Engineering 6 : 719-742., 6 (2009), pp. 719–742.
- [89] C. Kribs-Zaleta, Estimating contact process saturation in sylvatic transmission of trypanosoma cruzi in the united states, PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases, 4 (2010), p. 656.

- [90] A. Lajmanovich and J. Yorke, A deterministic model for gonorrhea in a nonhomogeneous population., Math. Biosci., 28 (1976.), pp. 221–236.
- [91] J. Lasalle., The Stability of Dynamical Systems in : Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics., Regional conference series in Applied Mathematics, 1976.
- [92] J. LaSalle, Stability of nonautonomous systems., Nonlinear Anal., Theory, Methods Appl., 1(1) (1976.), pp. 83–91.
- [93] P. Leenheer and H. Smith, Virus dynamics : A global analysis, SIAM J Appl.Math, 63 No. 4 (2003), pp. 1313–1327.
- [94] Levins, Evolution in Changing Environments., Princeton University Press, 1968.
- [95] M. Li and J. Mouldowney, Global stability for the seir model in epidemiology, Mathematical Biosciences, 125 (1995).
- [96] S. Lindsay and W. Martens, Malaria in the african highlands : past, present and future., B World Health Organ, 76 (1998).
- [97] F. Lopez-Antunano, Epidemiology and control of malaria and other arthropod-borne diseases., Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz, 87(Suppl 3) (1992), pp. 105–114.
- [98] G. Macdonald, The Epidemiology and control of malaria., Oxford University Press, 1957.
- [99] M. A. Malakooti, K. Biomndo, and Shanks, Reemergence of epidemic malaria in the highlands of western kenya, Emerging Infectious Diseases, 4 (1998), p. 4.
- [100] M. Markus and H. Minc., A survey of matrix theory and matrix inequalities., Dover, 1 (1992).
- [101] K. Marsh, Malaria : A neglected disease., Parasitology, 104 (1992).
- [102] A. Matson, The history of malaria in nandi, East Afr Med J., 34 (1957).
- [103] C. McCluskey and P. van den Driessche, Global analysis of tuberclosis models, Journal of Differential Equations, 16 (2004).
- [104] C. C. McCluskey, Global stability for an sir epidemic model with delay and nonlinear incidence, Nonlinear Anal. RWA, 11 (2010).
- [105] McMichael, Githeko, McCarthy, O. Canziani, N. Leary, D. Dokken, and K.S.WhitE, Human Health. In Climate Change 2001, Impacts, Adaptations and Vulnerability of Climate Change. Contribution of working Group II to the Third Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change., Cambridge University Press, 2001.
- [106] A. L. Menach, F. E. McKenzie, A. Flahault, and D. L. Smith, The unexpected importance of mosquito oviposition behaviour for malaria : non-productive larval habitats can be sources for malaria transmission, Malaria Journal, 4 (2005), p. 23.
- [107] M.Janet, C. Mbogo, H. Mwambi, M. D. Wilson, G. Ojwang, J. M. Mwangangi, J. G. Nzovu, J. G. G. Yan, and J. C. Beier, Estimating dispersal and survival of anopheles gambiae and anopheles funestus along the kenyan coast by using mark-release-recapture methods, J Med Entomol, 44(6) (2007).
- [108] J. Mouldowney, Compound matrices and ordinary differential equations, Rocky Mountain Journal of Mathematics, 20 (1990).
- [109] W. R. Mukabana, W. Takken, R. Coe, and B. G. J. Knols, Host-specific cues cause differential attractiveness of kenyan men to the african malaria vector anopheles gambiae., Malar J, 1 (2002), p. 17.

- [110] B. Ndenga, A. Githeko, E. Omukunda, G. Munyekenye, H. Atieli, P. Wamai, C. Mbogo, N. Minakawa, G. Zhou, and G. yan, Population dynamics of malaria vectors in western kenya highlands., J. Med. Entomology, 43 (2006), pp. 200–206.
- [111] B. Ndenga, A. Githeko, E. Omukunda, G. Munyekenye, H. Atieli, P. Wamai, C. Mbogo, N.Minakawa, G. Zhou, and G. Yan, Population dynamics of malaria vectors in western kenya highlands., J Med Entomol, 43 (2006).
- [112] G. Ngwa and W. Shu, A mathematical model for endemic malaria with variable human and mosquito populations, Math. Comput. Model, 32 (2000).
- [113] G. A. Ngwa, On the population dynamics of the malaria vector, Bulletin of Mathematical Biology, 68 (2006).
- [114] S. Omar, I. Adagu, D. Gump, N. Ndaru, and D. Warhust, Plasmodium falciparum in kenya : high prevalence of drug resistance- associated polymorphisms in hospital admissions with severe malaria in an epidemic area., Ann Trop Med Parasitol, 95 (2001).
- [115] M. Pascual, J. Ahumada, L. Chaves, X. Rodo, and M. Bouma, Malaria resurgence in the east african highlands : Temperature trends revisited., Proc Nat Acad Sci USA, 103 (2006).
- [116] J. Patz, M. Hulme, C. Rosenzweig, T. Mitchell, R. Goldberg, A. Githeko, S. Lele, A. Mc-Michael, and D. L. Sueur, Regional warming and malaria resurgence., Nature, 420 (2002).
- [117] R. E. Paul, S. Bonnet, C. Boudin, T. Tchuinkam, and V. Robert, Age-structured gametocyte allocation links immunity to epidemiology in malaria parasites, Malaria Journal, 6 (2007), p. 123.
- [118] L. Petersen and J. Roehrig, West nile virus : a reemerging world health organization, a multicentre collaboration to investigate the cause of severe acute respiratory syndrome, Lancet, 361 (2003), p. 1730.
- [119] P. Pongsumpun and I. Tang., Transmission of dengue haemorrhagic fever in an age structured population, Mathematical and Computer Modeling, 37 (2003), pp. 949–961.
- [120] Z. M. R. Xu, Global stability of a sir epidemic model with nonlinear incidence rate and time delay, Nonlinear Anal. RWA, 10 (2009).
- [121] R. Ross, The prevention of Malaria, Springer-Verlag, 1911.
- [122] Ruan, W. Wang, and S. Levin., The effect of global travel on the spread of sars, Math. Biosci. Eng., 3(1) (2006).
- [123] J. Saldana, Continuus time fomulation of reaction-diffusion processes on heterogenous metapopulations., Phys. Rev. E, 78 (2008).
- [124] —, Modelling the spread of infectious diseases in complex metapopulations., Math. Mod. Nat. Pheno., 5 (2010), p. 6.
- [125] G. Sallet and J. Kamgang, Global asymptotic stability for the disease free equilibrium for epidemiological models., C. R. Math. Acad. Sci, 341 (2005), p. 433.
- [126] L. Sattenspiel and K. Dietz., A structured epidemic model incorporating geographic mobility among regions, Math. Bio.sci., 128(1)(2) (1995).
- [127] M. Service., Mosquito (diptera : Culicidae) dispersal the long and short of it., J Med Entomology, 34 (1997), pp. 579–588.
- [128] G. Shanks, S. Hay, D. Stern, and et al, Meteorologic influences on plasmodium falciparum malaria in the highland tea estates of kericho, western kenya., Emerging Infectious Diseases, 12 (2002).
- [129] S.I.Hay, M. Simba, M.Busolo, A. Noor, H. Guyatt, S. Ochola, and R. Snow, Defining and detecting malaria epidemics in the highlands of western kenya, Emerg. Infect. Dis., 8 (2002).
- [130] D. L. Smith, C. A. Guerra, R. W. Snow, and S. I. Hay, Standardizing estimates of the plasmodium falciparum parasite rate., Malar J, 6 (2007), p. 131.
- [131] H. Smith, Monotone Dynamical Systems : An introduction to the theory of competitive and cooperatve systems., Providence, 1995.
- [132] T. Smith, A. Ross, N. Maire, C. Rogier, J.-F. Trape, and L. Molineaux, An epidemiologic model of the incidence of acute illness in plasmodium falciparum malaria., Am J Trop Med Hyg, 75 (2006), pp. 56–62.
- [133] S. Staedke, E. Nottingham, J. C. Kamya, M. Rosenthal, and P. Dorsey, Short report : proximity to mosquito breeding sites as a risk factor for clinical malaria episodes in an urban cohort of ugandan children., Am J Trop Med Hyg, 69 (2003), pp. 244–246.
- [134] H. Thieme, Global asymptotic stability in epidemic models, in Equadiff82, Springer-Verlag, 1993.
- [135] —, Persistence under relaxed point-dissipativity (with application to an endemic model), SIAM J Math Anal., 24 (1993), pp. 407–435.
- [136] —, Mathematics in Population Biology, Princeton University Press, 2003.
- [137] J. Trape, G. Pison, M. Preziosi, C. Enel, L. Desgrees, V. Delaunay, B. Samb, E. Lagarde, J. Molez, and F. Simondon, Impact of chloroquine resistance on malaria mortality., C. R. Acad. Sci III, 321 (1998), pp. 689–697.
- [138] J. Tumwiine, J. Mugisha, and L. Luboobi, A mathematical model for the dynamics of malaria in a human host and mosquito vector with temporary immunity, Applied Mathematics and Computation, 189 (2007).
- [139] J. Tumwiine, J. Y. T. Mugisha, and L. S. Luboobi., On oscillatory pattern of malaria dynamics in a population with temporary immunity, Computational and Mathematical Methods in Medicine, 8 (2007).
- [140] UNICEF, Kenya statistics, tech. rep., United Nation, 2010.
- [141] P. van den Driessche and J. Watmough, Reproduction numbers and sub-threshold endemic equilibria forcompartmental models of disease transmission, Math. Biosci, 80 (2002), p. 29.
- [142] J. van Dillen, M. Custers, A. Wensink, B. Wouters, T. van Voorthuizen, W. Voorn, B. Khan, L. Muller, and C. Nevill, A comparison of amodiaquine and sulfadoxinepyrimethamine as firstline treatment of falciparum malaria in kenya., Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 93 (1999).
- [143] R. Varga, Factorisation and normalised iterative methods Boundary Problems in Differential Equation, University of Wisconsin Press, 1960.
- [144] —, Matrix Iterative Analysis., Prentice-Hall, 1962.
- [145] R. Varga, Gershgorin and His Circles, Apprentice Hall, Springer, 2004.
- [146] M. Vidyasagar, Decomposition techniques for large scale systems with nonadditive interactions : Stability and stabilization., IEEE Trans. Autom. Control, 25 (1980), p. 773.
- [147] W. Wang and G. Mulone, Threshold of disease transmission in a patchy environment, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 285 (2002).

- [148] W. Wang and X. Zhao, An epidemic model in a patchy environment., Math. Biosci., (2004), p. 190.
- [149] C. L. Wanjala, J. Waitumbi, G. Zhou, and A. K. Githeko, Identification of malaria transmission and epidemic hotspots in the western kenya highlands : its application to malaria epidemic prediction., Parasites and Vectors, 4 (2011), p. 81.
- [150] White, Modelling the impact of vector control interventions on anopheles gambiae population dynamics, Parasites & Vectors, 4 (2011), p. 153.
- [151] G. White, The anopheles gambiae complex and malaria transmission around kisumu, kenya., Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg, 66 (1972).
- [152] WHO, Anonymous chemotherapy of malaria and resistance to antimalarials., tech. rep., World Health Organization, 1973.
- [153] —, Online global pathogen, Emerg. Inf. Dis, 7 (2001), p. 611.
- [154] G. Zhou, N. Minakawa, A. Githeko, and G. Yan, Association between climate variability and malaria epidemics in the east african highlands, Proc Natl Acad Sci USA, 24 (2004).